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Dear Fellow Shareholders,

2022 was a year of ongoing progress, and anticipation.
With two late-stage clinical assets, a growing development
pipeline, large addressable markets and interest from
potential commercialization/license partners, we are
excited about the opportunities we are bringing into the
new year,

Mo doubt that 2022 was also one of great challenges for
industry and, in particular, life science companies like
Edesa. Bul despite the turbulent global economy and
volatile capital markets, our team once again demonstrated
their resilience and effectiveness, and | am pleased to
report the following progress and accomplishments:

« A Life-Saving Drug Candidate. Our monoclonal
antibody candidate, EBOS, which we are developing as
a treatment for Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome
(ARDS), demonstrated an 84% reduction in the risk of
dying when compared to placebo among the most
critically ill patients hospitalized with Covid-19 in the
Phase 2 part of our Phase 2/3 clinical study. Based on
the mechanism of action of this drug, and the Phase 2
findings, we believe there could be broad utility fior
ARDS caused by influenza and other pathogens,

Fast Tracked by FDA. The US. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) granted us Fast Track designation
for our ARDS drug candidate in hospitalized Covid-19
patients, The Fast Track program provides our team
with the opportunity for more frequent communication
with the agency to discuss the development path for
EBOS5. To receive this designation, drug candidates must
both treat a serious ditease and have non-clinical or
clinical data that demonstrate the potential to address
an unmet medical need.

Topline Results Demonstrate Powerful  Anti-
Inflammatory Effect. In 2022 we completed the
enroliment for a Phase 2b clinical study evaluating
multiple concentrations of our drug candidate, EBO1, as
a monotherapy for moderate-to-severe chronic Allergic
Contact Dermatitis (ACD). Excitingly, we have started
off the new year with favorable preliminary, topline
results: 1.0% EBO1 cream demonstrated statistically
significant improvement over placebo for both the
primary endpoint and a key secondary endpoint. Given
this data, we are preparing for an “End of Phase 2°
meeting with FDA following full analysis.

Pipeline Growth. At the heart of Edesa’s corporate
culture is an entrepreneurial spirit, and we are always
building. In particular, we are seeking to advance
additional product candidates as well as add new

disease indications for current product candidates.
Among our activities, we are preparing an
investigational new drug application (IND) in the United
States for our EBO7 product candidate to conduct a
future study in systemic sclerosis (55c), an autoimmune
rheumalic disorder, This project represents a potential
additional use for our anti-TLR4 monoclonal antibody
candidate in a chronic disease with limited treatment
options and high mortality and morbidity. We are also
preparing a clinical trial application (CTA) in Canada for
our EBO6 product candidate to conduct a future study
in vitiligo, a chronic autoimmune disorder that causes
skin to lose its color in patches. While vitiligo affects
mare than 1% of the world's population, there are few
effective treatment options.

Strategic Partnerships. With data in hand from two
late-stage clinical studies, our strategic discussions with
potential commercialization and licensing partners have
gained momentum, and we have been pleased with the
interest from potential global and regional partners.
These types of partnerships could include licensing fees
and milestones upfront and during development, as well
as a percentage of sales once our drugs or technology
are commercial,

For 2023, we plan to build on the results of the EBOS and
EBO1 programs. Our operational objectives include, among
others, completing the FDA review of the Phase 3 protocol
for EBOS; fully enrolling the Phase 3 study of EBO5;
completing a Phase 2 IND in the US. for systemic sclerosis;
and getting our CTA in Canada approved for vitiligo. We
also plan to opportunistically look for business develop-
ment and strategic arrangements that add value to Edesa.

Edesa is committed to addressing unmet medical needs
through innovation, and we are privileged to have your
support. As always, there is much work to be done and we
look forward to sharing our progress with you. On behalf
of the board of directors, management and employees of
Edesa Biotech — many of whom are investing alongside
you = thank you for your investment and confidence in
Edesa.

Stay healthy and safe,

Par Nijhawan, MD, FRCPC, AGAF
Chief Executive Officer

January 2023
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND OTHER MATTERS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Secunties Actof 1933, as amended (the Secunities Act) and Section 21 E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the Exchange Act) and, as such, may involve known and unknown risks, uncertaintics and assumplions,
Farward-looking statements are based upon our current expectations, speak only as of the date hereof, are subject to
change and include statements about, among other things: the status, progress and results of our clinical programs; our
ability to obtain regulatory approvals fior or succcssiully commercialize any of our product candidates; our busincss
plans, strategies and objectives, including plans to pursue collaboration, licensing or other similar arrangements or
transactions; our expoctations regarding our liquidity and performance, including our expense levels, sources of capital
and ability to mainizin our operations; the competitive landscape of our indusiry; and general market, cconomic and
political conditions.

Forward-looking statements are those that predict or deseribe future events or trends and that do not relate solely to
historical matters, You can generally identify forward-looking siatements as those statements containing the words
“anticipate,” “believe,” “plan,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “will.” “would,” “could,” “should,” “might,”
“potential,” “continue™ or other similar expressions. You should not rely on our forward-looking statements as they arc
not a guarantee of future performance. There can be no assurance that forward-looking statements will prove 1o be
accurate because the matters they descnbe are subject to assumphions, known and unknown nsks, uncertainties and other
unpredictable factors, many of which are beyond our control.

Oer sctual results could differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking stalements as a
result of various factors, some of which are discussed in this report in the Pant 1, lem 1AL Risk Factors and elsewhere in
this report. Risks and uncertaimtics include, among others:

+  our ability 1o obtain funding for our operations;

*  our estimates regarding our expenses, revenues, anticipated capital requirements and our needs for
additional financing;

the timing of the commencement, progress and receipt of data from any of our preclinical and clinical trials;
the expected results of any preclinical or clinical trial and the impact on the likelihood or timing of any
regulatory approval;

the therapeutic benefits, cffectiveness and safety of our product candidates;

the uming or likelibood of regulatory filings and approvals;

changes in our strategy or development plans;

the volatility of our common share price:

the rute and degree of market scceplance and clinical utility of any future products;

the effect of competition;

our ability to protect our mtellectual property as well as comply with the terms of liconse agreements with
third parties;

= our ability 1o identify, develop and commercialize additional products or product candidates;

+  reliance on key personnel; and

*  pencral changes i economic or busi dita including those caused by COVID-19 and its vanants.

- -
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Excepl as required by law, we undertake no obligation o update forward-tooking statements.

As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, “Edesa,” “the Company.” "we,”™ “us,” and “our™ refer 1o Edesa Biotech,
Inc. and our consolidated subsidiarics, except where the context otherwise Tequires.

Onr logzo and other trsdemarks or service marks of Edesa Biotech, Inc. appeanng in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
are the property of Edesa Biotech, Inc. This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains additional trade names, trademarks
and service marks of other companics. We do nol intend our use or display ol other companies” trade names, trademarks
of service marks o imply relationships with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, these other companies.




PARTI
Item 1. BUSINESS,

Overview
We are a biopharmaceutical company developing innovative ways to treal inflammatory and immune-related discases.

Our approach is to acquire, develop and commercialize drug candidates based on mechanisms of action that have
demonstrated prool-of-concept in human sabjects. We prionteze our ¢ffors on disease indications where there is
compelling scientific rationale, no approved therapies or where there are unmiet medical needs, and where there are large
addressable market opportunitics, among other factors, We have multiple late-stage product candidates in our
development pipehine.

Our most advanced drug candidate is EB0S, a monoclonal antibody developed for scute and chronic disease indications
that involve dysregulated innate immunity responscs, EBOS inhibits toll-like recepior 4 (TLR4), a key immune signaling
protein and an important medistor of inflammation. We are currently evaluating EBDS as a potential treatment for Acute
Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS), a life-threatening form of respiratory failure, In September 2022, we reported
final results from the Phase 2 part of a Phase 2/Plase 3 study of EBOS in ARDS paticnts who were hospitalized for
Covid- 19-related respiratory disease. Among the findings, EBDS demonstrated statistically significant mortality
reductions in critically i1l hospitalized patients treated with EBOS plus Standard of Care treatment {50C). We are
currently enrolling paticms in the Phase 3 pant of the EBOS sudy.

In addition to EBO3, we are developing product candidates for a numbser of chronic demmatological and inflammatory
conditions. We recently completed enrollment of a Phase 2b study of our EBO1 drug candidate in moderate-to-severe
chronic Allergic Contact Dermatitis (ACD), a common occupational and work-related skin condition, We are also
preparing an investigational new drug application (IND) in the United States for our EBOT product candidate to conduct
a future Phase 2 study in systemic sclerosis {$8¢). an auteimmune rheumatic disorder that causes fibrosis

(scarming hardening) of skin and internal organs. In Canada, we are preparing a clinical trial application (CTA) for our
EBDS monoclonal antibody candidate 1o conduct a future Phase 2 study in vitiligo, o commen autoimmune disorder that
causes the skin to lose its color in patches.

Competitive Strengths

We belicve that we possess a number of competitive strengths that position us to become a leading biopharmaccutical
company [ocused on infl tory and i -related di including:

. Falidated technology and drug development capabilities. We believe that the strength of our technologies
has been validated by sur favorable clinical data and progress, 811 million competitive grant award, and our
multiple arrangements with third parties to develop and commercialize their clinical-stage drug candidares.

[fanovative pipeline addressing large wnderserved markeds. Our product candidates include novel clinical-
stage compounds and antibodics that have significant scientific rationale for effectivencss. By initially
targeting large markels that have significant unmet medical needs, we believe that we can drive adoption off
mew products and improve our competitive position. For example, ARDS is associnted with approximately
10 of all Intensive Care Uit (ICU) admissions, impacts millions of people, and cosis billions of dollars
annually,

o Jmrelleciwl property protection and marker exclusiviry. We have opporunities 1o develop our compettive
position through patents, trade secrets, technical know-how and continuing technological innovation. We
have exclusive license rights in our target indications to multiple patents and pending patent applications in
the United States and in vanous foreign junsdictions, In addition 1o patemt protection, we intend to utilize
trade secrets and market exclusivity afforded to a Mew Chemical Entity, where applicable. to enhance or
maintain our competitive position.

»  Experienced leadership. Our leadershnp team possesses core capabilities in dermatology, infectious diseases,
gastrointestinal medicing, drug development and commercialization, chemistry, manufacturing and controls,
and finance. Our founder, Chief Exccative Officer, Pardeep Nijhawan, MD, FRCPC, AGAF, is a board-
certified gastroenterologist and hepatologist with a successful track record of building life science
businesses, inchuding Exzell Pharma Inc., which was sold 1o BioLab Pharma in 2022, and Medical Futures.
Inc., which was sold to Tribute Pharmaceuticals in 2015, In addition 1o our internal capabilitics, we have
alzo establizhed a network of key opinion leaders, contract research organizations, contract manufacturing
arganizalions and consultants, As a result, we believe we are well positioned to efficiently develop novel
treatments for mflammatory and immunc-related discascs.




Our Business Strategy

Ohr business strategy is o develop and commercialize innovative drug products thal address unmet medical needs for
large, underserved markets wilh limited petition. Key el of our strategy include:

s Privritize tie development and commercialization of later-stage product candidates. Our goal is to obtain
regulatory approval and commercialize multiple clinical assets in our pipeline, beginning with our two most
advanced product candidates, EBOS and EBO1. We seek to expedite development, m part, through the use of
innovative inal designs, including adoptive design protocels, as well as by focusing on disease indications
that we believe have clear regulatory pathways and interest from potential licensing or development
partners, We also plan to evaluate opportunitics to apply, as applicable, for expedited regulatory review and
arphan drug programs, which could potentially lead to sceelerated clinical development and
commercialization timelines for our product candidates.

*  Maximize our current portfolio opportunity by expanding rse across multple indicattons. We aim 1o
identify clinical-stage assets that have the potential to treat maltiple diseases. Our assets are designed o
modulate pathways that are implicated across a number of immune and infl ory/allergic il
For example, we believe that our monoclonal antibedy candidates have potential utility in additional
indications, including chronic conditions like systemic sclerosis (S5¢) and vitiligo.

®  Maximize the commercial potential of owr product candidates via direct marketing or sirategic
arvangenens, I our product candidates are successfully developed and approved, we plan to either build
commergial infrastracture capable of dircetly marketing the producis, or alicmatively, outsource the sales
and marketing ol our products. We also plan to evaluale strategic licensing or pannening armangements with
pharmaceutical companies for the further development or commercialization of our drugs, where applicable,
such as in areas or regions owtside North Amenca where a partner may contribute additional resources,
mfrastructure and cxpertise,

o In-license promising product candidates. We are applying our cosi-cffective development approach 1o
advance and expand our pipeling. Our current product candidates ane in-licensed from academic institulions
or other biopharmaceutical companies, and, from time to time, we plan to identify, evaluate and potennally
abtain rights to end develop additional assets. Our objective is to maintain a well-balanced ponfolio with
product candidates across various stages of development. We do not currently intend to invest significant
capital in basic research, which can be expensive and time-consuming.

Acute Respiratory Distress Syadrome

Acgute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) is a life-threatening form of respiratory failure characterized by an
cxaggeraled and dysfunctional immune response, rapid onscl of widespread inllammation in the lungs, and hypoxia (an
absence of enough oxygen in the tissues to sustain bodily funciions). ARDS can be precipitated by a number of
conditions including viral and bacterial pneumonia, sepsis, chest injury and even mechanical ventiliation, among other
causes. Prior o Covid-19, ARDS accounted for 1076 of intensive care unit admissions, represeating mare than 3 million
paticnts globally cach year. Based on the prevalence data of ARDS, we estimate that there arc as many as 600,000
ARDS-related admissions to Intensive Care Units (ICUs) each year in the seven major markets (US, UK, Germany,
France, Spain, Italy, Japanh and Canada. This cstimate does not account for Covid-19-related hospatalizations, which we
belicve will continue to add to ARDS cascs as the virus becomes endemic and more scasonal like influenza, According
to medical literature, ICU stays for ARDS patients in the US. mnge from 7 to 21 days on average, at an average cost of
more than 5 100,000 per paticnt.

For moderate to severe cases of ARDS, treatments remain limited and patients suffer high mortality rates. Countering the
exaggerated innate immung response in ARDS paticnts has been a key arca of interest among rescarchers, One of the
most studicd targets has been Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) - a key component of the nnate immune system and an
important mediator of inflammation. Since TLR4 detects molecules found in pathogens and also binds 1o endogenous
maolecules produced as a resull of injury, it is a key receptor on which both infectious and noninfections stimuli converge
to induce a proinflammatory response. Specifically, TLRA signaling activates leukocytes to secrete proinflammatory
eytokines (e, CXCLIO, [L-6, [FN-b, IL-1b, TNF-u), which under certain circumstances can result in a “cviokine
storm” = a severe immune reaction in which the body releases too many cytokines into the blood o quickly,

Such upregulation of TLRA and its associated cytokines has been observed in respiratory infections such as influenza and
SARS-CoV-2. In multiple third-party studics, high scrum levels of alarmins, such as calprotectin (S100ARAY) and
HMGE 1 (high mobility group protein B1), that bind 1o and activate TLR4 are associated with poor outcomes and discase
progression in ARDS paticnts, In addition, TLR4 inhibition (antagonism) prevents evtokine production al a very carly
stage and has been shown o hive a protective effect, For example, in proclinical studics in mice, it was demonstrated
that administration of a TLR4 antagonist blocked influenza-induced lethality and amelicrated virus-induced acute lung
injury. Antagonism of TLE4 has also been shown 1o modulate the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, CRP,
IFNb, TNF-a, CXCL-10, IL% and MIP-1b). Based on these data as well as previous climeal results, we believe that the
modulation of TLR4 provides a compelling opportunity to treat ARDS.
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EBOS
Cherview

EBOS 15 a first-in-class monoclenal antibody (mAb) that has been engineercd to alter inflammatory signaling by binding
to amd blocking the activation of TLR4. Specifically, EB0S dampens TLR4 signaling by blocking receptor dimerization
(and subsequent intracellular signaling cascades). The drug has demonstrated the ability 1o block signaling irrespective of
the presence or concentration of the vanous molecules that frequently bind with TLRA, known az hgands, Based on this
broad mechanism of action, we believe that EB0S could ameliorate TLR4-mediated inflammation cascades in ARDS
paticnts, thereby reducing lung injury, veniilation rates and mortality.

Phase 2 Results of Phase 2/Phase 3 Stedy

In September 2022, we reported final results for the Phase 2 part of an intemational Phaze 273 clinical study evaluating
the safety and efficacy of EBOS as a therapy for adult hospitalized Covid- 19 patients.

The Phase 2 pan of the Phase 23 study was primarily exploratory and designed 10 refine patient stratification and
statistical powenng for the Phase 3 study. All levels of hospitalized Covid- 19 patients were enrolled, ranging from Level
3 {hospitalized. not requiring supplemental oxygen) on the nine-point WHO Covid- 19 Seventy Scale (WCSS) 1o WCSS
Level T (hospitalized, requiring intubation plus additional organ support such as ECMO), Enrollment in the study as well
a2 the analvsis was stratified according to baseling WSS level into patients with mild Covid- 19, defined as WUSS level
=4, or severe Covid-19, defined as WSS level 25, Following a single intravenous infusion of EBOS or placebo, patients
wiere evaluated for discase progression, mortality, sade effects and other critical care measurements. Standard-of-care
Covid-19 treatment is given to all patients.

In the Phase 2 study, EBO3 demonstrated a statistically significant and clinically meaningful trend for mortality and
survival time for all randomized subjects in the critically ill cohor (the intent v treat, or ITT, population), The 28-day
death rate in the EBOS plus standard of care (SOC) arm was 7.7% versus 40% in the placebo + S0C arm in critically
severe patients on ECMO therapy {extracorporeal membrane oxygenation) or Invasive Mechanical Ventilation (IMV)
pltrs oTgan support with ARDS at baseline (p=0004). The Survival Analysis u.nn; Cox's Proportional Hazard Model

ted that patients treated with EBOS + SOC had an 84% reduction in the risk of dving when compared to
plm:ehn S0C m 2# days. To our knowledge, no other study has demonstrated & result of this magninde in this
population. The 60-day mortality rate was 23, 1% (3/13) in the EBO3 + S0C arm versus 45% (%20) in the placebo + SOC
arm for this same population (p=0.20), The Survival Analysis using Cox's Proportional Hazard Model showed that the
patients treated with EBOS + S0C had a 61% reduction in the risk of dying when compared 1o placebo =+ SOC at 60 days,

In addition to the critically il population, the analysis of the full Phase 2 dataset revealed other :I‘I"lucy signals, For
severe Covid-19 patients al WOSS Level 25 (%99 of patients had ARDS at baseline), there were clinically meaningful
differences with respect to the proportion of patients whe were alive without any need for oxygen support at Day 28 {the
Phase 2 study's primary endpoint). From the ITT analysis of this population, 45.8% in the EB0S + S0C arm versus
36.1% in the placebo + SOC arm achieved the primary endpoint (p=0.16). Similarly positive efficacy signals were also
demonstrated in this same population for the propertion of patients who achieved at least a 2-point improvement on the
WCSS. From the ITT analysis of this population, 46. 7 in the EB0S + S0C arm versus 36.1% in the placeho + SOC
arm achicved at least a 2-point improvement in on the WCSS (p=0.12). For mild Covid-19 patients at WUSS Level <4,
the study did not detect meaningiul clinical differences between the arms for these endpoints, which is likely the result of
the baseline severity score being oo close o the endpoint (WCSS of 3 or less) on these scoring scales. The Phase 2 study
demonstrated that EBOS was well-tolerated and consistent with the observed safety profile to date.

Phase 3 of a Phase 2 Phase 3 Study

The Phase 3 part of our Phase 273 study is designed to assess the efficacy and safety of EBOS among hospitalized patients
with severe and critical discase, for whom there continucs 1o be limited treatment options and high mortality rates, The
Phase 3 double-blind, placebo-controlled study design has been approved in Canada, Colombia, Poland, where
recruitment is ongoing, In the U.S., the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is currenily reviewing our Phase 3 study
design, We intend to harmonize the study protecel, where appropniate, across junsdictions once we reach agreement with
the FIJA on the study design.

Previous Phase [ and Phase 2 Clinical Studies of EBOS

EBO05 has demonstrated the ability to regulate inflammation and resolve fever and stabilize heart and breathing rates in
hwman subjects that were injected with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) - a potent inducer of acute systemic inflammation, In
previous Phase | and Phase 2 clinical studies, EBO3 has demonstrated favorable safety and tolerability profiles.
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In a previous Phase | study, EBOS was administered in healthy volunteers (HV) a3 a single intravenous infusion using a
single ascending pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic dose design. EBOS was sdministered a1 dilTerent dose levels and
was followed by in viva LPS challenges. The study demonstrated that EBOS inhibited the release of various pro-
imflammatory cytokines { [L<6, TNF-a and CXCL10) as well as stabilized certain other vital signs for up to 22 days after
the infusion of EBO3. The study further demonstrated that cytoking response and bascling vital signs were restored at 40
days after EBOS infusion.

EB0S demonstrated a favorsble safety profile in the Phase 1 study in healthy volunteers as well as a multiple-infusion
Phase 2 study in subjects with rheumatoid anthritis (RA). In the Phase | study, doscs ranged from 0,001 mg'kg up to
15mgkg. The Phase 2 RA study was a multiple dose study where paticnis received one dose of EBOS 3 mg'kg every two
weeks for 12 weeks. In the Phase | study, a total of 60 subjects received EBOS, and in the Phase 2 RA study, 61 patients
were randomized to the EBO3S group. There were no meamngful differences observed between the placebo and EBOS
treatment groups with respect to the incidence of treatment emergent serious and non-serious adverse events in cither of
these studies.

Federal Reimbursement Grant from the Canadian Government

In February 2021, our wholly owned subsidiary Edesa Biotech Rescarch, Inc. entered into a multi-vear contribution
agreement with the Canadian government”s Strategic Innovation Fund, or STF. Under this agreement, the Government of
Canada committed up to CS14.05 million (511 million) in nonrepayable funding toward (1) the Phase 2 portion of our
ongoing Phase 2/3 sedy of our mvestigation therapy EBOS in hospitalized Covid-19 patients, and (it) certaim pre-clinical
research intended to potentially broaden the application of our experimental therapy, In the event that we breach our
obligations undcr the agreement. subject 1o applicable cure, the SIF may excreisc a number of remedics, including
suspending or terminating funding under the Agreement, demanding repayment of funding previously received and/or
terminating the Agreement. The performance obligations of Edesa Biotech Research under the contribution agreement
are guaranieed by the Company. As of the date of this filing, we have met all of our performance and reporting
requirements under the grant agreement.

Allergic Contact Dermatitis

Contact dermatins is a common occupational and work-related skin condateon, The disease can be either wmtant contact
dermatitis or ACD. Based on market rescarch, we believe that together these conditions cost up to 32 billion annually in
the United States as a result of lost work, reduced productivity, medical care and disability payments. Based on the
prevalence data of contact allergy in the general population, which we sourced from scientific literature and market
repors, we cstimate thal there are as many as 30 million people in the seven major markets (US, UK, Germany, France,
Spain, Ttaly, Japan) and Canada with ACD, and of these, we estimate that 40% have chronic exposure or frequent
recurring exposure to a causative allergen. Based on the mechanism of sction and topical delivery, we believe that the
total addressable paticnt population for EBO1 is as high as five million people in the seven major markets and Canada.

ACD is cansed by an allergen interacting with skin and usually occurs on arcas of the body that have been directly
exposed 1o the environment, with a high prevalence on the hands and face. Common allergens associated with ACD
include plants, metals, plastics and resing, rubber additives, dyves, biocides, and vanious cosmetics, The discise is
charactenized by inflammation, erythema {redness), pruritus (iichiness)h, and blistering of the skin. Inflammation can vary
from mild irmitation and redness 1o open sores, depending on the type of irritant, the body part affected and the degree of
sensitivity, ACD can become chronic if not treated or if the ive allergen is not removed. In many chronic cases, the
causative allergen is unknown or dilTicult to avoid (as an example, the allergen is present in the workplace).

The immune mechansms involved in ACD are well documented. During the initial contact with the offending allergen,
the immune system = sensitired. Upon subsequent contact, a delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction (Type IV) occurs m
the point of contact between the skin and the allergen. As a cell-mediated response, the immune reaction primarily
involves the interaction of T cells with antigens rather than an antiboedy response, More specifically, ACD involves an
exogenous subhsiance binding a cell surface proiemn to form a hapten that is recognized as a foreign antigen by the
immune system. Haptens are known to signal throagh toll-like receptors, a family of receptors invelved in the innate
immune gystem, which leads to the induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleckin (IL)-1b. EBD] has been
shown in preclinical studies 1o inhibit the production of pro-infl tory cytokines induced via toll-like receptor
signaling {IL-1b, IL-6, IL-&, MIP-1a, and TNF-a), suggesting that EB0O| may address the underlying discase mechanism
of ACD.

Gienerally, dermatologists view chromic ACD from both a duration and recurrence perspective, considening how ofien
and how long symptoms persist. Chronic disease affects patients over a prolonged period, typically greater than six
months or even years. These chronic patients have either frequent intermittent exposure or continuous exposure. Since
inflammation i ACD is driven by external exposure to an allergen, the severity of ACD does not necessarily comrelate
with body surface area, as is often the case with other dermatological discases.




Current ircatment plans begin by attempting to identify and remove exposure to the causative allergen. However, the
causative allergends) ix frequently not identified, and cven when it is, avoiding exposure is often not possible (eg., itis
present in the workplace), according to our market research. To our knowledge, there are no drug treatment options
specifically indicated for ACD. As such, physicians must utilize agents approved for other dermatological conditions.
Topical corticosteroids are the most commonly used therapeutic intervention for ACT bul cannot be used continuously
since they have well-known side-effects including skin thinning, stretch marks, scne, stinging. burning and dryness.
Oiler topacal treatments for ACT include topical immunomodulators such as topical calcineurin inhibitors. However,
these are less efficacious than tepical conticosteroids and have an FIDA “black box waming™ for risk of malignancics.
Systemic comicosteroids can be used for acute control of severs cases of ACD but have safety concerns including
hypothalamic-prtuitary-adrenal axis suppression, growth suppression und loss of bone-density, thereby limiting the utility
of sieroids for treating chronic discase. Finally, patients may be treated with systemic immunomodulators, which have
“black box warnings™ and associated salety issues. Systemic therapics also need to be tapered ofl each time the physician
wants to patch test allergens to identify the source of a patient’s ACD.

EBO1
(hverview amd Stafns

EBO1 i a potential first-in-class, topical vamshing cream contaimng a novel, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory compound.
EBO1 cxerts its anti-inflammatory activity through the inhibition of certain pro-inflammatory eneymes known as
seeretory phospholipase 2, or sPLA2. These enzymes are seercted by immune cells upon their activation and produce
arachidonic acid via phospholipid hydrolysis, which, in turn, initistes a broad inflammatory cascade, The sPLA2 eneyme
family plays a key role in initiating inflammation associated with many diseases, and we believe that targeting the sPLA2
engyme family with enzyme inhibitors will have a superior anti-inflammatory therapeutic effect because the
inflammatory process will be inhibited at its inception rather than after inflammeation has occurred.

In September 2022, we completed cnroltment in a multi-center, double-blind, placebo-controlled confirmatory Phase 2b
study evaluating the safety and efficacy of various concentrations of EBO1 cream in approximately 210 subjects. We
anticipate that preliminary lopline results will be available by mid-January 2023, A voluntary %0-day open-label
extension with EBO1 cream is also available for study patients once they complete their treatment in the main study.

Previous Clinical Resulis of EBOY

EB01 has demonstrated efficacy for the treatmient of ACD v two scparate climical trials. Both stedies were double-blind,
placebo/vehicle-controlled bilateral comparison studies to assess the safety, tolerability and efficacy of EBOL cream
applicd twice daily for the treatment of ACD of the hand and forcarm as determined by the Contact Dermatitis Seventy
Index (CDSI). a physician's visual assessment. The CDS1 s a composite endpoint, which grades cach symptom of the
disease (dryness, scaling, redness, prurits, and fissures) scored from 0 (none) o 3 (severe), with a maximum total
severity seore of 15, A diagnosis of ACD was confirmed by a pasitive patch test deemed 1o be clinically relevant by the
investigator.

The first study (n=11) was a double-blind, placebo/vehicle-contralled clinical study to assess the safety and efficacy of
topical 1% EBO1 cream for the treatment of ACD. Subjects selecied for inclusion had bilateral ACD. Prior 1o
randomization, subjects were patch tested. The study was bilateral in design with one lesion treated with 1% EB01 cream
twice daily, while a comparable lesion was treated with placeba cream, Discase severity wis assessed before treatment
{Day € and at Day 30 by the investigator using the CDSI. For each individual patient, the change in discase score in the
drug-treated hand was compared to that in the placebo-treated hand, thus making the latter an iternal control for cach
patient. The mean change (rom baseline for 1% EBO1 cream treated lesions was 69.9%, compared to 36,5% in the
placeho crcam lesions (p=0.0024),

A second, larger (n=30) bilateral study was conducted to assess 2% EBOI cream applied twice daily for 21 consecutive
days in connection with the treatment of ACD, To be included in the study, patients had 1o have bilateral ACD with a
CDS1 scorc of at keast 10 on cach side, with no more than a 1-point difference between lesions. At Day 21, EBO]-ircated
lestons had a mean improvement from baseline of 36%, compared o 24% for those treated with placebo cream
(p=0.001). Efficacy of the 2% EBOI cream was maintained through Day 42 (2 |-days afier ending treatment) with a 49%
decrease in total CDSI1 score for 2% EBO0] cream-treated hands, compared 1o 15% i the placebo/vehicle-treated hands
(p=0.001). Within the total CDSI score, ERO] demonsiruted statistically significant reductions for each of the individual
CDSI components (dryness, scaling, redness, pruritus, and fissures).

Total clinical experience with EBOI. including the current Phase 2b study. has involved approximately 270 subjects. No
serous adverse events have been encountered to date.




Pre-Clinical Resulis

EBOI has demonstrated anti-inflammatory activity in a variety of i vitro and in vive preclinical pharmacology models.
Using a model for hapien signaling indicative of ACD, lipopolysacchanide-stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells
were treated with ERO1 and shown 1o inhibat pro-infllammatory cytokines including 1L-1b, IL-6, IL-8, MIP-1a, and TNF-
a at the protein and mRNA expression levels. Additienally, the safety of EBOI has been established in several Good
Labaratory Practice toxicology studies. Overall, EBO1 was well-tolerated and systemic exposure was negligible (below
the limit of detection). No genstoxicity was demonstrated in bacterial reverse mutation and micronucleus testing,

Hemaorrhoids Discase

Hemorrhoids Disease (HD) 15 a common dizorder, characterized by itching, mflammation, pain, tendermess, bleeding and
difficuley defecating. According to National Institutes of Health reports, HD affects approximately 5% of the ULS. adult
population, or approximately 125 million adults in the U.S. Almost half of individuals 50 years and older have
cxpericnced symplomatic hemorrhoids. Despite the high prevalence of hemorrhoids, we are not aware of any
prescription dmugs with an approved New Drug Application for the treatment of hemorrhoids, While there are commonly
used prescrption and over-the- counter products for HD, none has been approved by the FDA through the NDA process
because they entered the market prior to 1962, The mechanism of action of these treatments is either gencral, such as
sterodds, or unknown, in the case of herbal remedies, and we are not aware of any repors published in medical journals
on the cfficacy or safety of any product currently marketed in the LS. As a result of these factors, we belicve that HD
remains a significant unmes medical necd and market opporuniry.

Confusion often anses because the term hemomhoid has been wsed to refer 1o both normal anatomic strectures and
pathologic struciures. Hemorrhoids are cushions of fibromuscular tissuc that ling the anal canal, With HD, the muscle
fibers that anchor the cushions become attenuated, the hemorrhoids slide, become congested, bleed, and eventually
prolapse or prodrade intoe the anal canal, The two types of hemorrhoids, external and intemal, refer 1o their location.
Internal hemorrhoids are typically classificd as first degree (grade 1) - hemorrhoids bleed but do not protrude; second
degree (grade 1) - hemorrhoids protrude but reduce on their own; third degree (grade 111) - hemorrhoids protrude and
require manual re-insertion; and fourth degree (grade IV) - hemorrhoids are permancntly prolapsed and cannot be re-
insened.

The treatment of HD typically begine with conservative therapy consisting of diet and lifestvle modification, fiber
supplements, itz baths and stool softeners. In addition to this conservative therapy, physicians may prescnibe topical
steroids and analgesics. Because of the lack of effective prescription products, most hemorrhoid patients will use over-
the-counter preparations or the prescription drugs available, which are similar to the ever-the-counter treatment, but
formulated with a higher dose, Based on public filings and reponis, we estimate that as many as 4 million prescriplions
are written and more than 20 million over-the-counter units are seld each year in the ULS. for the weatment of HD.
Allernatives are invasive procedures, including rubber band ligation, the injection of a sclerosing agent,
electrocoagalation, light therapy and hemorrhoidectomy.

EB#2
Overview and Sratus

Our EBOZ drug candidate represents a potential extension of our sPLA2 anti-inflammatory technology. Based on our
analysis of clinical data in dermatitis, we believe that EBO2, which is currently formulated ax a eream, may be effective
in treating the erythema, swelling and exudation associated with HD. Specifically, sPLAZ2 has been demonstrated 1o be a
mediator of processes that characterize hemormrhoidal pathophysiology, imcluding inflammation and micro-
vascularization. In Seplember 2019, we received approval from Health Canadas o begin o clinical study of EB02 as a
potential treatment for patients with grade =11 internal hemorrhoids, Our exploratory Phase 2a study is designed 1o
assess the safety and efficacy of EB02 among hemorrhoid patients at investigational centers in Canada. The study plan
includes up 1o 48 subjects in a randomized, double- blind, vehicle-controlled design, Should the initial results be
chcouraging, we plan to transition from a proof-of-conccpt study to a Phasc 2 study of up to &0 to 400 subjects. In light
of our focus on the development of EBOS and EBO1, we are currently evaluating the timing for the mitiation of this
planned study of EBO2.

Other Fetere Product Candidates

We are seeking to advance additional product candidates as wel] as add new disease indications for current product
candidates, and from time 1o time we may request approval from regulators in various jurisdictions to initiate new
clinical studies or amend the scope of current clinical studies. In addition, we plan 10 continue to identify, evaluate and
patentially obtain rights 1o and develop additional clinical assets across various stages of development, focusing
primanly on inflammatory and imimune-related diseases.




Among our aclivilies, we are preparmg an mvestigational new drag applhication (IND) m the United States for our EBOT
product candidate to conduct a future study in systemic sclerosis ($5¢), an autoimmune rheumatic disorder that causes
fibrogis, (scarmnghardening) of gkin and imernal organs such as the lungs, heart and kidneys, Thiz project represents a
petential addinonal use for our anti-TLR4 monoclonal antibody candidate in a chronic orphan disease with limited
treatment options and high mortality and morbidity, We are also preparmg a clinical trial application (CTA) in Canada
for our EBOS product candidate to conduct a futnure study in vitiligo, a common autoimmune disorder that causes the skin
1o lose its color in patches. EBDG 15 a monoclonal antibody candidate that binds specifically and selectively to chemokine
ligand 10 (CXCL10) and inhibits the imeraction of CXCL10 with its receptor(s), We believe that there is signilicant
scicntific rationale for the potential utility of this mechanism of action to reduce discase symploms and progression in
vitiligo patients. Initiating recruitment in the EROT or EBO6 studies is subject to, among other imitations, regulatory
approval of the respective applications.

Intelleciual Property and Key Licenses

We have an exclusive license from Yissum Rescarch Development Company, the technology transfer pany of
Hebrew University of Jerusalem Lid, {Yissum), for patents and patent applications that cover our product candidates
EBO1 and EBO2 in the United Staics, Canada, Australia and vanous counirics in Europe. Method of use patents, for
which we hold an inbound license from Yissum and an affiliate of Yissum, have been issued for use in dermatologic and
gastrotntestinal conditions and infections that will expire in 2024, We expect to seck patent term extension in the United
States related to time under IND, which could add up to three to five years of additional protection. Additional patents
subject (o the license agreement have been filed by Yissum which we believe, if isued, could potentially prevent generic
substitation until after 2033,

We also hold an exclusive license from Novimmune SA, for patents and patent applications that cover our product
candidates that utilize our anti-TLRES and anti-CXCL 10 monoclonal antibody technology in the United States, Canada
and various other countnes. Composition of matter patents, for which we hold an inbound hicense from Novimmune,
have been issued that will expire as late as 2033 and 2028, respectively. We expect to seck patent term extension in the
United States related 1o tinwe under IND, which could extend protection. We have also filed additional method of use
patent applications which we believe, il issued, could p tally prevent biosimilar substitution until as laie as 2041, We
have also filed provisional patent applications for use of these monoclonal antibody technologics m vinlige (EBO6) and
sysiemic sclerosis (EBOT),

In the event we are successiul in commercializing a new drug candidate, we believe we would be eligible for data'market
exelusivity, in addition to exclusivity rights granted through patent protection. We would be cligible for up to five years
of exchosivity for EBO1 and EBO2 and up to twelve vears of exclusivity for EB0OS and EBG6 after approval in the United
States, and, for any of these drug products, cight years of exclusivity afier approval in Canada and ten years of
exclusivity after approval in the European Union,

We expect patents and other proprictary intelloctual property rights to be an cssential element of our business. We intend
10 protect our proprictary positions by, among other methods, filing U5, and forcign patent applications relited o our
proprictary technology, inventions, and improvements, We also rely on trade secrets, know-how, continuing
technological innovation and other in-licensing opportunitics o develop and maintain our proprictary position. Our
success will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain and maintain proprictary protection for our product candidates,
technology. and know-how, to operate without infringing on the proprictary rnights of others, and to prevent others from
infringing our proprictary rights.

Livense Agreement with Newvlnunune 54

In Apsil 2020, our wholly owned subsidiary Edesa Biotech Resgarch, Inc, entered inlo an exclusive license agreement
with Novlmmune SA, which operates under the brand Light Chain Bioscience, whereby we oblained exclusive rights
throughout the world te certain know-how, patents and data relating to the monoclonal antibodics targeting TLR4 and
CXCLID {the Construcis). Edesa will usc the exclusive rights to develop products containing these Constnecs (the
Licensed Products) for therapeutic, prophylactic and diagnostic applications in humans and animals. Unless carlier
terminated, the term of the license agreement will remain in effect for twenty-five vears from the date of first commercial
sale of Licensed Products. Subsequently. the license agreement will sutomatically remew for five-year penods unless
cither panty lermanates the agreement i accordance with s tlerms.

Under the license agreement, we are exclusively responsible, at our expense, for the rescarch, development manufacture,
marketing, distribution and commiercialization of the Constructs and Licensed Products and 1o obtain all necessary
licenses and nghts. Edea i3 required 1o use commercially reazonable efforts to develop and commercialize the
Constructs in accordance with the terms of a development plan established by the parties. In exchange for the exclusive
rights to develop and commercialize the Constructs, we issued to Novimmune 52,5 million of newly designated Series
A-1 Conventible Preferred Shares (all of which were subsequently converted into comnion shares) purssant 1o the temms
of a secunities purchase agreement entered o belween the parties concurrently with the license agreement. Tn addition,
Edesa is committed to payments of various amounts o Novimmune upon mecting cerfain development, approval and
commercialization milestones as outlined in the license agreement up to an aggregate amount of 3356 million. We also
have a commitmient to pay Novimmune a royalty based on net sales of Licensed Products in countnies where Edesa
dircctly commercializes Licensed Products and a percentage of sublicensing revenue received by Edesa in the countnics
where Edesa does not directly commercialize Licensed Products.
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The license agreement provides that Light Chain will remain the exclusive owner of existing intellectual propenty in the
Constructs and that Edcsa will be the exclusive owner of all intcllectual property resulting from the exploitation of the
Constructs pursuant to the license. Subject to certain limitations, Edesa is responsible for prosecuting. maintaining and
enforcing all intellectual property relating to the Constructz. During the term of the agreement, Edesa also has the option
to purchase the licensed patents and know-how al a price to be negotiated by the pantics. If Edesa defaults or fails to
perform any of the terms, covenants, provisions or its obligations under the license agreement, Light Chain has the
oplion to terminate the license agreement, subject to providing Edesa an opportunity 1o cure such default. The license
agreement is also terminable by Light Chain upon the occurrence of cortain bankruptcy related cvents pertaining to
Edesa In connection with the license agreement and pursuant to a purchase agreement entered into by the parties in April
2020, we acquired from Novimmune its inventory of the TLRA antubedy for an aggregate purchase price of 3.0 million,

License amd Development Agreement with Pex

In August 2017, sur wholly owned subsidiary, Edesa Biolech Rescarch, Inc. entered wilo an exclusive heense and
development agreement with Pendopharm, a division of Pharmascience Inc. Pursuant to the license and development
agreement, we granted to Pendophamm an exclusive license throughout Canada to certain know-how, patents and data for
the sole purpose of obtaining regulatory approval for certain plmrm:m:ml products 1o allow Pendopharm to distribute,
market and sell the licensed products for human therapeutic use in ceriain gastrointestinal conditions. If Pendopharm
clects not to seck regulatory approval of the applicable product, the applicable product will be removed from the license
rights granted 1o Pendopharm and will revent to us. I Pendopharm elects 1o seek regulatory approval in Canada for the
sale and marketing of the applicable product, Pendopharm will be responsible for obtaining regulatory approval for the
applicable licensed pmduf.'t in Canada. In exchange for the exclusive rights to market, impori, disinbute, and sell the
phar tical product doph is required to pay us a royalty in respect of aggregate annual net sales for cach
phmmn'llcil pmducl ﬁu-ld in Canada. Unless carlier terminated, the term of the hicense and devel agreement
will expire, on a licensed product by licensed product basis, on the later 10 ecour of (1) the date that 1 13 vears after the
first commercial sale of the licensed product in Canada; (i) the date of expiry of the last valid licensed patent in Canada
relating to the licensed product: or (i) the date of expiry of any period of exclusivity granted 1o the licensed product by a
regulatory authority in Canada. The license and development agreement shall also terminate upon the termination of
certain license agreements that Edesa has with third partics. Pendopharm also has the right to terminate the license and
development agreement for any reason upon 120 days notice 1o us.

License Agreements with Yissun and Tnventor

In June 2016, our wholly owned subsidiary, Edesa Biotech Research, Inc., entered into an exclusive license agreement
wilh Yissum, which was subsequently amended in April 20017, May 2017 and October 2022, Pursuant to the license
agreement as amended, we obtained exclusive rights throughout the world 1o certain know-how, patents and data relating
to a pharmaceutical product for the following ficlds of use: therapeutic, prophylactic and diagnostic uses i topical
dermal applications and anorectal applications, Unless earlier terminated, the term of the license agreement will expire
on a country by country hass on the later of (1) the date of expiry of the last valid licensed patent in such country; (n) the
date of expiry of any period of exclusivity granted 1o a product by a regulatory authority in such country or (i) the date
that is 15 years afier the first commercial sale of a product in such country.

Under the license agrecment, we are exclusively responsible, at our expense, for the development of the product.
including conducting clinical trials and seeking regulatory approval for the product, and once regulatory approval has
been oblained, for the commercialization of the product, We are required 1o use our commercially reasonable efforts to
develop and commercialize the product in accordance with the terms of a development pF.ln established by the parties.
Subject to certain conditions, we are permitted to engage third parties to perform our activitics or obligations under the
agr In exch for the exclusive rights to develop and commercialize the product for topical dermal applications
and anorectal .l|1pl||:ﬂ.l1m~g we are commitied 1o payments of various amounis 10 Y issum upon meeling cerain
milestones outlined in the license agreement up 1o an aggregate amount of $18.4 million after deducting 50.2 million that
is included in the commitments for the year ending September 30, 2023, In addiion, in the event of a divestiture of
substantially all of our assets. we are obligated 1o pay Yissum a percentage of the valuation of the licensed technology
sold as determined by an external objective cxpent. We also have o commitment 1o pay Yissum a royalty hased on net
sales of the product in countrics where we, or an affiliate of ours, directly commercializes the product and a percentage
of sublicensing revenue received by us and our affiliates in the countries where we do not directly commercialize the
product.

The license agreement provides that Yissum shall remain the exclusive owner of the licensed 1echnology and that we are
responsible for preparing, filing, prosecuting and mamiaining the patenis on the licensed technology in Yissum's name.
Motwithstanding the forcgoing. we will be the exclusive owner of all patents and other intellectual property that is made
by or on our behalf after the date of the agreement, including all improvements to the licensed technology. IFwe default
or fail o pcrfo:m any of the terms, covenants, provisions or our obligations under the license agreement, Yissum has the
oplion to terminate the license agreement, subject to providing us with an opporunity to cure such default, We have the
right to terminate the agreement if we determine that the development and commercialization of the product is no longer
commercially viable. Subject to certain exceptions, we have undertaken to indemnify ¥ issum against any liability,
including product liability, damage, loss or expense derived from the use, development, manufacture, marketing, sale or
sublicensing of the licensed product and technology,




In March 2021, through Edesa Biotech Research, Inc., we entered into a license agreement with the inventor of thi same
pharmaceutical product to acquire global rights for all ficlds of use bevond those named under the 2016 license
agreement with Yissum. As a resull of the hcense agreement entered inte with inventor, Edesa now holds exclusive
global rights to the pharmaceutical product that forms the basis of cur EBOI and EBO2 drug candidates for all fields of
use in humans and animals, We are required to use commercially reasonable efI'MS to develop and commercialize the
product in accordance with the terms of a development plan established by Ih: Pam:s Edcsa s cxdusnsly responsihle,
al its expense. for the development of the product. We are commatted 1o remiining payments of wp 1o an

amount of $69.1 million, primarily relating to future potential commercial approval and sales mulﬁmmlfxzcﬁ’ ition, if
we fail o file an IND or forcign cquivalent for the product within a cortain period of time following the date of the
agreement, we are required 1o reml to the inventor a fixed license fee annually as long as the mquimmn:nl tor file an INDY
remains unfulfilled. Edesa also has a commitment to pay the inventor a royalty based on net sales of the product in
countrics where Edesa, or an affiliate, directly commercializes the product and a percentage of sublicensing revenue
received by Fdesa and its affiliates in the countries where the compuny does not directly commercialize the product.
Subject 1o cerain exceplions, we have underaken to indemnify Licensor against any liabtlity, including product ability,
damage, loss or expense denived from the use, development. manufacture, marketing. sale or sublicensing of the licensed
product and technology.

Manufucturing and Marketing

We rely, and expect to continue to rely for the forcsceable future, on third-party contract manufacturing izalions, or
CMOs, to produce both our synthetic chemical and biological product candidates for clinical testing, as well as for
commercial manufaciure il our product candidates receive marketing approval. Additional contract manufsciurers are
used to fill, label, package and distribute investigational drug products. We beliove that this strategy will enable us to
dircet operational and financial resources to the development of our product candidates rather than diverting resources o
establishing manufactunng infrastruciure, Our current armangements with our manufacturers are subject Lo customary
industry terms and conditions, and manufaciuring s performed on an as-requested basis. While we have not experienced
significant shortages ol raw materials to date, as a result ol increased industry demand, CMOs have gencrally reported
that supplics of raw materials and critical componenis neccssary for manulfacturing processcs have been more
challenging and expensive to obdain, and longer lead times may be required for scheduling future production runs, We
belicve that we have sufficient supplics on hand to complete our clinical studies of EBOS and EBG1.

To future clinical studies and wial commercialization of our product candidates, we are engaged in
dl;c'ﬂuﬂ:]o::m with various CMOs rcgaj'd.:m tong-term supply agreements. These supply ngi.rccmcms I}mesly require
significant financial commitments, including upfront amounts prior 1o commencement of manulacliinng, progress
pavments through the course of the manufacturing process as well as payments for 1zchnology transfer and other start-up
costs. Based on our discussions with CMOs and industry announcements regarding future expansion plans, we believe
there will be sulTicient supplics of raw materials and manu facluring capacity (o service our near-term and future product
needs.

Because we are [ocused on ihe discovery and development of drugs, we do not have any marketing or disiribution
capabilitics, nor are we at a stage where we would have any customers for our investigational medicines. If we receive
marketing approval or emergency use wthon?mon in the mtcd States, Canada or E for a product candidate, we
plan to either build the capabilitics to commercialize the p didate in the applicable region with our awn
tocused, specialized sales force, or alternatively, outsource the sales and marketing infrastructure necessary to market
and sell our products. We also plan to unilize swategic licensing, collaboration, distribution or other marketing
arrangements with third partics for the further development or commercialization of our products and candidates,
where applicable, such as in arcas or regions outside North America where a pariner may contribute additional resources.
infrastructure and expertise.

Competition

The pharmaceutical and bioteehnology industry is highly competitive, and the development and commercialization of
nEw dmﬁs is influenced by I"IFIIi technological developments and innovation. We face competition from companies
developing and commercializing products that will be competitive with our drug candidates, including I

pharmaceutical and smaller biotechnology companics, many of which have greater financial and commercial resources
than we do. For our EBD] and EBD2 product candidates, our potential competitors include, among others, Aclans
Therapeutics, Inc., Brickell Biotech, Inc., Citius Pharmaceuticals Inc., Dermavant Sciences, Inc. and Leo Pharma A/S.
For our EBOS product candidate, there are numerous competing therapies, including prophylactic vaccines for the SARS-
Cov2 virus, experimental stem cell therapies, novel therapeutics and repurposed commercial drugs. Our potential
competitors include, among others: Aqualung Therapeutics Corporation, Athersys, Inc., Eli Lilly and Company,
Enzychem Lifesciences Comp., Kinikza Pharmaceuticals, Lid., Merck & Co, Inc.. Mesoblast Limited, Pfizer Inc.,
Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Roche HoMing AG and Veru Inc. For any future product for vitiligo or systemic
sclerosis, potential competitors, include, among others: Bausch Health, Galderma Laboratories, LI, Incyte Corporation,
Bochringer Ingelheim AG, Chemomab Therapeutics Lid,, F. Hoffmann-La Roche AG, GlaxoSmithKline ple,, Merck &
Co., Ing,, Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation, Sanofi 3.A. and Seagen, Inc. Some of the competing produsct
development programs may be based on scientific approaches thag are similar to our approach, and others may be based
on entirely different approaches. Potential competitors also include new entranis to the market, academic instilations,
government agencics and other public and private rescarch organizations that conduct rescarch, seck patent protection
and establish collaborative arrengements for research, development, manufacturing and commercialization of products
similar to ours or that otherwise target indications that we are pursumg. Key factors affecting the success of any
approved product will be its efficacy, safcty profile, drug interactions, method of administration, pricing, reimbursement
and level of promotional activity relative 1o those of competing drugs. We believe that our product candidates will
compete favarably with respect to such factors, However, we may not be able to maintain our competitive position
against current and potential competitors.
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Government Hegulation

We plan 1o conduct clinical siudies and seek approvals for our product candidates in the United States, Canada, European
Umnion and other jurisdictions. Therefore, we currently are, and may in the luture be, subject W a vaniety of national and
regional regulations governing clinical trials as well as commercial sales and distribution of our products, if approved.

To conduct clinical trials for our product candidates, we rely on third partics, such as contract rescarch organizations,
medical institutions and climcal investigators. Although we have entered into agreements with these third parties, we
continue 10 be responsible for confirming that cach of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with our
investigational plan or rescarch protecol, as well as International Conference on Harmonization Good Clinical Practices,
or GCP, which include gusdelines for conducting, reconding and reporting the results of chinical nals,

The FDA in the United States, Health Canada in Canada, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) in the European Union
and comparable regulatory agencics in foreign countrics impose substantial requirements on the clinical development,
manufrciure and marketing of pharmaceutical products and produect candidates. These agencies and other federal, stare,
provincial and local entities regulite rescarch and development activitics and the testing, manufacture, packaging,
importing, distribution, quality control, safety. effectiveness, labeling, storage, record-keeping, approval and promotion
of our products and product candidates. All of our product candidates will require regulatory approval before
commerctalization. In particular, therapeutic product candidates for human use are subject to ngorous prechmical and
clinical testing and other statutory and regulatory requirements of the United States, Canada, the EU and forcign
counirics. Obtaining these marketing approvals and subsequently complying with ongoing statutory and regulatory
requirements require substantial time, effort and financial resources.

United States Regulations

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act as well as the Public
Health Service (PHS) Act for biological drugs. The process required by the FDA before our product candidates may be
marketed in the United States gencrally involves the following:

s Preclinical resting, Drug developers complete extensive pre-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies and
formulation studies, performed in accordance with the FDA's Geod Laboratory Practice regulations and
other apphcable requirements, These studics iypically assess efficacy, toxicology and pharmacokinetics,

®  Submission to the FDA of an Investigational New Drug application §IND), which must become effective
before human clinical trials may begin. As part of an IND application to the FDA, trial sponsars submit the
resuliz of pre- chimeal tests, together with manufactunng mformanion and analytical data, The IND
awtomatically becomes effective 30-davs after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 30-day time
frame, has questions or concerns about the proposed study. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA
mitist resolve any outstanding items before the clinical trial can begin. A separate submission 10 an existing
IND must also be made for each successive phase of o clinical trial conducted duning product development.

s Approval by a central or instintional review board (IRB), or ethics commiltes at each clinical trial site
before cach irial may e infttated. An IRB is charged with protecting the welfare and rights of tnial
panticipants and considers such items as whether the risks to individuals participating in the clinical wrials are
minimized and are ble in relation o anticipated benefits. The IRB also approves the informed
consent form thal must be provided to each clinical trial subjeet or his or her legal representative and musi
monitor the chinical trial unil completion. There are also requirements governing the reporing of ongoing
clinical trials and completed clinical trial results to public registries.

®  Muluple Phases of Human Clinecal Trials, Drug developers conduct adequate and well-controlled human
clinical trials that establish the safety and efficacy of the product candidate for the mtended use. typically in
the following three stages, which are ofien sequential but may overlap:

B Phase 1: The climcal trials are mitially conducted in o limited population to test the product candidate
for safety, dose tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution and excretion in healthy human
volunteers or, on occasion, in paticnts, such as cancer patients. Phase 1 clinical irials can be designed o
cvaluate the impact of the product candidate in combination with currently approved drugs.

= Phase 2: These clinical tnals are generally conducted in a limited patient population to identify
possible adverse eflfects and safety nsks, to determine the elficacy of the product candidate for specific
targeted indications and to determine dose tolerance and optimal dosage. Multiple Phase 2 clinical
trials may be conducied by the sponsor (o obtain information before beginning a larger and more
cxpensive Phase 3 clinical trial.




= Phasc 3: These clinical inals arc commaonly referred to as pivotal clinical trials. 1f the Phaze 2 clinical
trials demonstrate that a dose range of the product candidate is effective and has an acceprable safety
profile, Phase 3 climical trials are then undertaken in large patient populations (o further evaluate
dosage, to provide substaniial evidence of clinical efficacy and to further test for safety in an expanded
and diverse patient population al multiple, geographically dispersed climical trial sites.

*  Manufecruring Facilites, Satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing
facility or facilities where the drug is produced 1o assess compliance with Cusrent Good Manufacturing
Practice, or ¢GMP, requirements to assure that the facilities, methods and controls are adequate to preserve
the drug’s identity, strength, quality and purity.

*  New Drug Application (NDA)Y or Biologics License Application (BLAY, The resulis of the nonclinical studics
and clinical irials, wogether with other detailed information, including exiensive manufacturing information
and information on the composition of the drug and proposed labeling, are submitted 1o the FDA in the form
of an NDA or BLA requesting approval to market the drug for one or more specified indications. The FDA
revicws an application fo determine. among other things, whether a drug is safe and effective for its intended
use and whether the product is being manufactured in accordance with ¢cGMP to assure and preserve the
product's identity, strength, quality and purity. FDA approval of an NDA or BLA must be obtained before a
drug may be offered for sale i the United Staics, The FIDA may deny approval of an NDA or BLA if the
applicable regulatory criteria are not satizfied, or it may require additional clinical data. Even if such data are
submitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that the application does not satisfy the criteria for approval. Data
from clinical mals are not always conclusive and the FDA may imterpret data differently than we or our
collaborators do. Once issucd, the FDA may withdraw a drug approval if ongoing regulistory requirements
are not met or if safety problems occur after the drug reaches the market. In addition, the FDA may require
further testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials (postmarketing ), and surveillance programs to menitor the
cfficet of approved drugs which have been commercialized. The FDA has the power to prevent or Limit
further marketing of a drug based on the results of these post-marketing programs. Drugs may be marketed
only for the approved indications und in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. Further, if
there are any modifications to a drug. including changes in indications, labeling or manufacturing processes
or facilities, we may be required 1o submit and obtam FDA approval of 2 new NDA or BLA ora
supplement, which may require us to develop additional data or conduct additional pre-clinical studies and
clinical trials. In addition, under the Pediatric Research Equity Act, or PREA, an NDA or supplement to an
NDA must contain data 1o assess the safety and efficacy of the drug for the claimed indications in all
relevant pediatric subpopulations and to support dosing and admimstration for each pediatric subpopulation
for which the product iz safe and effective, The FDDA may grant deferrals for submission of pediatric data or
full or partial waivers,

Satisfaction of FDA regulations and requirements or similar requirements of state, local and forcign regulatory agencics
typically take several years, and the actual ime required may vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and
novelty of the product or disease. Typically, if 2 product candidate is intended to treat a chronic disease, as ix the case
with some of our product candidates, safety and efficacy data must be gathered over an extended period.

Expedited Development and Review Programs

The FDA has several programs iiended to facilitate and expedite development and review of new drugs te address
unmet medical needs in the trestment of serious or life-threatening discases or conditions, These programs include Fast
Track dezignation, Breakihrough Therapy designation, Priority Review and Accelerated Approval.

A new drug is eligible for Fast Track designation if it is intended 1o treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition
and demonstrates the potential to address unmet medical needs for such disease or condition. Fast Track designation
provides increased opportunities for sponsor interactions with the FDA durng preclinical and clinkcal development, in
addition to the potential for rolling review once a marketing application is filed. Rolling review means that the ageney
may review portions of the marketing application before the sponsor submits the complete application.

In addition. a new drug may be eligible for Breakthrough Therapy designation if it is intended to treat a serious or lifie-
threateming disense or condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the drug may demonstrate substantial
improvement over existing therapics on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment ¢fTects
observed early i clinical developnient. Breakthrough Therapy designation provides all the features of Fast Track
designation in addition 1o intensive guidance on an efficient drug development program beginning as early as Phase 1,
and FDA organizational iment 1o expedited develog i, including involvement of senior managers and
expenenced review stall in a cross-disciplinary review, where appropriaie.




Any product submatted to the FDA for approval, including a product with Fast Track or Breakthrough Therapy
designation, may also be eligible for additional FDA programs intended to expedite the review and approval process,
inclading Priority Review dezignation and Accelerated Approval. A product is eligible for Priority Review, once an
MDA or BLA is submitted, if the drug that is the subject of the marketing application has the patential to provide a
significant improvement in safety or effectiveness in the treatment, disgnosis or prevention of a senous discase or
condition. Under priority review, the FIDA's goal date to take action on the marketing application is six months compared
1o ten months for a standard review. Products are eligible for Accelerated Approval il they can be shown to have an
effect on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely 1o predict clinical benefit, or an effect on a clinical endpoint that
can be measured carlicr than an effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality,

Accelerated Approval is usually contingent on 4 sponsor’s agreement to conduct additional post-approval studies to
verify and describe the product’s clinical benefit. The FDA may withdraw approval of a drug or an indication approved
under Accelerated Approval if, for example, the confirmatory trial fails to venify the predicted clinical benefit of the
product. In addition, the FDDA gencrally requires. as a condition for Accelerated Approval, that all advertising and
promational materials intended for dissemination or publication within 120 days of marketing approval be submitted 1o
the agency for review during the pre-approval review period, After the 120-day peniod has passed, all advertising and
promotional materials must be submitted at least 30 days prior 1o the intended time of nitial dissemination or
publication,

Even il a product qualifies for one or more of these programs, the FDA may Inter decide that the product no longer meets
the conditions for qualificabion or the time peniod for FDA review or approval may not be shoriened, Furthermore, Fast
Track designation, Breakthrough Therapy designation, Priority Review and Accelerated Approval do not change the
scientific or medical standards for approval or the quality of evidence necessary to support approval, though they may
expedite the development or review procoss.

Emergency Use Authorizations

While, in most cases, a therapeutic must be approved by FDA before the product may be sold, when there is a public
health emergency involving chemical, biological, radiological, or nuclear agents, including infectious discases like
Covid-19, new therapeutics may be distnibuted pursuant to an Emergency Use Authornization, or EUA. Under an EUA,
FIDA may authorize the emergency use of an unapproved medical product or an unapproved use of an approved product
for cortain emergency circumstances 10 diagnose, treat, or provent serious or hife-threatening discases or conditions when
certain statutory criteria have been met, and after the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services has
issued a declaration of emergency or threat justifying emergency use.

To receive an EUA, the product spoensor must demonstrate that the product “may be effective™ in the prevention,
diagnosis, or treatment of an applicable discase or condition. Additionally, FDA must determine that the product’s
known and potential benefits outweigh the known and potential risks. Further there must be no adequate, approved, and
available alternative product for the indication. Potential alternative products may be unavailable if there are imsufficient
supplics 1o mect the emergency need. FDA may establish additional conditions on an EUA that are necessary to protect
public health, inchuding conditions related 1o information that must be disserinated to health care providers and patients,
the monitoring and reporting of adverse events, and record keeping. Conditions may also relate to how a product is
distributed and administered and how a product is advertised. Importantly, EUAs are not full marketing approvals.
Rather. EUAs are only effective for the duration of the applicable EUA declaration. Full approval of the product under
applicable standards would be necessary to continue to distribute the product absent an EUA. EUAs may also be revised
or revoked by FDA ot any time.

(cher Regrlatory Reguirements

Any products manulactured or distributed by us or our collaborators (pursuant to FDA approval) are subject 1o
continuing regulation by the FDA, including recordkeeping requirements and reporting of adverse experiences associated
with the drug. Drug manufacturers and their subcontractons ane required to register their establishments with the FDA
and certain state agencies and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDDA and cerain state agencies for
compliance with ongoing regulatory requirements, including ¢GMP, which impose certain procedural and documentation
requirements upon us and our third-party manufacterers. Failure 1o comply with the statutery and regulatory
requirements can subject a manufacturer 1o possible legal or regulatory action, such as waming leiters, suspension of
manufacturing. sewure of product, injunctive action or possible civil penalties.

The FDA closcly regulates the post-approval marketing and promation of drugs, including standards and regulations for
direci-to-consumer advertising, off-label promotion, industry-sponsored scientific and educational activities and
promotional activities involving the Tnternet. A company can make only those claims relating to safety and efficacy that
are approved by the FDDA, Failure 1o comply with these requirements can result in adverse publicity, waming lefters,
comective advertising and potential civil and criminal penalties. Physicians may prescribe legally available drugs for uses
that are not described in the drug's labeling and that differ from those tested by us and approved by the FDA. Such off-
label uses are common across medical specialties, Physicians may believe that such off-label uses are the best treatment
for many patients in varied circumstances. The FDA does not regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice of
treatments. The FDA does, however, impase stringent restrictions on manufacturers’ communications regarding ofl-label
us.
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The federal anti-kickback statute prohibits, among other things, persons (rom knowingly and wallfully soliciting,
offering, receiving or paying remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, 1o induce or reward esther the
referral of an individual for, or the purchase, erder or recommendation of, any geod or service, for which payment may
be made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare and Medicaid. This statute has heen
broadly interpreted to apply to manufacturer arrangements with prescnbers, purchasers and ph cy benefit oS,
among others. Several other countries, mcluding the United Kingdom, have enscted sinvilar anti-kickback laws and
regulations.

The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes crimimal and civil liabality
for executing a scheme to defrand any healiheare benefit program or for knowingly and willfully falsifving. concealing
or covening up a malenal fact or making any matenally false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for
healthcare benefits, lems or services. HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and
Clinical Health Act, or HITECH Act, and itz implementing regulations, also imposes obligations, including mandatory
contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, secunty and transmission of individually identifiable health
information.

The federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act requirements under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of
2010, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconcihation Act of 2000, referred 1o together as the Affordable
Care Act, require manufacturers of FDA-approved drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplics covered by Medicare
or Medicaid to report to the Depanment of Health and [uman Services information related to payments and other
transfers of value made 1o or al the request of covered recipients, such as phy=icians and teaching hosptals, and
physician ownership and investment interests in such manufacturers. Among other payments, the law requires payments
made 1o physicians and teaching hospitals for clinical nals be disclosed.

Analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, may apply to future potential
sales or marketing arrangemenis and clatms involving healthcare stems or services reimbursed by nongovernmental third-
party payors, imcluding private insurers. Some state lnws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the
pharmaceutical indusiry’s voluntary compliance guidelines, or the relevant compliance guidance promulgaied by the
federal govermment, in addition to requinng drug manufacturers to report information related o payments to physicians
and other health care providers or marketing expenditures o the extent that those lows impose requirements that are more
stringent than the Phvsician Payments Sunshine Act. State and foreign laws also govemn the privacy and secunity of
health mformation in some circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not
precmpted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance effors.

Canada Regulations

Health Canada is the Canadian lederal auwthornty that regulates, evaluates and monitors the salety, effectivencss, and
quality of drugs, medical devices, and other therapeutic products available 10 Canadians, Health Canada’s regulatory
process for review, approval and regulatory oversight of products 13 similar o the regulatory process conducied by the
FDA. To mitiste clinical testing of a drug candidate in human subjects in Canada, a Clinical Trial Application (CTA)
must be filed with and approved by Health Canada. In addition, all federally regulated trials must be approved and
monitored by research ethics boards. The review boands study and approve study-related documents and monitor trial
data.

Prior to being given markel authonization for a drug product, a manufacturer must present substantive scientific evidence
of a product’s safery, efficacy and quality as required by the Food and Drugs Act (Canada) and i1s associated regulations,
including the Food and Drug Regulations, This information is usually submitted in the form of a New Drug Submission
{NDS). Health Canada reviews the submitted information, sometines using external consultants and advisory
commitices, o evaluate the potential benefits and risks of a drug. If after the review, the conclusion is that the patient
benefits outweigh the nisks associated with the drog. the drug is issued 3 Drug Identification Number (DIN), followed by
a Motice of Compliance (NOC), which permits the market authorization holder (i.¢., the NOC and DIN holder) o market
the drug in Canada. Drugs granted an NOC may be subject to additional postmarket surveillance and reporting

requirements,

All establishments engaged in the fabrication, packaging labeling, importation, distibution, and wholesale of drugs and
operation of a testing laboratory relating to drugs are required to hold a Dirug Establishment License to conduct one or
more of the licensed activitics unless expressly exempted under the Food and Drug Regulations. The basis for the
issnance of a Drug Establishment License is 1o ensure the facility complies with ¢GMP as stipulated in the Food and
Drug Regulations and as determined by ¢GMP inspection conducted by Health Canada. An imporier of pharmaceutical
products manufactured a1 foreign sites must also be able to demonstrate that the forcign sites comply with cGMP, and
such foreign sites are included on the importer’s Drug Establishment License,
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Regulatory obligations and oversight continue following the initial market approval of a pharmaceutical product. For
example, every market authorization holder must report any new information received concermning adverse drug
reactions, including timely reporting of senous sdverse drug reactions that ocour in Canada and any senous unexpected
adverse drug reactions that oceur outside of Canada, The market authorization holder must also notify Health Canada of
any new safety and eificacy issues that it becomes aware of after the launch of a product.

Emplovees

As of the date of this filing, we have 16 full-time employees: ten employees are primarily engaged in research and
development, and six employees are engaged in management, administration, business development and finance, All
employees are located i Canada or the US, None of our employees are members of any labor unions,

We take pride in the diversity of our workforce and being an equal opportunity employer. As a growth-oriented company
forused on mnovation, we strive to foster diversity and inclusion. As of the date of this filing, women represented more
than 30%% of all emplovees, and individuals from underrepresented racial or ethnic groups, or who are forcign bomn,
represented more than 50% of our employees,

Legal Proceedings
We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings.
Corporate Information

We are a British Columbia, Canada corporation founded in 2007 and aperate through our wholly owned subsidanes,
Edesa Biotech Research. Inc., an Ontario, Canada corporation and Edesa Biotech USA, Inc., a California, USA
corporation. In June 2019, we acquired the Ontario corperation through a reverse acquisition and changed our name to
Edesa Biodech, Inc.

Onuer exccutive offices are located at 100 Spy Court, Markham, Ontanio, L3R 5Hé, Canada. Our phone number is 289-
B0- 9600, Our registered and records office is 29040 - 550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, VoC OA3,
Canada, Our website address is www edesabiotech.com. The contents of our website or social media postings are nol
part of our SEC reports for any purpose or otherwise incorporated by reference. Any references 1o website addresses
contained in this report are intended to be mactive texmal references only,

Available Information

We file or furnish periodic reports and amendments thercto, including our anmual reports on Form 10K, our quarterly
reports on Form 10-0) and current reports on Form 8K, proxy statements and other information wath the U.S. Sccunitics
amd Exchange Commission {SEC). Such reports and other information filed or furnished by us with the SEC are
available free of charge on our website ai www.edesabiotech.cominvestors/sec-Milings as soon as reasonably praciicable
after such reports are available on the SEC's website s www sec gov. Our (ilings are also available at the Canadian
Secunties Administrators” SEDAR website at www sedar.com, Investors and other interested parties should note that we
miay also use our website and our social media ch 13 1o publish information about Edesa that may be deemed material
o investors. We encourage investors and other interested partics 1o review the information we may publish through our
websile and social media channels.

Smuller Reporting Company

‘We are currently a “smaller reporting company™ as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934
(Exchange Act), and are thus allowed to provide simplified executive compensation disclosures in our filings, are exemypt
from the provizions of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act requiring that an ndependent registered public
accounting firm provide an anestation report on the effectiveness of intemal control over financial reporting and have
certain other reduced disclosure obligations with respect to our SEC filings.

Item 1A, RISK FACTORS.

Certaln faciors may have a material adverse ¢ffect on our business, prospects, financial condition and resifts of
aperations. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertalnties described below together with all of the ather
information contained in this Annual Report on Form 1=K, including our financial statemenis and the related noves,
before deciding to invest in our common shares. The risks and uncertainties described below are nat the only ones we
face. Additional risks and uncertainties nol presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also
adversely affect our business, T additian, many of the folliwing risk faciars could be exacerbated by any worsening of
the global business and econmmic environment, If any of the following risks acnally occurs, eur business, finoncial
condition. resilts of operations and future prospects conld be materially and adversely affecred.




Risks Related to Our Business

We are a late-stage biopharmacewtical company with ne produces approved for commercial sale, and we have
incwrred significant losses since our inceprion and expect fo comiinue fo incur losses and may never generaie profies
Sram operations or maintein profitability.

Simce inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. At September 30, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of
544,04 million. We have historically financed operations primarily through issuances of common shares, the excreise of
commaon share purchase warrants, convertible preferred shares, convertible loans, government grants and fax incentives,
We have devoted substantially all of our efforts to rescarch and development, including clinical trials, and have not
completed the development of any of our drug candidates.

‘We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses for the foresceable future as we continue the
development of, and seck marketing approvals for our product candidates, prepare for and begin the commercialization
of any approved products, and add infrastrucuire and personnel 1o suppon our product development ¢fforts and
operations as a public company in the United States and Canada. The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly
from quarter to quarier and ycar 1o vear,

Baged on our current plans, we do not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until we or a current or potental
future licensee obtains marketing approval for, and commercializes, one or more of our product candidates, which may
require several years. Neither we nor a licensee may ever succeed in obtaining markering approval for, or
commercializing our product candidates and, even if marketing approval is obtained, we may never gencrale revenuss
that are significant enough to generate profits from operations.

We will need substantial additional funding fe finance our operations through regulatory approval of one or more of
wur product candidates, If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we could be forced to delay, reduce or
climinate our product development programs or commercialization efforts,

We expect our research and development expenses to increase substantially in the future, particularly for any drug
candidates bevond Phase 2 clinical development or if we expand the number of drug candidates in clinical studies. In
addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of aur product candidates that are not then subject 1o licensing,
collaboration or similar arrangements with third partics, we expect 1o incur significant reialization exp 5
related 10 product sales, marketing, distnbution and manufacnng. [§we are unable to raise capital when needed, or on
anractive terms, we could be forced 1o delay, reduce or climinate rescarch and development programs or future
commercialization efforts,

We depend heavily on the success of our drug product candidates. If we are unable to obiain regulaiory approval or
commercialize one or more of these experimental freatments, or experience significant delays in doing so, our
business will be materially harmed.

Ohrr ability to generate product revenues, which may not occur for multiple years, if s all, will depend heavily on the
successhul development and commercialization of our drug product candidates. The success of our product candidates
will depend on a number of factors, including the following:

*  our ability to obtain additienal capital from potential future licensing, collaboration or similar arangements
of from any future offering of our debt or equity securitics:

= our ability to identily and enter into potential future licenses or other collaboration arrangements with third

parties and the terms of the armangements;

our timing to oblain applicable regulatory approvals;

successful completion of climical development;

the ability to provide acceptable cvidence demonstrating a product candidates” safety and efficacy;

receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory awthonitics and similur foreign regulatory

authoritics;

& the availability of raw materials 1o produce our product candidates;

#  obtaining and maintaining commercial manufacturing arrangements with third-party manufacturers or
establishing commercial-scale manufacturing capabilities;

*  obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivir:

s establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;

*  pencrating commercial sales of the product candidate, if and when approved, whether alone or in
collaboration with others;

= acceptance of the product candidate, if and when approved, by paticnts, the medical community and third-
party payors;

s effectively competing with other therapies; and

*  maintaining an acceplable safety profile of the product candidate following approval.
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If we do not achieve one or maore of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we coulid experience significant delays or
an inability to successlully commercialize any of our product candidates, which would matertally harm our business.
Many of these Tactors are beyvond our control. Accordingly, we may never be able 10 generate revenues through the
license or sale of any of our product candidates.

Deterioration in general economic conditions in the United States, Canada and globally, including the effect of
pralonged periods af inflation on owur supplicrs, third-party service providers and patential partners, conld harm oor
business and reswlts of eperations,

Our business and results of operations could be adversely affected by changes in national or global cconomic conditions.
These conditions include but are not limited to inflation, nsing interest rates, availability of capital markets, energy
availability and costs, the negative impacts caused by pandemics and public health crises, negative impacts resulting
from the military conflict between Russia and the Ukraine, and the effects of governmental initiatives 1o manage
economic conditions, Impacts of such conditions could be passed on to our business in the form of higher costs for labor
and materials, higher investigator fees, possible reductions in pharmacewtical industry-wide spending on research and
development and acquisitions and higher costs of capital.

Public health threats conld have an adverse offect on our aperations and financial resulis,

Public health threats, such as the novel coronavirus (Covid-19), influenza and other highly communicable diseases or
viruses could adversely impact our operations and disrupt our ongoing or planned research and development activities.
Wi cannol presently predict the scope and severity of any potential Rulure business shutdowns or disruplions, bul if we or
amy of the third partics with whom we engage, including the supplicrs, clinical trial sitcs, regulators and other third
partics with whom we conduct business, were to experience shutdewns or other business disruptions, our ability to
conduct our business in the manner and on the timelines presently planned could be matenally and negatively impacted.

ODur limited operating history may make it difficult for you te evaluate the success of owr business to date and to
assess onr futire viabiliny.

Our prnmarily operating entity, Edesa Biotech Research, Inc., was formed in July 2015. To date, our operations have
been limited 1o orgamzation and staffing, developing and secuning our technology. entening into licensing arrangements,
raising capital and undertaking preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates, We have not yet
demonstrated our ability to successfully complete development of any product candidate, obtain marketing approval,
manufacture a commercial-scale product, or arrange for a third-party 1o do so on our behalf, or conduct sales and
marketing activities necessary for successful product commercialzation. Assuming we obtain marketing approval for
any of our product candidates, we will need to itson [rom a company with a research and development focus o a
company capable of supporting commercial activities. We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties,
complications and delays and may not be successful in such a transition. Any predictions made about our future success
or viahility may not be as sccurate as they could be if we hod a longer operating history.

We expect to expand our capabilities, and as a resull, we may encounter difficulties in managing our growih, which
corield diseupt our operations.

W expect 10 experience growth m the number of our employvees and the scope of our operations, particularly in the areas
of drug development, regulatory alTairs, linance and adminisiration and, potentially, sales and marketing. To manage our
anticipated future growth, we must continee o implement and improve our managerial, operational and financial
systems, expand our facilitics and continue to recruit and train additional gualified personnel. We may not be able w
effectively manage the expansion of our operations or recruit and train additional qualified personnel. The physical
expansion of our operations may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and business development
respurces. Any inability to manage growth could delay the execunon of our business plans or disrupt our operations,

ur fuiure success depends on owr ability io refain key executives and to atiract, retoin and motivate gualified
personnel.

We are highly dependent on Dr. Pardeep Nijhawan, our Chief Executive Officer and Secretary; and Michael Brooks, our
President; as well as other principal members of our management and scientific teams. Although we have employment
agreements with cach of our executive officers, these agreements do not prevent our executives from tenminating their
employment with the company at any time. The unplanned loss of the services of any of these persons could materially
n‘npa:t the achicvement of our rescarch, development, financial and commercialization objectives. Recruiting and

taining qualified pe I will also be critical fo our success. We may not be able to atiract and retain these personnel
on n:ccpmb]cttmls given the competition among numerous biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies for similar
personncl. In addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in
formulating our research and development and commercialization strategy. Our consultants and advisors may have
commitments with other entitics that may limit their availability to us,
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We are exposed ro risks related to currency exchange rates,

We conduct a significant portion of our operations outside of the United States. Because our financial statements are
presented in ULS, dollars, changes in currency exchange rates have had and could have in the future a sagnificant eflect
on our operating results when our operating results are translated mnto U.S. dollars.

We are subject te anti-corviption laws, as well as export control laws, customs laws, sanciions laws, privacy laows and
wither laws governing our operations, If we fail fo comply with these laws, it could be subject to civil or criminal
pemaliies, other remedial measwres and legal expenses, which could adversely affect our business, results af
aperations and financiol condition.

Our operations are subject to anti-corruption laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA, and
other anti-cormuption laws that apply in countries where we do business and may do business i the future. We are also
subiject 1o other laws and regulations governing our inlernalional operations, including regulations administered by the
govemment of the United States and authorities in the European Union, including applicable export control regulations,
coonomic sancions on countries and persons, cusioms requirements and curreney exchange regulations. There is no
assurance that we will be completely effective in ensuring our compliance with all applicable anti- cormption laws, 17 we
are oot in compliance, we may be subject to criminal and civil penaliies, disgorgement and other sanchions and remedial
measures, and legal expenses, which could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of
opcrations and liquidity. Likewise, any investigation of any potential violations of the FCPA, other anti- comuption lnws
or trade control laws by LLS. or other authoritics could also have an adverse impact on our reputation, our business,
resulis of operations and financial condition. Similarly, compliance with global privacy and data security requirements
could result in additional costs and liabilitics 1o us or inhibit our ability to collect and process data globally, and our
failure to comply with data protection laws and regulations could lead to government enlorcement actions, which would
cause our business and reputation Lo sullier,

ur mpﬁl)m.prfnrguﬂ investigators, consulftants and commercial partiers may engage in miscomdict or other
inpraper activities, including nowcomplianee with regulatory standards and requirements and insider trading, which
could cause significant lability for us and harm our reputation,

‘We are exposed to the risk of fraud or other misconduct by our employees, principal investigators, consultants and
collab 3, including i ol failures o comply with FDA or Office of Inspector General regulations or similar
regulations of comparable non-U.S, regulatory authorities, provide accurate information to the FDA or comparable non-
LS, regulatory authorities, comply with manufscturing standards we have established, comply with federal and state
healiheare fraud and abuse laws snd regulations and similar laws and regulations established and enforeed by comparable
non-L1S, regulatory authorities, report financial information or data accurately or disclose unauthonized activities lo us.
Misconduct by these parties could also invalve the improper use af information obtained in the course of clinical trials,
which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation. [t is not always possible to identily and
deter misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling
unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits
stenming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws, standards or regulations, Such sctions could have a
significant impact on our business and results of operations, including the imposition of significant fines or other
sanctions,

We rely significantly on information technology and any fallure, inadequacy, interruption or security lapse of that
technology, including any cyber security fncidents, could harm our ability to operate our business effectively.

Despite the implementation of security ¢, our computer systems and those of third parties with which wie contract
are vulnerable to damage, including damage from cyber attacks, ransomware attacks, computer vineses, unauthomnzed
aceess, human error and technological errors, natural disasters and telecommunication and electrical falures. System
failurcs, accidents or secunty breaches could cause interruptions in our operations, and could resull in a material
disruption of our clinical and commercialization activitics and busingss opcrations, in addition to possibly requiring
substantial expenditures of resources 1o remedy. The loss of clinical trial data could result in delays in our regulatory
approval efforis and significantly increase our cosis 1o recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or
secunty breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropniate disclosure of
confidential or proprictary information, we could incur lability and our product rescarch, development and
commercialization efforts could be delayed.




Risks Related to Clinical Development, Regulatory Approval and Commercialization

If clinical trials of our product candidates fuil to demanstraie safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of the FIDA,
Health Canwda (HC) or the Exvropean Medicines Agency (EMA), or do mof otherwise produce favorable resulfs, we
may incir additional costs or experience delays in completing, er wltimately be unable to complere, the development
aird commercialization our produce candidates,

In connection with obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authontics for the sale of any drug candidate, we must
complete preclinical development and then conduct extensive clinical trials o demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our
product candidates in humans. Clinical trials are expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years (o
complcte and arc unceriain as (o outcome. A failure of one or more clinical trals can occur at any stage of lesting, The
ouicome of preclinical testing and carly clincal trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials. In
particular, the small number of subjects and patients in early clinical trials of our product candidates may make the
resulis of these clinical inals less predictive of the outcome of later clinical trials. The design of a clinical trial can
determine whether our results will suppon approval of a product, and flaws in the design of a clinical irial may not
become apparent until the clinical trial iz well advanced or completed. There 12 no assurance that we wall be able 1o
design and execute a chimcal tnal to support marketing approval. Moreover, prechinical and chnical data are often
susceplible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many companics that have belicved their product candidates
performed satisfactonly in preclinical studics and clinical trials have nonctheless failed to obtain markcting approval of
their products. Pre-climical studics er clinical trials may produce negative or mconclusive resulis, and we may decide, or
regulators may require us, to conduct additional pre-chmical studics or clinical nals, or to discontinue clinical tnals
alwogether. Ultimately, we may be unable to complete the development and commercialization of any of our product
candidates.

fmterim results, top-fine, initial data may not aecurately reflect the complete results of o particular study or trial.

We may publicly disclose interim, top-line or initial data from time to time that is based on a preliminary analysis of
then- avanlable eMicacy and safety data, and the resulis and related lindings and conclusions are subject o change
following a more comprehensive review of the data related to the particular stady or trial. We also make assumptions,
catimates, caleulations and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not have received or had the
opportunity o fully evaluate all data. Interim, top-fine and initial data should be viewed with caution until the final daa
are available. In addition, the information we may publicly disclose regarding a particular preclinical or clinical study is
based on what is typically extensive information, and vou or others may not agree with what we determine is the material
or otherwise appropriate information 1o include in our disclosure, and any information we determine not 1o disclose may
ultimately be deemed significant with respect 1o future decrsions, conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding a
particular drug, drug candidate or our business, If the interim, top-ling or initial data that we report differ from actual
resulis, or if others, including regulatory authoritics, disagree with the conclusions reached, our ability to obtain approval
Tor, and commercialize, our product candidates may be harmed or delaved, which could hamm our business, financial
condition, operating resulls or prospects.

If clinical trials for our product candidates are prolonged or delayed, we may incur additional costs, and may not be
able to commercialize vur product candidates on a Hmely basis or ar all,

We cannot predict whether we will encounter problems with any of our ongoing or planned clinical trials that will cause
us or any regulatory authority 1o delay or suspend those clinical trials, A number of events, including any of the
following, ¢ould delay the completion of our ongeing and planned clinical trials and negatively impact our ability to
obtain regulatory approval for, and to market and sell, a particular product candidate:

#  conditions imposed by the FDA or any foreign regulatory amhonty regarding the scope or design of our
clinical trials;

= delays in obtaining. or the inability to obtain, required approvals from institutional review boards, or IRBs,
or other reviewing entitics at climical sites seleeted for participation in our clinical trials;

. insufficient supply or deficient quality of product candidates supply or materials 1o produce our product
candidates or other materials necessary 1o conduct our clinical trials;

#»  delays in obtaming regulatory agreement for the conduct of the climeal tnals;

o Jower than anticipated enrollment and retention rate of subjects in clinical tnals;

= serious and unexpecied drug-related side effects experienced by patients in clinical trials;

. failure of third-party contractors to meet their contractual obligations in a timely manner;

s pre-clinical or clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results, which may require us or amy
potential Tuture collaborators 1o conduct additional pre-clinical or clinical testing or to abandon projects that
we expect 1o be promising;

= cven il pre=clinical or clinical trial results are positive, the FDA or foreign regulatory authonities could
nonctheless require unanticipated additional clinical trials;

+  regulators or institutional review boards may suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulalory requirements,

+  delays in ¢stablishing the appropriate dosage levels,

= product candidates may not have the desired effects; and

#  the lack of adequate funding to continue clinical trials.




Additionally, changes in standard of carc or regulatory requirements and guidance may occur and we may need to amend
chnical tnal protocols 1o rellect these changes. Such amendments may require us 1o resubmit our clinical 1nal protocols
to IRBs for re-exammation, which may impact the cost, timing or successful completion of a clinical trial. Such changes
may also require us to reassess the viability of the program in question.

We do not know whether our chimical tninls will begin or continue as planned, will need to be restructured or will be
completed on schedule, if at all. Delays in clinical trials will result in increased development costs for our product
candidates. In addition, if we expenience delays in completion of, or if we terminate, any of our clinical trials, the
commercial prospects for our product candidates may be affected and our ability to generate product revenues will be
delayed. Furthermore, many of the factors that cause, or lead 1o, a delay in the commencement or completion of chinical
trials may also ulamatcly lead (o the denial of regulatory approval of a product candidate.

The clinical trial designs, endpoints and autcomes that will be required to obiain marketing approval for eur drug
candidates are uncertain. We may never receive marketing approval for our drag candidaies.

To our knowledge, there are currently noe FDA-approved drug treatment options specifically approved for many of the
discase indications we are targeting with our drug candidates. Accordingly, there may not be well-established
development paths and outcomes. The FDA, Health Canada or any other regulatory authority may determine that the
designs or endpoinis of any tnal that we conduct, or that the outcome shown on any particular endpoint in any trial that
we conduct, are not sufficient to establish a chnically meaningful benefit for our drug candidates, or otherwise, to
support approval, even if the primary endpoint(s) of the trial is met with statistical significance. If this occurs, our
business could be materially harmed, Morcover, il the regulatory authorities require us to conduct additional clinical
trials bevond the ones that we currently contemplate, our finances and results from operations will be adversely

impacted. If our clinical studics meet their respective primary endpoints, we plan 1o scck marketing approval. We cannot
predict whether cach of these regulatory agencies will agree that our study data and information will be sufficient to mect
the requirements for ihing & marketing application or the standards for approval. 17 the regulatory agencies determing that
more data and information are needed, it could delay and’or negatively impact our ability to obtain regulatory approval to
market and sell a particular product candidate.

If the commercial opportunity in chronic ACH or ARDS s smaller than we aniicipaie, onr fuiure revenne from EBO T
or ERGS, ax applicable, will be adversely affected and our business will suffer.

It s erntical 1o our abality 1o grow and become profitable that we successfully identify patients with chronie ACD or
ARDS. Our estimates of the number of people who have these conditions as well as the subset who have the potential 10
benelit from treptment with EBO1 or EBOS, are based on a varicty of sources, including third-party estimates and
analyses in the scientific literature, and may prove 1o be incorrect. Further, new information may emerge that changes
our estimate of the prevalence of these discases or the number of patient candidates for these diug candidates. The effon
1o identify patients for our other potentinl target indicalions is at an carly stage, and we cannot accurately predict this
nwmber of patients for whom treatment might be possible, Additionally, the patentially addressable patient population for
our drug candidates may be limited or may not be amenable to treatment with our drug candidates, and new patients may
hecome increasingly difficult to identify or access. [f the commercial apportunity for these conditions is smaller than we
anticipate, our future financial performance may be adversely impacted.

Whife we have chosen o test our product candidates in specific clinical indications based in part on our
understanding of their mechanisms of action, our understonding may be incorrect or incomplete and, therefore, our
provdfuct candidates may mot be effective against the diseases vested in owr clinical rials,

Our rationale for selecting the particular therapeutic indications for each of our product candidates is based in part on our
understanding of the hanism of action of ihese product candidates. However, our understanding of the product
candidates” mechanizm of action may be incomplete or incomrect, or the mechanism may not be clinically relevant to the
discases treated. Insuch cases, our product candidates may prove to be meffective in the clinical trials for treating those
diseases, and adverse clinical tnal results would likely negatively impact our business and results from aperations.,

A successful sPLA2 or anti-TLRA drug has not been developed to date and we can provide mo assurances that we will
be successful or that there will be no adverse side effects.

Our sPLA2 and anti-TLR4 product candidates employ novel mechanisms of action. To our knowledge no drug
companies have successfully commercialized an sPLA2 nhibitor or an anti-TLR4 antibody and as a result the efficacy
and long-term side effects are not known, There is no guarantee that we will successfully develop and/or commercialize
an sPLAZ inhibitor or anti-TLR4 therapy. and‘or that our product candidates will have no adverse side effects.




Even if one of our product candidates receives marketing approval, it may fail io achieve the degree of market
acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors and others in the medical communify necessary for commercial

EMCCENS,

IT any product candidate receives marketing approval, the approved product may nonctheless (a1l to gain suflicient
market acceplance by physicians, patients, third-party payors and others in the medical community. If an approved
product does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may not generate significant product revenues or any
profitz from operations. Our ability to negotiate, secure and maintain third-party coverage and reimbursement for our
product candidates may be affected by political, economic and regulatory developments in the United States, Canada, the
Eurapean Unien and other jurisdictions. Governments continue to imposs cost contamment measures, and third-party
payors are increasingly challenging prices charged for medicines and examining their cost effectiveness, in addition to
their safety and elficacy. These and other similar developmentz could significantly lrmit the degree of market acceplance
of any of our future product candidates that receive marketing approval.

If we are unable to extablish sales and marketing capabilities or enter fnto agreements with thivd parties to market
aind any aof our other current or futwre product candidates, we may not be successful in commercializing the
applicable product candidate if it receives marketing approval,

We do not have a sales or marketing infrastraciure and have no expenence as a company in the sale or marketing of
pharmaceutical products. To achieve commeercial success for amy approved product, we must cither develop a sales and
marketing organization or outsource these functions to third parties. This may be costly, and our investment would be
lost il we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing personncl. IF we enter into arrangements with third parties
1o perform sales and marketing services, our product revenues or the profitability of these product revenues 1o us could
be lower than il we were 1o market and scll any products that we develop ourselves. In addition, we may not be
successiul in entering into arrangements with third partics to sell and market our product candidates or may be unable 10
do 50 on lerms that are acceplable to us, We likely will have linle control over such thied parties, and any of them may
fail to devote the necessary resources and attention to sell and market our products eifectively. If we do not establish
sales and marketing capabilities successfully, either on our own or i eollaboration with third parties, we will not be
sucecssiul in commercializing our product candidales,

We face substantial competition, which may result in others divcovering, developing or commercializing products to
treal pur targel indications or markets before or more successfully than we do,

The development and comumercialization of new drug products is highly competitive. We face competition with respect
to our current product candidates and any products we may seck 1o develop or commercialize in the future from major
pharmaceutical companics, specialty pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies worldwide, Competitors
may also include academic institutions. government agencies and other public and private research organizations that
conduct rescarch, seek patent protection and establish collaborative armangements for research, development,
manufsciuring and commercialization. Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and
expertise than we do. Our commercial oppertumitics could be reduced or eliminated i our competitors develop and
commercialize products that are more cffective, safer, have fewer or less severe side effects, are approved for broader
indications or patient populstions, or are more convenient or less expensive than any products that we develop and
commercialize. Our competitors may also obtain marketing approval for their products more raprdly than we may oblain
approval for our products, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before we are able
o enter the market. 11 approved, our product candidates will compete for a share off thie existing market with nmerous
other products being used 1o tremt ACD, ARDS, or any other indications for which we may receive government approval,

Even if we are able to commercialize one of our product candidates, the product may become subject fo unfavorable
pricing regulations, thivd-party relmbursement practices or healtheare reform initatives, whick would harm onr
business,

The regulations that govern marketing approvals, pricing, coverage and reimbursement for new drug products vary
widcly from country 1o country, Current and future legislation may significantly change the approval requirements in
ways that could involve additional costs and cause delays in obtaining approvals, Some countries require approval of the
sale price of a drug before it can be marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period begins afier marketing or
product licensing approval is granted and, in some markeis, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to
contineing govermmental control even after initial approval is granted. As a result, we might obtain marketing approval
for u product in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay our commercial launch of the
product, possibly for lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenues we are able to generate from the sale of
the product in that country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one or more
product candidates, even if our product candidates oblain marketing approval.
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Oner ability to commercialize EBOL, EBOS or any other product candidate successfully also will depend in part on the
extent o which coverage and adequate reimbursement for these products and related treatments will be avaslable from
government health administration authorities, private health insurers and other orgamizations, Government authorities and
other third- party payors, such as privaie health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which medications
they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. Our inabality to prompily oblain coverage and adequate
reimbursement rates from both government-funded and private payers for any approved products that we develop could
have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize products and
our overall financial condition.

Product liability lawswits against us conld cause us to incur substamiial Nabilities and limit commercialization of any
producces that we may develop.

‘We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human clinical
trials and will face an even greater risk it we commercially sell any producis that we may develop. The amount of
msurance that we currently hold may not be adequate to cover all liabilities that we may incur. We will need to increase
our insurance coverage when and if we begin conducting more expansive clinical development of our product
candidates, and we may not be able to mainiain insurance coverage al a reasonable cost or in an amount adequaie o
satisfy any liability that may arise.

We will be dependent on third parties for manufocturing, including sptimization, technology transfers and scaling up
of climical scale guantities aof all of our product candidares.,

We have no direct expenence in manufacturing any of our product candidates, and currently lack the resources or
capability to manufacture any of our product candidates on a clinical or commercial scale. As a resuli, we will be
dependent on third parties for manufaciuring, including optimization, technology transiers and scaling up of clinical
scale quantities of all our product candidates. We believe that this strategy will enable us to direct operational and
financial reseurces to the development of our product candidates rather than diverting resources to establishing
manufdeturing infrastructure; however our use of third parties to manufscture our product candidates may increase the
risk that we will not have sulficient quantifies of our product candidates or products or such quantitics al an accepiable
cost, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization effors.

‘We do not currently have any agreements with third-party manufacturers for the long-term clinical or commeercial supply
of any of our product candidates and may in the future be unable to scale-up and'or conclude agreements for commercial
supply with commercial third-party manufacturers on acceptable terms, or at all, Even if we are able 1o establish and
maintain arrangements with third-party manufacturers, they may encounter diflicultics in achieving volume production,
laboratory testing, quality control or quality assurance or sulfer shortages of qualified personnel, any of which could
result in our inability to manufacture sufficient quantities to meet clinical timelines for a particular product candidate, to
oblain marketing approval for the product candidate or o commercialive the product candidate. We may compéte with
other companies for access to manufacturing facilities. There are a limited number of manufacturers thal operate under
cGMP repulations and that might be capable of manufaciuring for us.

If the third parties that we contract to manufacture product for our preclinical tests and clinical trials cease to continue to
do so for any reason or iF we elect to change suppliers, we likely would experience delays in advancing these clinical
trials while we identify and qualify replacement supplicrs and we may be unable to abtain replacerment supplicrs on
terms that are favorable to us. In addition, if we are not able to obtain adequate supplics of our product candidates or the
drug substances used to manufacture them, it will be more difficult for us to develop our product candidates and compete
effectively. Our current and antcipated future dependence upon others for the manufaciere of our product candidates
may sdversely affect our future profit margins and our ability 1o develop product candidates and commercialize any
products that receive marketing approval on a timely and competitive basis,

The manufacturing of our monoclonal antibody candidates iv complex and subfect to o muftitude of risks. These
manitfacturing risks conld substantially fncrease wur costs and lif supply of these drig candidates for clinfcal
development, anid commercialization,

The manufacture of our monoclonal antibody candidates requires processing steps that are more complex, than those
required for most small molecule drugs. As a result of the complexities in manufacturing biologics, the cost 1o
manufaciure biologics in general, and our cell product candidates in particular, is generally higher than wraditional small
molecule chemical compounds, and the manufacturing processes are less reliable and are more difficult to reproduce.
Although we are working with third parties 1o develop reproducible and commercially viable manufacturing processes
for our product candidates, doing =o is a difficult and uncertain task, and there are risks associated with scaling to the
level required for advanced clinical trials or commercialization, including, among others, cost overmns, potential
problems with process scale-out, process reproducibility, stability issues, lot consistency, and timely availability of
reagents or raw materials.

24




We may make changes as we continue 1o evolve the manufacturing processes for our product candidates for advanced
clinical tnals and commercialization, and we cannal be sure that even minor changes in these processes will not cause
our product candidates to perform differently and affect the resulis of our ongeing clinical nals, future clinical inals, or
the performance of the product once commercialized, In some circumstances, changes in manufacturing operations,
including to our protocols, processes, matenials or facilities used, may require us to perform additional preclinical or
comparability studies. or 1o collect additional clinical data from patients prior to undertaking additional clinical studies or
filing for regulatory approval for a product candidate. These requirements may lead 1o delays in our clinical development
and commercialization plans for our product candidates, and may increase our development costs substantially,

We may also decide to transfer certain manufacturing process know-how and certain intermediates to other contract
manufaciuring organtzations. Transferring manufactuning testing and processes and know-how s complex and involves
review and incorporation of both decumented and undocumented processes that may have evolved over time. We and
amy CMOs or third parties that we engage for manufactuning our product candidates will need to conduct significant
development work to transfer these processes and manufacture cach of our product candidates for clinical trials and
commercialization. In addition, we may be required to demonstrate the comparability of material generated by any CMO
or third partics that we engage for manufacturing ouwr product candidates with matenal previously produced and used in
testing. The inability to manufacture comparable drug product by us or our CMO could delay the continued development
of our product candidates,

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including
Sfailing to meet deadlines for the completion of such clinical trials,

We do not independenily conduct clinical trials for our product candidates. W rely on thind partics, such as contract
rescarch organizations, clinical data management organizations, medical institutions, drug distnbuters and clinical
investigalors, 1o perform this function. Any ol these third parties may lerminate their engagements with ws at any time. 17
we need o enter into alternative arrangements, it would delay our product development activitics. If these third parties do
not successfully carry out their contractual dutics, meet expected deadlines or conduct our clinical trials in accordance
wilh regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, we will not be able to oblain, or may be delaved in obiaining,
marketing approvals for our product candidates and will not be able to, or may be delaved in our ¢ffons 1o, successfully
commercialize our product candidates. Our product development costs will increase if we experience delays in testing or
oblaining marketing approvals, Our reliance on these third parties for clinical development activities reduces our control
over these activities bul does not relieve us of our responsibilities. For example, we remain responsible for ensuning thar
cach of our clinical trials complics with standards, commonly referred to as Good Clinical Practice, and is conducted in
accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial.

If we are mot able to establish additional collaborations, we may have to alter our development and commercialization
plans.

We may decide w0 collaborate with pharmacewtical and biotechnology companies for the development and poteniial
commercialization of our product candidates. Collaborations are complex and time-consuming 1o negotiste and
document and we face significant competition in seeking appropriste collaborators. We may not be able to negotiate
collaborations on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all. 1T we are unable o do 5o, we may have to curtail the
development of a product candidate. reduce or delay our development program or one or more of our other development
programs, delay our potential commercialization or reduce the scope ofany sales or marketing activitics, o INcrease our
expendimures and undenake development or commercialization activities at our own expense. 11 we elect to fund
development or commercialization activities on our own, we would likely need 10 obain additional capatal, which may
nod be available to us on acceplable terms, or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we may not be able 1o further
develop our product candidates or bring them 1o market and gencrate product revenue,

Even if we complete the necessary clinical trials, the marketing approval process is expensive, fime consuming amd
wncertain, [f we are not able to obtain, or if there are delays in oltaining, required marketing approvals, we will not
be able te commercialize our product candidares, and our ability to generate revenwe will be materially impaired,

Our product candidates and the activities associaled with their development and commercialization, including their
design, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storage. approval, advertising, promotion, sale and
distribution, are subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDXA, Health Canada and by comparable suthorities in other
countrics. Failure to obtain marketing approval for a product candidate will prevent us from commercializing the product
candidate. We have not received approval to market EBO1, EBOS or any other Edesa product candidate from regulatory
awthorities in any jurisdiction.
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‘We have only limited experience in filing and supporiing the applications necessary to obtain marketing approvals for
product candidates and expect to rely on thind-party consultants to assist us in this process. Secuning marketing approval
requires the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to regulatory authoritics for
cach therapeutic indication 1o establish the product candidate’s safety and effectiveness. Securing marketing approval
also requires the submission of mformation about the product manufacturing process to, and mspection of manufactunng
facilities by, the regulatory authoritics, Regulatory suthoritics may determine that EBO1, EB0S or any of our other
product candidates is not eflective, is only moderately effective or has undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities,
safcty profiles or other characteristics that preclude us from obtaining marketing approval or that prevent or limit
commercial use. Regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any
application or may decide that our data are insufficient for approval and require additiopal preclinical studies, clinical
trials or other trials. In addition, varying interpretations of the data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing could
delay, limit or prevent marketing approval of a product candidate. Any marketing approval we ultimately ohtain may be
limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the approved product not commercially
vighle, Il we expenience delays in oblmmng approval or if we fail to oblain approval of our product candidates, the
commercial prospects for our product candidates may be harmed and our ability to generate revenues will be materially
imipaired.

Even if we oftain marketing approval for our product candidates, the terms of approvals and engoing regulation of
our produces may it how we mansfuctoee and marker our produces, and compliance with such reguirentents may
invalve substantinl resowurces, which could marerially impair our ability fo generale revenie,

Even if marketing approval of a product candidate is granied, an approved product and our manufacturer and marketer
are subject 1o ongoing review and extensive regulation, including the possible requirement 1o implement a risk evaluation
and mitigation strategy or o conduct costly post- marketing studies or clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the
sifety or efficacy of the product. We must also comply with requirements concemning advertising and promotion for any
of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Promotional communications with respect to
prescription drugs are subject to a vanety of legal and regulatory restrictions and must be consistent with the informanon
m the produet’s approved labeling. Thus, we will not be able 1o promote any products we develop for indications or uses
for which they are notl approved. In addition, manufacturers of approved products and those manufacturers” facilitics are
required to ensure that quality control and manufactuning precedures conform to oGMP, which include requirements
relating to quality control, quality assurance and documentation. Accordingly, assuming we receive marketing approval
for one or more of our product candidates, we and our contract manuficturers will continue (o expend time, money and
cffort in all arcas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production, product surveillance and quality
conirol. If we are not able to comply with post-approval regulatory requirements, we could have the marketing approvals
for our products withdrawn by regulatory authorities and our ability 10 market any future products could be limited,
which could sdversely afTect our ability 1o achieve or sustain profitability. Thus, the cost of compliance with post-
approval regulations may have a negative effect on our operating results and financial condition.

We may not gualify for or wltimately benefit from varions expedited regulatory review programs ar designations,

1f we believe we meet eligibility requirements, we intend to apply for various regulatory incentives in the United States,
such as breakihrough therapy designation, fast track designation, accelerated approval and prionty review, where
available, that provide for expedited review and’or other benefits, and we may also seck similar designations ¢lsewhere
in the world. Often, regulatory agencies have broad discretion in determining whether or not product candidates qualify
Tor such regulatory incentives and benefits and we cannot guaraniee we would be successful m oblaming beneficial
regulatory designations by FIDIA or other regulatory agencies. Even if approved, expedited designations may not result in
faster development processes, reviews or approvals compared to drugs considered for approval under conventional FDA
procedures. In addition, the FDA may later decide that any of our development programs ne longer meet the conditions
Tor qualification or decide that the ime penod Tor FDA review or approval will not be shortened. 17 we are not able 1o
oblain or maintain such designations for EBOS er other product candidates, it could delay and/or negatively impact our
ability to oblain regulatory approval.

The FDA has broad discretion regarding Emergency Use Authorizations for Covid-19 medical products, and such
aithorizations are only valid during the Covid-19 public health emergency.

While, in most cases, a therapeutic must be approved by FDA before the product may be sold, when o public health
emergenty is declared, subject (o certain conditions, FDA may authorize the emergency use of an unapproved medical
product under an Emergency Use Authorization (EUA). In the event that our Phase 2/3 clinical study of EBOS is
successiul, and if we believe we meet cligibality requirements, we miend o submit an application with the FDA for
EUA, FDXA dacs ot have review deadlines with respect to such submissions and, therefore, the timing of any potential
approval of an EUUA submission would be uncertain. We would not be able to guarantee that the FDA would review our
data in a timely manner, or that the FDA would accept the data when reviewed. The FDA may decide that our data are
insufficient for an EUA and require additional studies and refise to approve our application. In addition, even if granted,
the FDA may revoke an EUA where it is determined that the underlying health emergency no longer exists or warrants
such suthorization. If we arc unsuccessful in obtaining an EUA, or if any granted EUA is revoked after a short period of
time, i could have a malerial adverse effect on our fuiure busingss, linancial condition and operating resulis.
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Use of social media platforms presents mew risks,

‘We believe that our potential patient population is active on social media. Social media practices in the pharmaceutical
and biotechnology industries are evolving, which creates uncertamnty and risk of noncompliance with regulations
applicable 1o our business. For example, patients may use social media platforms 1o comment on the effectiveness of, or
adverse experiences with, a product candidate, which could result in reporting obligations. In addition, there is a sk of
inappropriate disclosure of sensitive information or negative or nacourale posts or comments about us or our product
candidates on any social networking website. In addition, our employecs or third partics with whom we contract. such as
our CROg or CMOs, may knowingly or inadvertently make use of social media in a manner that may give nse 1o
tibility, lead to the loss of trade secrets or other intellectual property or result in public exposure of personal information
of our employees, elinical trial patients, customers and others or information regarding our product candidates or clinical
tnaks. Any of these events could have o material adverse elfect on our business, prospects, operiling resulis and linancial
condition and could adversely affect the price of our commeon shares.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
We are dependent on license relationships with third pariies for our key drug development programs,

In 2006, we entered o an exclusive license agreement with Yiszum Research Development Company of the Hebrew
University of Jerusalem to obtain exclusive rights to cortam know-how, patents and data relating to a pharmaceutical
product, We are using the exclusive rights to develop the product for therapeutic, prophylactic and diagnostic uses in
topical dermal applications and anorecial applications, including for the development of EBD] 1o ireat ACD and ERO2 to
treat HD. In 2021, we also entered into a license agreement with the inventor of the same pharmaceutical product 1o
acquire global rights for all fickds of use beyond those named under the 2016 license agreement with Yissum, 15 wie
default or fail 1o perform any of the terms, covenants, provisions or our obligations under the License Agreement,
Yissum has the option to terminate the License Agreement, subject to advance notice 1o cure such defaull. Any
termination of this license agreement would have a materially adverse impact on our business and resulis from

operations,

In April 2020, we entered into an exclusive hicense agreement with Novlimmune SA 1o obain exclusive nghts throughout
the world to certain know-how, patents and data relating 1o the monoclonal antibodies targeting TLR4 and CXCLI0. We
are using these rights to develop EBOS as a potential treatment for ARDS and other disease indications, 17 we default or
fanl vo perform any of the terms, covenants, provisions or our obligations under the License Agreement, including
milestonse payments, Novimmune has the option to terminate the License Agreement, subject to advance notice to cure
such defaull. Any termination of this license agreement would have a materally adverse impact on our business and
resulis from operations,

If we are unable to obiain and mainfain patent profection for our licensed technology and prodiucts, or if the scope of
the patent protection is nol sufficiently broad, our competivors conld develop and commercialize rechnology and
products similar or identical to owrs, and our ability to sucoessfully commercialize our loensed rechnology and
products may be adversely affected.

Our success will partially depend on our ability to obiain and maintain patent protection in the United States and other
countrics with respect to our proprictary technology and products. We intend 1o protect our proprictary position by filing
patent applications in the United States, in Europe and in certain additional Jurisdictions related to our novel technologics
and product candidates that are important to our business, This process is cxpensive and time-consuming, and we may
no be able w file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a imely manner.
It is also poszible that we will fail 1o identify patentable aspects of our research and development output belore il is too
late to obtain patent protection. Morcover, if we license wechnology or product candidates from third pantics in the future,
these license agreements may not permil us to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or to
maintain or enforce the patents. covering the licensed technology or product candidates.

The patent position of biotechnelogy and pharmaceutical companics generally is highly uncertain, involves complex
legal and factual questions and has been the subject of much linigation. As o result, the issuance, scope, vahidity,
enforceability and commercial value of any patents issued 1o us will likely be highly uncertain. Patent applications that
we file may not result in patents being issued which protect our technology or products, in whaole or in pan, or which
effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products. Changes in either the patent
laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States and other countrics may also diminish the value of patents
issued to us, narrow the scope of our patent protection or make enforcement more difficult or uncenain,




We may become involved in lowswits or other mﬁml‘yforrd‘ﬂg: fo profect or enforce onr patents or offier
intellectual property. which could be expensive, ime ¢ g and fally wnsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents, trademarks, copyrights or other mielleciual property. To counter infringement or
unauthorized use, we may be required o file claims, which can be expensive and lime consuming to prosecute. Any
claims we assert against perceived miringers could provoke these parties 1o assert counterclaims against us alleging that
we infringe their intellectual property or that our patent and other intellectual property nghts are imvalid or
unenforceable. including for antitrust reasons. As a result, in a patent infringement procecding. a court or administrative
body may decide that a patent of ours is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, or may construe the patent’s claims
narrowly and so refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not
cover the competiter technology in question. Even if we arc successful in a patent infringement action, the unsuccessful
party may subsequently raise antitrust issues and bring a follow-on action thereon. Anftilrus! 1ssucs may also provide a
bar to scitlement or constrain the permissible settlement terms.

Third parties may initiate legal procecdings afleging that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, the
wuteome of which would be uncertain and could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business,

Our commercial success depends upon our ability and the ability of our collaborators to develop, manufacture, market
and sell our product candidates and wse our proprietary technologies without infringing the intellectual property and other
proprictary rights of third partics. There is considerable intellectual property liigation in the botechnology and
pharmaceutical industries, and we may become party to, or threatened with, future adversarial proceedings or litigation
regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our products and technology, The nsks of being involved in such
litigation and office proceedings may also increase as our product candidates approach commercialization, and as our
busincss gains greater visibility operating as a publicly traded company in the United Statcs, Third partics may assert
infringement claims against us based on existing or future intellectual property rights and 1o restrict our lreedom to
operate. Third parties may also seck injunctive reliel against us, wherehy they would attempt o prevent us from
practicing our technologies altogether pending outcome of any litigation against us. We may not be aware of all such
intellectual property rights poteatially relating 1o our product candidates prior to their assertion against us. [f we ane
Found 1o infrings a third pary's intelleciual property rights, we could incur substantial monctary damages. A finding of
ifringement could also prevent us from commercializing our product candidates. lose market exclusivity, require
substantial license payments, of force us 10 cease some of our huginess aperations, which could materially harm our
business,

Tmiellecrnal property litigation could couse us ro spend substantial resources and could distract owr persannel from
their mormal responsibilities.

Even if resolved in our favor, lingation or other legal proceedings relating to ntellectual property claims may cause us to
ncur significant expenses and likely would distract our techmical and management personnel from their normal
responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the resulis of heanings, motions or other interim
proceedings or developments that could have a substaznnal adverse effect on the price of our securities. Such litigation or
proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available for development, sales,
marketing or distribution activities, We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately conduct such
litigation or proceedings. Some of our competilors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more
effectively than we cun because of their greater financial resources. Accordingly, costs and lost management time, as
well as unceriaintics resulting from the mitiation and contimuation of patent litigation or ather procecdings, could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the marketplace,

If we are unable to protect tie confidentiality of our trade secrets, onr business and competitive position would be
harmed.

We partially rely on trade secrets and know-how, including unpatented know-how, technology and other proprictary and
confidential information, 10 maintain our petitive position, We seck 1o protect these trade secrets, in part, by entering
into nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements with partics wheo have access to them. However, we cannol guarantec
that we have executed these agreements with each party that may have or have had access to our trade secrets or that the
agreemenis we have executed will provide adequate protection. Any party wilth whom we have executed such an
agreement may breach that agreement and disclose our propnetary of confidential information, including our rade
secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedics for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally
disclozed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable.
In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. [f any
of our trade secrets were o be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competiter, we would have no night to
prevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, from uging that technology or information to compete with us. If
any of our trade secrets, particularly unpatented know-how, were to be ohlained or independently developed by a
competilor, our competitive position would be harmed.,
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Risks Related to Owning Our Secarities
The price of our common shares may confinue fo be volatife

Market prices for securities of early-stage pharmaceuncal, biotechnology and other life sciences companies have
histarically been particularly volatile, and the market price of our common shares has beon subject to significant
Muctuations. This volatility can be exacerbated by fow trading volume. Some of the factors that may cause the market
price of our shares to Nuctuate include:

#  zales or potential sales of substantial amounts of our common shares;

*  announcemcnts about us or our competitors, including funding announcements, corporate or business

updates, updates on manufactuning of our producis, clinical mal results, regulatory approvals or new product

introduciions;

developments conceming our product manufacturers;

litigation and other developments relating to our licensed patents or other proprietary rights or those of our

compelitors;

governmential regulation and legislation:

change in secuniics analysis” estimates of our performance, or failure 1o meet analysis” expeciations;

the 1erms and timing of any future collaborative, licensing or other amangements that we may establish;

our ability to raise additional capatal to carry through with our development plans and current and future

operalions;

«  the viming of achievement of, or failure o achieve, our manufactuning, pre-clinical, clinical, regulaory and
other milestones, such as the commencement of clinical development, the completion of a clinical trial or the
receipt of regulalory approval;

#  actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our product candidates;

»  uncontemplated problems in the supply of the raw matenials used w produce our product candidates;

. intreductions or announcements of technological innovations or new products candidates by us, our potential
future collaborators, of our competitors, and the timing of these introductions or announcements;

*  market conditions for equity investments in general, or the biotechnology or pharmaceutical industries in

particular;

actual or anticipated Muctuations in owr resulls of operations;

hedging or arbitrage trading activity that may develop regarding our common shares;

regional or worldwide recession:

sales of our commuon shares by our executive officers, directors and significant shareholders;

changes in accounting principles; and

the loss of any of our key scientific or management personnel.

- .

R

Maoreaver, the stock markets in general have expenenced substantial volatility that has often been unrelated to the
opcrating performance of individual companies, These broad market fluctuations may also adversely affeet the trading
price of our common shares. In the past, following persods of volatility in the market price of a company’s sccuritics,
shareholders have often institated class action securtties linganon. Such hugation, if instituted, could result in substantial
costs and diversion of management attention and resources, which could sigmficantly harm our profitability and
reputation,

If we fail to meet all applicable Nasdag Capital Market requirements and Nasdag determines to delist our common
shares, the delisting cowld adversely affect the market Hguidity of eur commaon shares and the market price of our
commaon shares could decrease amd owur ability to access the capital markets conld be negatively impacted,

Our common shares are lisicd on The Nasdag Capital Market, There can be no assurance that we will be able to continue
to maintain compliance with the Masdaq continged listing requirements, and if' we are unable 10 maintain compliance
with the continued listing requiretnents, inclhuding the 31,00 Minimum Bud Price Requirement set forth in Nasdag Listing
Rule $550(a)i 2}, our sccuritics may be delisted from Nasdag, which could reduce the liquidity of our common shares
materially and result in a comresponding material reduction in the price of our common shares. In addition. delisting could
harm our ability to raize capital through alternative financing sources on terms acceptable (o us, or at all, and may result
in the potential loss of confidence by investors, emplovees, suppliers and business development opportunitics. Such a
delisting likely would impair your ability to sell or purchase our common shares when you wish 1o do so. Further, il we
were (0 be delisted from Nasdag, our common shares may no longer be recognized as a “covered security” and we would
be subject 1o regulation in each state in which we offer our securities. Thus, delisting from Nasdag could adversely aflect
our ability to mise additional financing through the public or private sale of cquity securitics, would significantly impact
the ability of investors to trade our securities and would negatively impact the value and liquidity of our common shares.
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Ruaixing addisional capital say cause dilutfon fo our investors, resteict our aperations or require us fo relinguish
rights to owr technologies or product candidates

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance oor cash needs through a
combination of equity offerings, licensing, collaboration or similar arrangements, grants and debt linancings. We do not
have any committed external source of funds. To the extent that the we raise additional capital through the sale of equty
or convertible debt securities, vour ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms of these securitics may include
liquidation or sther preferences that adversely affect vour rights as a holder of our comman shares. Debt financing, if
available, may involve agreements that include covenants linting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such
as mcurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends or other distributions. [f we raise
additional funds through licensing. collaboration or similar arrangements, we may have o relinguish valuable rights to
our technologies, lulure revenue streams, research and development programs or product candidates or 1o grant licenses
on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raisc additional funds through equity or debt financings or
other arrangements when needed, we may be required 1o delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or
future commencialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer
to develop and market ourselves,

We do nor currently intend to pay dividends on our common shares in the foreseeable future, and conseguently, any
gains froom an investment in our commaon shares will likely depend on appreciation in the price of vir common
shares,

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our commeon shares and do not anticipale paying any cash dividends 1o
holders of our common shares in the foresecable future. Consequently, investors must rely on sales of their common
shares and warrants after price appreciation, which may never eccur, as the only way to realize any future gains an their
investments, There is no guarantee that our commaon shares will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which
the sharcholders have purchased their shares,

A sale of a substantial number of our common shares in the public market could cause the market price of our
common shares to drop significantly, even if our business ix doing well,

The price of our common shares could decline as a result of sales of a large number of our common shares or the
perception that these gales could oceur. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more
difficule for us 10 sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.

In addition, in the future, we may issug additional common shares, warrants or other equity or debt sccurities convertible
into common shares in connection with a financing, acquisition, litigation settlement, employee arrangements of
otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial dilution to our existing sharcholders and could cause the price of
our commdan shares o decline.

I eqieity research analysis do ot publish research or reporis aboui our business or i they issue unfavorable
commentary or downgrade our common shares, the price of our common shares could decline.

The trading market for our common shares relies in part on the rescarch and reports that equity research analvsts publish
about us and our business. We do not control these analysts. The price of our commion shares could decline if one or
more equity analysts downgrade our common shares or il‘analysls issue other unfavorable COmmentary or cease
publishing reports about us or our business.

Ouwr Articles allow for our board of directors to create new series of preferred shares without further approval by
the shareholders, which could adversely affect the rights of the holders of our commeon shares.

As previously approved by our sharcholders, our board of directors has the suthority to authorine up to an unlimited
number of a new series of our preferred sharcs and (o fix and determine the special rights and restrictions of that

senics without further sharcholder approval, subject to the terms sct out in the Articles and unbess otherwise required by
the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). As a result, our board of directors could authorize the creation of a
series of our preferred shares that would grant to holders of the preferred shares a right to our assets upon liquidation
before a distribution to the holders of our common shares. In addition, our board of directors could authorize the creation
of a new series of our preferred shares that is convertible into our common shares, which could result in dilution to
existing sharcholders.
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Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Seciion 404 of the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 conld have a marerial adverse effect on our share price.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and regulations of the SEC require an annual
management asscssment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. As a smaller reporting
company as defined in Rule | 2b-2 under the Secunitics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, we are currently exempt
from the auditor attestation requirement of Section 404(b). I we lose this eligibility, we will incur increased personnel
and audit fees in ¢ tion with the additional audit requirements, 10 we fail to maintain the adequacy of our intemal
control over financial reporting, we may not be able to ensure that we can conclude on an ongoing basis that we have
cflfective intermal control over financial reporting in accordance with Scction 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
the relaied rules and regulations of the SEC, I we cannod in the future favorably assess the effectivencss of our iniemnal
control over financial reporting, investor confidence in the reliability of our financial reports may be adversely affected,
which could have a material adverse effect on our share price.,

The ownership of our common shares is highly concenirated, which may prevent you and other shareholders from
influencing significant corporate decisions and may resalt in conflices of interest that conld cause our common shares
price o decline.

The ownership of our common shares is highly concentrated among insiders and affiliates. Accordingly, these
sharcholders will have substantial influence over the cutcome of corporale actions requiring sharchelder approval,
including the clection of dircclors, any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the company”s asscts or
any other sigmificant corporate transaction. These sharcholders may also delay or prevent a change of contral of the
company, even if such a change of control would benefit the other shareholders of the company. The significant
concentration of share ownership may adversely affect the trading price of our common shares due to investors”
perception that conflicts of interest may exist or anse.

We may be deemed a passive foreign investment company, and av a result, US. shareholders may be subject to special
taxation rules that restrict capital gains treatment, wnless the shareholders make a timely tax election to freaf the
company as a gualificd efecting fund,

A speeial setof ULS, federal income tax rules applies 1o a foreign corporation that is deemed a passive foreign investment
company {PFIC) for U S, federal income tax purposcs, Based on our audited financial statements, income tax returns,
and relevant market and sharcholder data, we believe that we likely will not be classified as a PFIC in the September 30,
2022 taxable vear, There can be no assurance, however, that we will not be considered 10 be a PFIC for any particular
year in the fulure becasse PFIC status is faciual in nature, depends upen factors not wholly within our control, generally
cannot be determined until the elose of the axable yvear in question, and is determined annually. If we are deemed to be a
PFIC during the current or any future taxable year, U_S. sharcholders would be subject to special taxation rules related to
gain on sale or disposition of our shares and excess distributions unless they make a timely election to trcat our shares as
o qualified electing fund (QEF clection). A QFF clection cannot be made unbess we provide ULS. sharcholders the
miormation and computations needed o report income and gains pursuant 1o a QEF election. Without a QFEF clection,
U5 sharcholders may not be able to use capital gains tax trestment and may be subject 1o potentially adverse tax
consequences. Given the complexities of the PFIC and QFEF election rules, U_S. sharcholders may need to incur the time
and expense of consulting a tax adviser about these rules.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None.

Item 2. PROPERTIES.

We currently lease approximately 2,800 square feet of ofTice space in Markham, Omtario, from a related company under
o bease that expires in December 2022, with an option to renew for another two-year term, We anticipate extending the
lease through December 2024,

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

From time 0 time, we may be involved in legal proceedings, claims and litigation ansing in the ordinary course of
busincss, mcluding contract disputes, employment matiers and inteliectual property disputes. We are not curremtly a party
to any material legal proceedings or claims outside the ordinary course of business, Regardless of outcome, litigation can
have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other
factors.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY IMSCLOSURES.

Mot applicable.
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PART 11

liem 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND [SSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market Information
Oner commion shares trade on The Nasdag Capital Market in the United States under the symbal "EDSA”,
Holders

As of December 14, 2022, we had 19,353,351 common shares outstanding, with 44 sharcholders of record. The number
of record shareholders was determined from the records of our stock transfer agent and does not reflect persons or
entitics that hold their shares in nominee or “strect” name through various brokerage firms.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Part 111, ltem 12 “Security (wnership of Certain Beneficial Ovwners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters” of this report.

Dividends

We have not declared any dividends on our commen shares sinee our incorporation and do not anticipate that we wall do
0 in the foresecable future. Our present policy is to retain future camings, iFany, for use in our operations and the
expansion of ur business

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
None.

Purchase of Equity Securities by the lssuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Naone.

Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences Applicable to Holders in the United States

The following summary of the material Canadian federal income tax consequences is stated in general terms and is not
intended 1o be legal or tax advice o any particular sharcholder, Management urges holders to consult their own fax
advisor with respect 1o the income lax consequences applicable to them based on their own panicular circumstances.

This summary is applicable only to holders who are resident in the United States for income tax purpeses, have never
been resident in Canada for income tax purposes, deal at arm's length with the company, hold their Common Shares as
capital property and who will not use or hold the Common Shares in carrying on business in Canada. This summary docs
nod discuss any non-Canadian income or other lax conscquences of acquiring, holding or disposing of Common Shares.

This sunumary is based upon the provisions of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the regulanons thereunder (collecuvely,
the Tax Actor [TA) and the Canada-United States Tax Convention ( 1980) as amended (the Tax Convention) at the date
of this Annual Repont on Form 10-K and the current administrative practices of the Canada Revenue Agency. This
summary does nol taike inte account provincial income tax consequences. The commenits in this summary that are based
on the Tax Convention are applicable to U.S. Holders only if they qualify for henefils under the Tax Convention.

Dividends

A Haolder will be subject 1o Canadian withholding tax {Part X111 Tax) equal 1o 25%, or such lower rates as may be
available under an applicable tax treaty, of the gross amount of any dividend paid or credited or deemed to be paid or
credited w the Holder on the Common Shares. For example, ender the Tax Convention, where dividends on the Common
Shares are considered to be paid to a Holder that is the beneficial owner of the dividends and 15 a resident of the United
States for the purposes of, and is entitled 1o all the benefits of, the Tax Convention, the applicable rate of Canadian
withholding tax is generally reduced to 1 5%. The company will be required to withhold the applicable amount of Part
XII Tax from cach dividend so paid and remit the withheld amount direetly to the Receiver General for Canada for the
account of the Holder. We have not declared any dividends on our common shares since our incorporation and do not
anticipate that we will do 50 in the foresecable fumure.
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Disposition of Comman Shares

A Holder who is a resident of the United States and realizes a capital gain on & disposition of Commaon Shares will
generally be exempt from Canadian income tax on that capital gain, unless the shares are taxable Canadian property.

Provided the Common Shares are listed on a “designated stock exchange” (as defined in the Tax Act) (which currently
includes the Masdaq Capital Market) at the time of disposition, the Common Shares will generally not constitute taxable
Canadian property of a Holder st that time, unless any of the following conditions are met: (a) at the time of disposition
more than $0% of the fair market value of the Common Shares is denived directly or indireetly from real propemy
situated in Canada, which generally inciudes certain Canadian natural resource propertics: (b) the Commaon Shares
formeed part of the business property of o permanent establishment that the Holder has or had in Canada within the 12
months preceding disposition; or (c) the Holder 15 an individual who (1) was a resident of Canada at any time within the
ten vears immediately preceding the disposition, and for a total of 120 months during any period of 20 consecutive veurs,
preceding the disposition, (i) owned the Commaon Shares when the individual ceased o be resident in Canada, and (1ii)
the Common Shares were not subject o a deemed disposition on the Holder's departure from Canada. Nowwithstanding
the foregoing. a Common Share may otherwise be deemed to be taxable Canadian property to a Holder for purposes of
the Tax Act in panticular circumstances.

Tncluston in Tavable Income

A Holder whe 12 subject o Canadian income tax in respect of a capital gain realized on a dispasition of Common Shares
must include one hall of the capital gain (“1axable capital gain™) in computing the Holder's taxable income camed in
Canada, The Holder may, subjcct te contain limitations, deduct onc half of any capital loss (“allowablc capital loss™)
ansing on a disposition of taxable Canadian property from taxable capital gains realized i the year of disposition in
respect of taxable Canadian property and, 1o the extent nit 30 deductible, from such taxable capital gams of any of the
three preceding years or any subsequent year, Subject to certamn exceplions, a non-resident person who disposes of
taxable Canadian property must notify the Canada Revenue Agency either before or after the disposition (within ten days
of the disposition),

Item 6. RESERVED.

Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS.

Thas discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertaimtics that could cause actual resulls or
events to dilTer materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements as a result of many
important factors, including those set forth in Part | of this Annual Report on Form |0-K under the caption “Risk
Factors.” Please see “Forward-Looking Statements and Ciber Matters™ in Part | above. We do not undertake any
obligation to update forward- looking statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of this
Annual Report.

Operating and Financial Review and Prospects
Overview

COhr financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally aceepled in the United
States of America (GAAP) and include the accounts of the Company and our wholly owned subsidianies, Edesa Biotech
Research, Inc. and Edesa Biotech USA, Inc.

Our operations have been funded primarily through issuances of common shares, exercises of common share purchase
warrants, convertible preferred shares, convenible loans, govemment grants and tax incentives, We have devoted
substantially all of our efforts to rescarch and development, including climical trials, and have not completed the
development of any of our drug candidates. We believe our cash and cash equivalents on hand, including net proceeds
from equity offerning completed subsequent to the end of the fizcal vear, and reimbursements of eligible research and
development expenses under our contribution agreement with the Canadian government are sufficient to support the
Company's opcrations for at least the next 12 months.

Az a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company. we expect (o continue 1o incur significant expenses and operating losses
for the foresecable future as we continue the development of, and seck marketing approvals for our product candidates,
prepare for and begin the commercialization of any approved products, and add infrastructure and personnel 1o support
our product development efforts and operations as a public company in the United States and Canada. To fund
opcrations. we may sock addittonal financing through the sale of equity. government grants. debt financings or other
capital sources, including potential future licensing. collaboration or similar arrangements with third partics or other
strafegic lransactions,
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Results of Operations
Fiscal Yoar Ended Seprember 36, 2022 Compared to the Fiscol Year Ended Seprember 30, 2024

O total operating expenses decreased by $5.31 mullion to 31837 milhon for the year ended September 30, 2022
compared to 523,68 million for the prior year:

. Rescarch and development expenses decrcased by 54,61 million to $13.34 million for the year ended
September 30, 2022 compared to $1795 million for the prior year primanly dug to decreased milestone
payments, external research expenses related to our clinical studies and investigational drg product
manufaciuring expenses, which were partully offsel by increased personnel expenses.

»  General and administrative expenses decreased by $0.69 million to $5.04 million for the year ended
September 30, 2022 compared to $5.73 million for the prior year primarily due to a decrease in noncash
share-based compensation, which was partially offsct by increased public company expenses.

Total other income decreased by $9.52 million to $0.52 million for the vear ended September 30, 2022 compared 1o
510,34 million for the prior year primanily duc 1o a decrcasc in grant income associated with the completion of clinical
study activities under our federal reimbursement grant with the Canadian governments Strategic Innovation Fund.

For the year ended September 30, 2022, our net loss was $17.55 million, or $1.05 per common share, compared to a not
loss ol $13.34 million, or $1.10 per commen share, for the year ended Seplember 30, 2021.

Capital Expenditures

Oner capital expenditures primanly consist of comparter and office equipment. There were no significant capital
cxpenditures for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021,

Liguidity and Capital Resources

As a clinical-stage company we have not generated significant revenue, and we expect to incur operating losses as we
continue our cllorts to acquire, develop, seek regulatory approval for and commercialize product candidates and cxecute
on our strategic imitatives. Our operations have historically been funded through 1ssuances of commion shares, exercises
of common share purchase warrants, conventible preferred shares, convertible loans, govemment grants and tax
incentives. For the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, we reported net losses of $17.55 million and 313,34
mallion, respectively,

In March 2022, we completed a registered direct offering of 1,540,000 common shares, no par value, and pre-funded
warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,199,727 common sharcs. In a concurrent private placement, we issued
commaon share purchase warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 2,739,727 common shares. After deducting the
placement agent fees and offening expenses, net proceeds to the Company were approximately $9.01 million.

In Movember 2021, we entered into an equity distribution agreement with RBC Capital Markets, LLC (RBOCCM), as
sales agent, which was subsequenily terminated in March 2022, Pursuant to the terms of the agreement. as amended, the
Company could offer and sell, from time 1o time, common shares through an at-the.market offering program for up 0
5154 million in gross cash proceeds, During the term of the agreement, we sold a todal of 626,884 commeon shares, After
deducting comnussions and direct costs, net proceeds totaled approximately $2.62 million.

Under our contribution agreement with the Canadian government's Strategic Innovation Fund (SIF), we are eligible to
receive cash reimbursements up o C314.05 million (approximately 511 million USD) in the ageregate for certain
research and development expenses related to our EBOS clinical development program, For the years ended Scptember
30, 2022 and 2021, we recorded grant income of 50,78 million and $10.34 million respectively,

At Seprember 30, 2022, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $7.04% million, working capital of $6.95 million,
sharcholders” equity of 59,39 million and an sccumulated deficit of 544,04 million.

Subsequent to the fiscal vear end, on Movember 2, 2022, we completed a privaie placement of units consisting of
1.691,337 common shares, | 2-month warrants to purchase up o an aggregate of 1,345,663 common shares and 3-year
warrants o purchase up o an aggregaie of 1,345,665 common shares. The gross proceeds from this offering are
approximately $3.0 million, before offering expenscs,
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‘We plan to finance company operations over the course of the next twelve months with cash and cash equivalents on
hand, including net proceeds from equity offering completed subsequent to the end of the fiscal year, and
reimbursements of eligible research and development expenses under our contribution agreement with the Canadian
govermment. Manascmcnl has Il:xlbﬁ:l:r 1o adjust this imcline by making changes to planncd ﬂpendlwnm related 1o,
among other factors, the size and timing of clinical trial expenditures and facturing campaigns, staffing levels, and
the acquisition or in-licensing of new product candidates. To help fund our operations and meet our obligations in the
future, we plan to seck additional financing through the sale of equity, government grants, debt linancings or other
capital sources, including potential future licensing. collaboration or similar arrangements with third parties or other
strategic transactions, There is po assurance that adegquate funding will be available 1o us or, il available, that such
funding will be available on terms that we or our shareholders view as favorable. Market volatility, inflation, interest
rates, government palicies and concerns related 1o the war in Ukraine and the Covid-19 pandemic may have a significant
imipact on the availability of funding sources and the terms at which any funding may be available.

Research and Development

Oner primiary business is the development of innovative therapeutics for inflammatory and immune-related discases with
clear unmet medical needs, We focus our resources on rescarch and development activities, incleding the conduct of
clinical studics and product development, and expense such costs as they are incurred, Our research and development
cxpenscs have prmanly consisted of employec-related expenses, including salanics, benefits, taxes, travel. and share-
based compensation expense for personnel in research and development functions; expenses related o process
development and production of product candidates paid 1o conlract manufacturing organizations. including the cost of
acquinng, du".{.'lapmg. and nunuﬁwlunng rescarch matenal; costs assoviated with clinical activinies, including expenses
for ¢ r : and elinical trials and activities related to regulatory filings for our product
candidates, :mludlng rrguhmrj consultanls,

Research and development expenses, which have historically varied based on the level of activity in our clinical
programs, are significamly influenced by study initiation expenses and patient recruitment rates, and as a result are
expected 1o continue to fluctuate, sometimes substantially. Our research and development costs were §13.34 million and
S17.95 mullion for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The decrease was due primarily o
decreased milestone payments, extemal rescarch expenses related 10 our ongoing clinical studics and investigational drug
product manufacturing expenses, which were partially offset by increased personncl expenses,

T Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or faure material
effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, resulls of operations, liguidity,
capital expenditures, or capital resources,

Foreign Exchange Risk

Our exposure 1o foreign exchange nsk i prmarly related 1o Mucations between the Canadian dollar and the U S,
dollar, We have balances in Canadian dollars which are subject to forcign currency Muctuations relating to the impact of
translating to US. dollars for financial statements presentation. We also periodically exchange U.S, dollars for Canadian
dollars since most operating expenses are incumed in Canadian dollars. The fluctuation of the U S dollar in relation 1o
the Canadian dollar will have an impact upon our profitability and may also affect the value of our assets and the xmount
of sharcholders” equity. We have not entered into any agreements or purchased any instruments 1o hedge possible
currency risks. At September 30, 2022, we had assets denominated in Canadion dollars of approximately C37, 1 million
and the U5, dollar exchange rale as ai this date was equal 10 1.3742 Capadian dollars. Based on the exposure al
September 30, 2022, a 10% annual change in the Canadian/U.5, exchange rate would impact our net loss and other
comprehensive loss by $0.52 million.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We are petentially subject 1o financial instrument concentrafion of credit risk through our cash and cash equivalents, and
accounts and other receivable. We place our cash and cash equivalents in money market mutual funds of U5,
govemment securities or financial instinutions believed to be credit wonthy and perform periodic evaluations of their
relative eredit standing.

Accounts and other receivable include Harmonized Sales Tax (HST) refunds receivable from the Canada Revenue
Agency and reimbursements receivable from the Canadian government's Strategic Innovation Fund (SIF), We asscss the
collectability of our accounts receivable through a review of our current aging and payment terms, as well as an analysis
of our historical collection rate, general economic conditions and credit status of the government agencies. As of
Seplember 30, 2022 and 2021, all outstanding accounts and other receivable were deemed 1o be fully collectible, and
therefore, no allowance for doubtful accounts was recorded.
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Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated 0 ial ststements, which are indexed under Ttem 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, have been
prepared m accordance with accounting principles generally accepied mn the United States, which require thai the
management make certain assumplions and estimates and, in connection therewith, adopt certain accounting policies,
Ouer saignificant accounting policies are set forth in Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. OF those
policies, we believie that the policics discussed below may involve a higher degree of judgment or may otherwise be
more relevant to our financial condition and results of operations.

Accounts and ather receivable

Accounts and other receivable include Harmonized Sales Tax (HST) refunds receivable and reimbursements receivable
from the Canadian government’s Strategic Innovation Fund (SIF). As of September 30, 2022, all outstanding acoounts,
grants and HET refunds recervable were deemed to be fully collectible, and therefore, no allowance for doubiful accounts
was recorded.

Tntangible assets

Intangible assets represent the exclusive world-wide nghts to know-how, patents and data relating 1o certain monoclonal
antibodics (the Constructs), including sublicensing rights, acquired by cntering into a license agreement with a
pharmaceutical development company. Unless carlier terminated, the term of the license agreement will remain in effect
for 25 years [rom the date of first commercial gale of licensed products containing the Constructs, Subsequently, the
license agreement will atomatically renew for five-year periods unless cither panty terminates the agreement in
accordance with its terms. We recognize intangible asscts at their historical cost, amortized on a straight-line basis over
their expected useful lives, which is 25 vears, and subject to impairment review at the end of each reporting peniod.

Right-of-Use assety

We recognize operating lease nghl-of-use (ROU) assets and operating lease liabilities on the balance sheet for operating
leases with terms longer than 12 months. We follow the ongoing practical expedient not to recognioe operating lease
right-of-use assets and operating lease labilities for short-term leases, The ROU assets are initially measured an cost and
amortized using the straight-line method through the ¢nd of the lease term. The lease labilities are initially measured at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using our incremental
borrowing rate,

Share-based compensation

W measure the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference (o the fair value of the equily instrumenis at the date al
which they are granted if the fair value of the goods or services received by the Company cannot be reliably estimated.

We grant options to buy common shares of the Company to our directors, officers, emplovees and consultants, and grant
other equity-based instruments such as warrants 1o non- emplovees. The fair value of share-based compensation is
measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option valuation model and is recogmized over the vesting period
for employees or the service period for non-employees, net of forfeitures as they oceur. The provisions of our share-
hased mmpcns.l.lion pMans do mot require the Company 1o scitle any oplions by translerring cash or other assets, and
therefore we classify the awards as equity. The Black-Scholes option valuation model requires the input of subjective
assumptions, including price volatility of the underlving common shares, nsk-free imerest rate, dividend yiekd, and
cxpected life of the option.

Translation ef foreign currency transactions

Owr reporting currency is the ULS. dollar, The financial statements of our wholly owned Canadian subsidiary is measured
using the Canadian dollar as the functional currency, Asscts and liabilitics of the Canadian operation have been translated
m year-end exchange rates and related revenue and expenses have been translated an average exchange rates for the year.
Accumulated gains and losses resulting from the translation of the financial siatements of the Canadian operation are
included as pan of accumulated other comprehensive loss, a separate component of shareholders’ equity,

For other transactions denonminated in currencies other than our functional currency, the monetary assets and liabilitics
are translated at the year-cnd rates. Revenue and expenses are translated at rates of exchange prevailing on the
transaction dates. Non-monctary balance sheet and related income statement accounts are remeasured into LS. dollar
using historical exchange rates. All of the exchange gains or losses resulting from these other transactions are recognized
in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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Recent Accounting Proncuncements

Recen! accounling pronouncements are contained m Note 3 to the financial statements, which are indexed under Item 15
of this Annual Report on Form 10-k.

Item TA, QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE MSCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK,

We are a smaller reporting company and are not required o provide disclosure under this item,

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The financial staternents and related financial information required to be filed hereunder are indexed under liem 15 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

ltem 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

Mot applicable.
Item 9A, CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management is responsible for ¢stablishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures to provide
reasonable assurance that material information related 1o our Company, incheding our consolidated subsidiarics, is made
known to sentor management, including our Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, by others within
those entities an a timely basis so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure,

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, mcluding our
Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer, of the effectivencss of our diselosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules | 3a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) under the Secunities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended)
as of September 30, 2022, Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure
controls and procedures as of September 30, 2022, were effective,

Management®s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management i responsible for designing, establishing and maintaining a system ol internal controls over linancial
reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(11) to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information
prepared by us for exteral purposes is reliable and has been recorded, processed and reported in an accurate and timely
manner in accordance with accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United States. The Board of Directors is
respongible for ensuring that management fulfills itz responsibilities. The Audit Committee fulfills its role of ensuring the
integrity of the reporied information through its review of the interim and annual financial statements. Management
reviewed the resules of their assessment with our Audit Committee.

Manragement has used the criteria issued by the Commitice of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(CO30) in “Imernal Control « Integrated Framework (20135 to evaluate the effectiveness of our intermal control over
financial reporting. Management has assessed the effectivencss of our internal control over financial reporting and
congluded that such intemal control over Minancial reporting was effective as of September 30, 2022,

Attestation Report of Our Registered Public Accounting Firm
This Annual Report docs not include an attestation report from our independent registcred public accounting firm, We
are a “smaller reporting company™ as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, and are subject to reduced public

company reporling requirements. We are nol required 1o have the effectivencss of our intemal control over financial
reporting audited by our external auditors,
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Limiiations on the Effecti of Contrals

Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Oficer, does not expect thal our disclosure
conirols or our internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no maiter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the sbjectives of the control system are met, Further,
the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control izsucs and instances of fraud, if any, within our Company have been detected.
These inherent imitations inchude the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can
occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the ndividual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of
controls is also based, in part, upon certain assumplions about the likelibood of future events, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions: over fime, control
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the palicies or procedures
may deteriorate, Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-clTective control system, misstatements dug to crror or
fraud may occur and not be detected.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that eccurred during the year ended September 30,
2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial

repariing.
Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
Mot applicable.
Item 9C. ISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.
Mot applicable.
PART I
[tem 10, DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
Directors

Our directors and their ages as of the date of this ﬁl-ing are sl forth below.

Name Age  Positionis) Held Director Since
Jennifer Chao (IM2N3)...ccoo.. 52 Director March 28, 2022
Lorin Johnson, Py (2) . . 70 Director June 7, 2019
Scan MacDonald (1X3).......... 46 Chairman of the Board of Dircctors June 7, 2009
Pardeep Mijhawan, MD ... 52 Director, Chiel Exccutive OfTicer and Corporate Seerctary June 7, 2019
Frank Oakes (3} .. . 72 Dhirector April 9, 2010
Paul Pay (2} ..c..... s BB Diroctor June 7, 2009
Carlo Sisilli. CPA, CMA (1), 66 Director June 7, 2012

(1) Member of Audit Commitee,

(2} Member of Compensation Commmittee.

{3) Member of Nominating and Corporate Governance Commities.

There are no family relationships between any of our dirccions or exccutive efficers,

Biographics and Qualifications

The biographics of our directors and centain information regarding cach director’s experience, attributes, skills and/or
qualifications that led to the conclusion that the director should be serving as a director of our Company are as follows:
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Jennifer M. Chao has over 25 years of expenience in the biotech and life scicnces industries fecused primarily on
finance and corporate strategy. She s Managing Partner ol CoreStrategics Management, LLC, a company she founded in
2008, She currently serves on the Board of Directors of Endo International ple. (Nasdag: ENDP) and is a member of
Endo’s Audit Commitiee and Compliance Commitiee. Prior to joining Endoe, Ms. Chao served as a Director (since 2015)
and as Board Chair (since October 2019) of BioSpecifics Technologies Corp. until its acquisition by Endo in December
2020, She also served as Chair of BioSpecifics” Compensation Committee and as a member of its Audit Commattes,
Strategy Committee, Intellectual Property Committee, and Nominating and Comporate Governance Commuittee, [n
addition, since March 2022, she has been a Board Director of Cardiol Therapeutics Ine. (Nasdag: CRDL) and serves as
Chair of Cardiol’s Corporate Governance and Compensation Communiee. Additionally, from 2004 to 2008, Ms, Chao
was Managing Dircctor and Senior Lead Bistechnology Secunitics Analyst at Deutsche Bank. Prior to that, Ms. Chao
served as Managing Director and Senior Lead Biotechnology Analyst at RBC Capital Markets and Vice President,
Semor Biotechnology Analyst al Leerink Swann & Co. Ms. Chao was a research fellow at Massachusetis General
Hospital Harvard Medical School, as a recipient of the BioMedical Research Career Award, and received her BLAL in
Politics and Greek Classics from New York University. Ms. Chao’s qualifications to serve on the board of directors
include her extensive experience in the life science industry, corporate strategy and LS. capital markets,

Lorin Johnson, PhD is a scasoncd pharmaccutical entreprencur and innovator with more than 30 vears of experience in
building companics, He has been a member of our board of dircerors since June 2009, having previously served as a
director of the company”s principal operating subsihary, Edesa Biotech Research, Inc., from its founding in Jangary
2015 to January 2016. Dr. Johnson is currently the Chief Scientist of Glyoyx Pharma Ventures Lid., a biopharma
investment and development company he founded in March 2016. Prior to Glycyx, Dr. Johnson cofounded Salix
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 4 specialty pharmaceutical company, and held senior leadership positions prior o il acquigition
by Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, Inc. in April 2015, Earlier in his career, Dr. Johnson served as Director of
Scientific Operations and Chicl Scicntist al Scios, Ine. (formerly California Biotcchnology. Inch, In addition 1o Edesa, he
currently serves on the board of 9Meters Biopharma, Inc. (Nasdag: NMTR ). and is a member of 9Meters” Audit
Committes, Compensation Committee (chair) and Nomimating and Governance Commutice. He also serves on the boards
of Glyeyx MOR, Inc., Intact Therapeutics, Inc., Kinisi Therapeutics, Lid. and NeVAP, Inc. Dr. Johnson has also held
academic positions at Stanford University School of Medicine where he served 25 an Assistant Professor of Pathology
and at the University of California, San Francisco. He is the coautbor of 76 journal articles and book chapters and is the
comnventer on 23 issued patents. Dr. Johnson holds a PRI from the University of Southern Califomia and was a
Postdoctoral Fellow at the University of California, San Francisco. Dr. Johnson's qualifications to serve on the board of
directors include hiz knowledge of our business and his significant experience in the pharmaceutical industry,

Sean MacDonald has chaired our Board since June 2019, having previously served as a director of the company’s
principal operating suhsidiu}l. Edesa Biotech Rescarch Inc., since September 2017, In his carcer, he has led and closed
multiple licensing transactions, financings, acquisitions and divestments, and corporate stralegy for several
pharmaceutical and biotechnology compames. Mr. MacDonald is currently an sdvisor to venture capital groups and
hitechnology companies, mcluding Finchley Healthcare Ventures and Dark Canyon Laboratonies, a position he has held
sinee April 2022, From August 2021 w0 Aprl 2022, he was the Chiel Business Officer of iOnctura SA, a Swiss clinical-
stage encology company. From Apnl 2009 10 August 2021, e was the Head of Business Development for Cosmo
Pharmaceuticals NV, a European gastroenteralogy focused pharmaceutical company; and from October 2018 to August
2021 he was the chief executive of Corbin Therapeutics, a Montreal-based biotech company focused on treating
neuroinflammation, Mr. MacDonald held various operational and executive leadership roles from October 2012 1o
Ogctaber 2018 at Pharmascience Inc., one of Canada’s largest pharmaceutical companies, including Vice President of
Business Development and Corporate Development. He received his BSc in Molecular Biology and MBA from the
University of Ottawa, Mr. MacDonald's qualifications 1o serve on the board of directors include his extensive operational
expenence and background in the pharmacentical/biotechnology industry,

Pardeep Nijhawan, MD, FRCPC, AGAF has served as our Chiel Executive Oilicer, Corporate Secretary and a
member of our board of directors since June 2019, having previously founded and led the company’s principal operating
subsidiary, Edesa Biotech Research, Inc.. since January 2015 Dr. Nijhawan is a scasoned pharmaceutical entreprencur
with more than 20 years of experience in cross-functional lcadership roles in finance, marketing, corporate stralegy and
busincss development, In 2002 Dr, Nijhawan founded Medical Futures Inc., and served as its CEOQ. He sold Medical
Futures to Tribute Pharmaceuticals in 2015, In 2014, he founded Exzell Pharma, a specialty Canadian-based
pharmaceutical organization that markets and commercializes approved products. He sold Exzell Pharma 1o BioLab
Pharma i 2022, Dr. Nijhawan also founded Digestive Health Clinic in 2000 and led it 1o become one of Canada’s largest
provider of private endoscopy services. He continees 1o serve on the Board of Digestive Health Clinic. Since January
2021, he has served on the advisory board of Private Dbt Partners, a Canadian alternative asset management firm. Dr,
Mijhawan received his MDD from the University of Ottawa and completed his intemnship at Yale University, and his
internal medicine residency and fellowship at the Mayo Clinic. Dr, Nijhawan's qualifications to serve on the board of
dircctors include his extensive executive leadership and experience in the life sciences industry and his knowledge of our
business as its chiel executive,
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Frank Oakes has more than 40 vears of exccutive leadership experience. He has been a director of the company since
April 2010 and served as the Chairman of the Board until June 2019, From 1999 to 2009, be also served as the President
and Chiel’ Executive OfTicer of the company s legacy operating subsidiary, which he founded. Prior to founding Stellar
Biotechnologies, Inc., he was the Chief Executive Officer of The Abalone Farm, Inc., where he led the company through
the research and development, capitalization, and commercialization phases of development to become the largest
abalone producer in the United States at the time. Mr. Oakes has consulted and lectured around the workl. He received
his BS degree from Califormia State Polytechnic University, San Luis Obispo and is a groduate of the Los Angeles
Regional Technology Alliance University s management program. Mr. Oakes qualifications to serve on the board of
directors include his extenzive operational expenence building companies and management teams and leading a U.S, and
Canadian publicly histed life science company.

Paul Pay is an executive with over 40 vears of experience in the pharmaceuticalbiotechnology indusiry. He has been a
member of our board of directors since June 2019, having previously served as a director of the company”s principal
operating subsidiary, Edesa Biotech Research, Inc., since its founding in January 20015, From November 2002 1o May
2021, he led all business development activity at Norgine. He is curremtly Senior Advisor, Corporale & Business
Development at Morgine reporting to the Chairman. Prior to joining Norgine, Mr. Pay held senior management positions
ol large, spectaliy and carly-stage pharmaceutical companies, and cofounded a university spin-out company. His
commercial robes have included sales, marketing. market rescarch, licensing, business development, public relations,
mtellectal property and product development. He 15 a past Director of Exzell Pharma, a specialty pharmaceutical
company: of Arc Medical Design, a medical device development company and of Norgine Ltd., an affiliate of Norgine
and of Merus Labs International, a Moegine wholly owned subsidiary. Me. Pay received a BSC (1ons) from the
University of Leeds, Mr. Pay's qualifications to serve on the board of directors include his exlensive experience in the
pharmaceutical biotechnology industry and his knowledge of Edesa’s business,

Carlo Sistilli, CPA, CMA Mr. Sistilli has more than 35 years of financial expenience and has held a vanety of execulive
positions in accounting and Gnance during his carcer. He has been a member of our boand of directors sinee June 2019,
having previously served as a board observer of the company s principal operating subsidiary, Edesa Biotech Rescarch,
Inc., since September 20017, Mr. Sistilli has served as the Chief Financial Otficer of Arista Homes since March 2003 to
present. Prior to Arista, Mr. Sistilli was o founder and served as CFO and a board member of an Internct stan-up
company in the automotive sector, and plaved a key role in taking the company public on the Albernta Ventures
Exchange. Earlier in his carcer, Mr. Sistilli was the Controller and a member of the senior management team of a major
regional trust company, which Mr. Sistilli helped scll to Manulife Financial. Since January 2021, he has served on the
board of directors and audit committee of Aleafia Health Inc. In addition 1o his professional career, Mr. Sistilli is an
officer and 3 member of the board of directors of Mother of Mercy Centre. Mr. Sistilli holds a Bachelor of Ants from
York University, with a major in cconomics, Certified Management Accountant Designation and & Chartered
Professional Accountant Designation. Mr. Sistillis qualifications 1 serve on the board of dircctors include his
knowledge of Edesa’s business and his background in accounting and finance.

Executive Officers

Set forth below is certain information with respect 10 the names, ages, and positions of our executive officers as of the
date of this filing. Biographical information pertaining to Dr. Nijhawan, who is 2 director and an executive officer, may
be found in the above section entitled “Directors.” The executive officers serve at the pleasure of our Board of Directors,

Diate ol
Name Age  Positionis) Held Appointment
Pardeep Nijhawan, MDD ... 52 Director, Chiel Executive Officer and Corporile Secretary June 7, 2019
Kathi Niffenegger, CPA .. 65 Chief Financial Officer Movember 1, 2013
Michacl Brooks, Phid ....... 44 President Junc 7, 2019

Kathi Niffenegger, CPA has served as our Chief Financial Officer since 2013, She also previously served as the
company”s Corporaic Scerctary from 2003 to Junc 2019, Ms, NilTencgger has more than 30 years of cxpericnce in
accounting and finance in a range of industries, and has led audits of manufacturing. pharmaceutical and govermmental
grant clients. She has also developed specialized expertise in cost accounting systems and intemal controls, Prior o
joining the company, she held positions of increasing responsibility in the audit division of Glenn Burdetie CPAs and
served mosi recently as technical pariner, Earlier in her career, she was the Chief Financial Officer of Martin Aviation.
Mz, Niffencgger holds a B.S. degree in Business Administration, Accounting from California State University, Long
Beach. She is a member of the American Institule of Centified Public Accountants (AICPA) and holds the Chartered
Global Management Accountant (CGMA) designation,




Michael Brooks, PhID was appointed President of Edesa in Junc 2019, having served as Viee President of Corporate
Development and Strategy for the company s principal operating subsidiary, Edesa Biotech Research, Inc., since January
2015, Prior to joining Edesa, Dr. Brooks held positions of increasing responsibility ot Cipher Pharmaceuticals Ine from
2010 to 2005 and served most recently as the company’s Director of Business Development. Prior to joining Cipher, Dr.
Brooks was a Postdoctoral fellow at the Umiversily of Toronto, Dr. Brooks holds a Hons B.S¢. degree in Microbiology
and a PhD in Molecular Genetics from the University of Toronto. Dr. Brooks received his MBA degree from the Rotman
School of Management where he was a Canadian Institute for Health Research (CIHR) Science-to-Businiess Scholar.

Delinguent Section 16{a) Reports

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires that our dircctors, executive officers, and beneficial owners of more than ten
percent of our common shares file reports with the SEC on thewr initial benelicial ownership of our common shares and
any subsequent changes. To our knowledge, based solely on a review of copies of such reports filed clectronically with
the Sccurities and Exchange Commission during the Company’s vear ended September 30, 2022, during such period,
cach of our dircctors, executive officers, and beneficial owners of more than 1en percent of our common shares filed on a
timely basis all reports required by Section 16{a) of the Exchange Act except for: one report on Farm 4 reporting one
share option grant that was inadveriently filed late by cach of Dr. Johnson, Mr. MacDonald, Dr, Nijhawan, Mr, Oakes,
Mr. Pay, Mr. Sistilli, Dr. Brooks and Ms. Niffencgger: and one report on Form 4 reporting one transaction that was
inadvertently filed late by Dr, Brooks.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct that applies to all of our directors. officers, and employees,
including our principal cxecutive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or contreller, or persons
performing similar functions. A copy of our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct is available on the Investor Relations
section of our website al edesabiotech.com/invesions/governance, in the Corporate Governance section, under the
Governance Documents section. We intend to satisfy the SEC"s disclosure requirements regarding amendments to. or
waivers of, our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct by posting such information on our website. Copies of our Code of
Ethics and Business Conduct may be obiained, free of charge, by writing 1o our Corporale Sccretary, Edesa Biotech, Inc.,
108 Spy Court, Markham, ON Canada L3R 5Hé.

Information absut our Board Committees

Our Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, and a Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee, The Board of Directors has determined that cach director who serves on these
commitices is “independent,” as that term is defined by the listing rules of Masdag and rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The Board of Directors has adopted written charters for its Audit Committee, Compensation
Commiltee, and Numinal:ing and Corporate Covernance Commitiee, Cnpic-s ol these charters are available on our
website at www.edesabiotech.com/investors/govemance.

Audit Commirtee

Our Audit Committee 15 composed of Jenmfer Chao, Sean MacDonald and Carlo Sistilli {chair), The purpose of the
Audit Committee is to oversee our accounting and financial reporting processes and the sudits of our financial
statemients. In that regard, the Audit Committee assists the Board in monitoring: {a) the integrity of our financial
statemenis; (b) our independent auditor’s qualifications, independence, and performance; (¢) the performance of our
system of intermal controls, financial reporting, and disclosure controls: and (d) our compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, To fulfill this obligation and perform its dutics, the Audit Committee maintains effective working
relationships with the Board, gement, and our independent audilor,

Carlo Sistilli 15 the Chair of our Audit Committee and has extensive financial expenience. He holds a Bachelor of Ans
from York University, with a major in cconomics, Centificd Management Accountant Designation and a Charlered
Professional Accountant Diesignation. He has held a varicty of executive positions in accounting and finance during the
past 35 years. The Board has determined that Mr. Sistilh is an “audit committee financial expen”™ as defined in liem
H0T(dH 5 Wi of Regulation S-K,

Compensation Committee

Our Compensation Commitiee is composed of Jennifer Chao, Lorin Johnson and Paul Pay (chair). The purpose of the
Compensation Committee is to assist the Board's oversight relating to compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and
our other Named Executive Officers. It has responsibility for evaluating., and recommending 1o the independent members
of the Board for approval, our compensation plans, policies and programs as such plans, policies and programs affect
executive officers,
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Nominating and Corporate Governance Commillee

Cur Nominating and Corporate (iovernance Committes is composed of Jennifer Chao (chair), Frank Oakes and Sean
MacDonald. The purpose of the Nominating and Corporale Governance Committee is to sdentify individuals qualilied o
become Board members; recommend to the Board individuals to serve as directors; advise the Board with respect to
Board compesition, procedures and committees; lead the Board in its annual review of the Board and management s
performance: develop, recommend to the Board and annually review a set of corporate governance principles applicable
to the Company; and oversee any related matters required by the federal secunies laws.

[tem 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Execcutive Compensation

Our named exccutive officers for the year ended September 30, 2022 were Pardeep Nijhawan, MD, Director, Chiell
Executive Officer and Corporate Secretary; Kathi Niffenegger, CPA. Chief Financial Officer; and Michael Breoks, PhD,
President,

Sammary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information regarding the compensation awarded to, camned by or paid to the named
executive officers for the years ended Sepiember 30, 2022 and Seplember 30, 2021,

Options Al Oher
Fiscal  Salary Boous  Awards Compensation

Same and Principal Position Year (3] [£3] (%) (1) %) Tatal (5}

Pardocp Mijhawan, MDD .o 2022 $325%61 5 KO600 5123052 8 A3 0IM2) § 601,731
Director, Chiel Exeeutive OfMicer and Corporate Secrelary 2021 FE000 120,000 230526 HILTTH 1319200
Kathi NifTenegger, CPA oo 022 295075 X7.000 109329 S0540(3) 541,950
Chiel Financial OMeer 021 05006 100,000 605857 I09083)  1,04],78]
Michag] Brooks, PhD ... 2022 305,455 96,000 109329 41,906(4) 532,73
President 021 293780 110000 605 85T 423394 1,051,946

(1} The amounts shown in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the share option awards
computed in sccordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codificarion
718, not the actual amounts paid 1o or realized by the named executive officers during the covered fiscal vear. The
assumplions used in determining grant date fair value of these awards are st forth in Note B o our audited
consalidated financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2022 mcluded in this Annual Report,

(2) Represents (i) 532,415 in car allowance, (i) £2,186 in healih insurance and (iii) 528,517 in vacation payout in 2022
and (i) $30.453 in car allowance, (i) $2,054 in health insurance and (iii) 331,266 in vacation payout in 2021, All
compensation to Dr. Nijhawan was paid in Cansdian dollars and was converted to US dollars using the average
foreign exchange rate for the year from canada.com,

(3} Represents (i) $19,751 in health insurance, (ii) $9,150 in 401{k) company contributions and (i) $21,645 in
vacation pay oul in 2022 and (i) $18.75% in health insurance and (11) $12,150 in 401 (k) company contributions in
2021.

(4] Represents (i) 24,000 in car allowance {ii) 52,788 in health insurance and (iii) $15.120 in vacation payout in 2022
and (1) $22.548 in car allowance (i) $2,597 in healih insurance and (iii) $17,194 in vacation payout in 2021, All
compensation to Dr. Brooks was paid in Canadian dollars and was comverted to US dollars using the average
foreign exchange rate for the year from oanda.com.

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table Employment Agreements

We have entered into emplayment agreements with cach of our named exceutive officers, The emplovment agroements
provide for the annual base salary for each named execulive oflicer, which amounts are subject o annual review by and
at the sole discretion of our board of directors or its designee. Each named executive officer is also eligible to cam an
anneal cash performance bonus, which is based on our sttainment of financial or other operating criteria established by
our board of dircctors or its designee, as determined by our board of directors or its designee.
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Emploviment Agreement with Pardeep Nifhawan effective as of June 7. 2009 and amended March 19, 2021 and April 12,
2022

On June 14, 2019 but effective as of June 7, 20019, we entered into an employment agreement with Pardeep Nijhawan,
Pursuant to the employment agreement, Dr. Nighawan will gserve as our Chiell Executive Officer for an indefinite term
until Dr. Nijhawan's employment is terminated in accordance with the agreement. As compensation for his services to
us, Dr. Nijhawan received a hase salary of $300,000 per vear and is eligible to receive o target annual bonus of $0% of
his base salary. subject 1o achicving corporate and personal targets to be determined by us. The base salary increased 1o
$320,000 per year effectrve January 1, 2021 and $331 200 effective March 24, 2022, Dr, Nijhawan alio recenves an
automobile allowance of $2,700 per month and 15 eligible to participate in our group msured benefits program, as may be
in ¢ffect from time-to-time for our employees generally, and exccutive employces specifically, Dr. Nijhawan is eligible
Tor future share and'or option granis, a3 determined by our Compensation Comimitiee, commensurale with Dr.
Nijhawan's position and any business milestones which may be established by the Compensation Committee and sabject
o availability of shares andfor eptions for grant under our Equity Incentive Compensation Plan.

11 Dr. Nijhawan s employment with us is terminated for “Cause” (as such term is defined in the employment agreement),
subject to applicable law, our only obligation shall be to provide Dr. Nijhawan with his base salary and vacation pay
camed through the date of termination and ail of Dr, Nijhawan's vested or non-vested stock options which have not been
exercizsed by Dr. Nijhawan as of the date of termunation will be sutomatically extinguished. If Dr. Nighawan is termunated
by us without “Causc”, our only obligation shall be to provide Dr. Nijhawan with (1) a ump sum payment cqual to Dir.
Nijhawan's then current base salary for twenty-four months (the “Severance Period™), (i) a lump sum payment of the
annual bonus to which Dr. Nijjhawan s entitled for the fiscal year immediately preceding the date of termination, if such
bonus has not already been paid, (1ii) a lamp sum payment equal to De. Nijhawan's annual bonus entitlement, prorated
over Dr. Nijhawan's length of service in the fiscal vear in which his employment is terminated, calculated in accordance
with the terms of the employment agreement, (iv) payment of Dr. Nijhawan's annual bonus entitlement duning the full
Severance Period, calculated in accordance with the terms of the employment agreement, (v) continuation of Dr,
Mijhawan's benefits and car allowance and any other benefit required 1o be maintained by law in accordance with the
terms of the employvment agreement and (vi) subject to applicable law, all stock options granted 1o Dr. Nijhawan shall be
exercisable in accordance with the terms of the applicable stock option plan. Dr. Nijhawan may resign from his
employment at any time by providing us with a minimum of sixty days advance notice, in writing. D, Nijhawan's notice
may be waived by us, subject only to providing Dr. Nijhawan with payment of his base salary and continuation of
benefits until the end of the notice period, [T Dr. Nijhawan resigns from his employment, subject to applicable law, (1) all
non-vested stock options and all vested stock options held by D, Nijhawan which have not been exercised by Dr,
Nijhawan as of the date of termination shall be automatically extinguished and (if) Dr. Nijhawan shall not be entitled to
any bonus or pro rata bonus payment not alrcady paid on or before the date of termination,

During the term of Dr. Nijhawan's employment with us and for twelve months following the cessation of Dr. Nyhawan's
employment with us, Dr. Nijhawan is prohibited from competing with our business in North America, In addition, for
twenty-four months following the cessation of Dr. Nijhawan's employment with us, Dr. Nijhawan is prohibited from
soliciting customers or prospeclive customers for any purpoese competitive with our business, encouraging any cusiomer
to cease doing business with us and soliciting the employment or engagement of certain of our emplovees.

Emplovment Agrecment with Michae! Brooks affective as of June 7, 20019 and amended March 19, 2021 and April 12,
2022

On June 14, 2019 but effective as of June 7. 2019, we entered into an employment agreement with Michael Brooks, PhD.
Pursuant to the employvment agreement, Dr. Brooks will serve as our President for an indefinite term umtil Dr. Brooks®
employment is lerminated in accordance with the agreement, As compensation for his services to us, Dr, Brooks received
a base salary of $275,000 per yvear and is cligible 1o receive a target annual bonus of 40%: of his base salary, subject to
achieving corporate and personal targets to be determined by us. The base salary increased to 8300000 per vear effective
Jamuary 1, 2021 and $310,500 cifective March 24, 2022 Dr. Brooks also receives an automaobile allowance of 2,000 por
month and is eligible 1o participate in our group insurcd benefits program, as may be in effect from time-to-time for our
cmplovees gencrally, and executive employees specifically. Dr. Brooks is cligible for future share and/or option grants,
as determined by our Compensation Committee, commensurate with Dr. Brooks® position and any business milestones
which may be established by the Compengalion Committee and subject 1o availabilily of shares and/or oplions for grant
under our Equity Incentive Compensation Plan,

43




If Dr. Brooks® employment with us is terminated for “Cause™ (as such term is defined in the employment agreement),
subject 10 applicable law, our only obligation shall be to provide Dr. Brooks with his base salary and vacation pay camed
through the date of termination and all of Dr. Brooks” vested or non-viested stock options which have nol been exercised
by Dir. Brooks as of the date of termination will be tically extinguished, 1f Dr. Brooks iz terminated by us without
“Cause”, our only obligation shall be to provide Dr. Brooks with (i) a lump sum payment equal 10 Dr. Brooks” then
current base salary for twelve months plus ene additional month for every completed vear of service since Scptember
2015, not to exceed an aggregate of twenty-four months (the “Severance Period™), (i1) a lump sum payment of the annual
bonus to which Dr. Brooks is entitled for the fiscal vear immediately preceding the date of termination, if such bonus has
nod alrcady been paid, (iii) a lump sum payvment equal 1o Dr, Brooks™ annual bonus entitlement, prorated over Dr.
Brooksz" length of service in the fiscal vear in which hig emplovment 13 terminated, caleulated in accordance with the
terms of the employment agreement, (iv) payment of Dr. Brooks” annual bonus entitlement during the full Severance
Period, caleulated in accordance with the terms of the emplovment agreement, (v continuation of Dr. Brooks® benefits
and car allowance and any other benefit required to be maintained by law in accordance with the ierms of the
employment agreement and (vi) subject to applicable law, all stock options granted o Dr. Brooks shall be exercisable in
accordance with the terms of the apphcable stock option plan. 1f Dr. Brooks” employment is terminated or
“eonstructively terminated” (as such term iz defined in the employment agreement) b:.' us without “Cause™ upon or
within a twelve month period lollowing a Change ol Control (as such term is defined in the ﬂrrpln:,mnl agreement), Dr
Brooks shall be entitled vo the payments and benefits provided as described in clauses (i) 1o (vi) above, plus a change nl‘
conirol payment equal to twenty-four moenths of the his then current base salary. Dr. Brooks may resign from his
employment at any ume by providing us with a minimum of sixty days advance notice, in writing. Dr. Brooks' notice
may be waived by us, subject only to providing Dr. Brooks with payment of his base salary and continuation of benefits
until the end of the notice penod. IT Dr. Brooks resigns freom his employment, subject 1o applicable law, (i) all non-vested
stock options and all vested stock opu'm held by Dr. Brooks which have not been exercised by Dr, Brooks as of the date
of termnation shall be aul ically ext ished and (11) Dr, Brooks shall not be entithed 10 any bonus or pro rata bonus
payment not alrcady paid on or before the dase of termimation,

During the werm of Dr. Brooks™ employment with us and for twelve months following the cessation of Dr. Brooks'
employment with us, Dr. Brooks is prohibited from competing with our business in North America. Tn addition, for
twenty-four months following the cessation of Dr. Brooks® employment with us, Dr. Brooks is probibited from soliciting
CUSLOMKTS OF prospective customers for any purpose competitive with our busingss, encouraging any customer 10 ¢ease
doing business with us and soliciting the employment or engagement of certam of our employees,

Emplovinent Agreement with Kathi Niffemegger effective ax of December 1, 2020 and amended March 19, 2021 and
April 12, 2022

On December 1, 2020, we entered into an employment agreement with Ms. Niffencgger that superseded prior
employment agreements. Pursuant to the employment agreement, Ms. Niffenegger will continue to serve as our Chiel
Fimancial Officer. Both Ms. Niffenegger and we have the right to terminate the employment relationship at any time,
with or withowt cause. As compensation for her services 1o us, Mz, Niffencgger received a base salary of $275,000 per
year retroactive to June 1, 2020, is cligible to receive a discretionary bonus in an amount up to 40%% of her base sulary
based on her performance and the company’s performance and such other emplovee benefits as are generally provided 1o
similarly situated employees of the company, The base salary increased 1o $290,000 per year ¢ffective January 1, 2021
amvd S300, 150 per vear effective March 24, 2022, Ms, NifTenegeer is eligible for future share andfor option grants in
accordance with our executive compensation policy as in effect from time to time as determined by the independent
members of our Board of Directors subject to availability of shares and/or options for grant under our Equity Incentive
Compensation Plan,

IT Ms, NilTenegeer's employment with us i terminated for “Cause™ (as defined in the employment agreement) or i Ms,
Miffenegger resigns from herempluymenl at any time, our only obligation 15 (o provide Ms. Niffenegger with: (1) her
accrued salary and accrued unused vacation pa}' through and mcluding her last day of emplovment (the “Separation
Date™); (1) reimbursement of any reiml perly incurred through and including the Separation Datg;
and (iii) any benefit required under applicable Iaw I Ms, Nlﬂ'm:mr is terminated by us without "Caose”, our only
obligations are (a) 1o provide Ms. Niffenegger with the same pavments and benefits as would be provided if we had
terminated her employment for Cause; and (b subjeet to Ms. Niffencgger's execution of a release in our favor, Ms,
Miffenegger will also be paid, as severance (the “Severance Amount™), (1) a lump sum payment equal to twelve months
of Ms. Niffenegger’s then curvent base salary, plus one additional month of base salary for every completed vear of
service since June 2019, not to exceed an aggregate of twenty-four months, (i) a lump sum payment of any discretionary
bonus for the prior calendar year already determined by our Board of Directors, but not yet paid; and (i) a lump sum
payment cqual to Ms. Niffencgger's potential discretionary bonus for the calendar vear in which the Separation Date
occurs, prorated over Ms, Miffenegger’s length of service in the calendar year in which her employment is ferminated,
caleulated in accordance with the terms of the employment agreement. 11 Ms. Niffenegger’s employment is terminated or
“ronstructively terminated” (as such term is defined in the employment agreement) by us without “Cause™ upon or
within a twelve month penod following a Change of Control (as such term is defined in the employment agreement), Ms.,
Niffenegger shall be entitled to the Severance Amount described above, except that the portion of the Severance Payment
extablished by (bji) shall be equal to twenty four months of Ms, Niffenegger's base salary,




The Agreement provides that during the term of Ma. Niffenegger's employment with us and for a period of one year
thereafter, Ms. Niffenegger is prohibited from soliciting for employment certain of our employees. The Agreement also
provides that both during and after Ms. Niffenegger’s employment with us, she is prohibited from (i) making use of our
trade seerets 1o solicit on behalf of Ms, Niffenegger or any other person business from any of our customers and (i)
inducing or attempting to induce any person W scver any existing contractual relationship they have with us.

Ouistanding Equity Awards at September 30, 2022

Option Awards
Number of Number of
securities securities
underlyving underlying
uncxercised unexercised Option
Award oplions (#) aptions (#) Option expiration
Name grant date exercisable _wnexercisable (1) _exercise prices date
Pardeep Nijhawan, MD ... W2NT AT 490 - Cs 2,16 92627
1272818 1,620 & C3 216 12728/28
10/13:20 A0,00% 19992 (33 § 744 10/13/30
4i22121 59,994 60006 (3) & 545 4722/31
2728122 10,855 BN (3) & in 228132
Kathi Niffenegger, CPA ... 1272215 238 - 5 304,08 1212222
12720116 238 - - 8526 12720123
128 #33 . s 35128 31225
21220 50452 5247 () 8§ ile 21230
1071320 33336 16664 (3} & TA4 10713/30
4122121 19,996 40,004 (3) 8 545 42231
2728122 664 33836 (3 8 £ | 2728132
Michael Brooks, PhDD ........... 82817 136416 - cs 216 RI2R/27
92617 24,299 - Cs 26 92627
12/28/18 1,620 - cs 216 12728/28
Y1220 62,570 6418 (2) % 116 11230
1071320 33336 16664 (3) & T.44 10/13/30
422421 39,996 40,004 (3} 8 545 422131
2728122 LU 33836 (3) % in 2128132

(1) Owur options vesting policy is desenibed in the Outstanding Equity Awards Marrative Disclosure scction.

(2} The option will vest over a pertod of three years, with one-third vesting on the date of grant and the remaimder
vesting on a pro-rata basis monthly thereafter.

(3} The option will vest over a pertod of three years, with monthly vesiing on a pro-raia basis beginning on the daie of
gmnl.

Outstanding Equity Awards Narrative Disclosure
Equity Incentive Compensaiion Plan

We adopted an Equity Incentive Compensation Plan in 2019 (the 2019 Plan) which amended and restated our 2017
Incentive Compensation Plan (the 2017 Plan). Under the 2019 Plan, we arc authorized 1o grant options, restricted shares
amvd restricted share units (RSUs) to any of our officers, directors, employees, and consultants and those of our
subsidiaries and other designated affilimes. The number of shares available for issuance under the 2019 Plan is
1,625,951, ncluding sharcs available for the exercise of outstanding options under the 2017 Plan, The purpose of the
2019 Plan 15 to advance the interests of the Company by encouraging equity participation through the acquisition of
commaon shares of the Company. The 2019 Plan is to be administered by the Compensation Committee of our Board of
Directors, except 1o the exient (and subjeci 1o the imilations set forth in the 201% Flan) the Board ¢lects to administer the
2019 Plan, in which case the 2019 Flan shall be administered by only those members of the Board who are
“independent”™ members of the Board. The administrator of the 2019 Plan has the power to, among other things:

= allot common shares for issuance i connection with the exercise of options;

= grant options, restricted shares or restncted share units;

= amend, suspend, weminaie or discontinue the plan; and

+  delegate all or a portion of its administrative powers a5 it may detenming o one of more commitiees,
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Options to purchase 2,203,699 common shares at prices ranging from C32, 16 and 533,16 to $304.08 arc outstanding at
September 30, 2022, No restricted shares or restricted share units have been gramted as of Seprember 30, 2022,

Options granted dunng the vear ended September 30, 2022 to direciors, officers and employees under the 2019 Plan
totaled 500,083 options to purchase comman shares ot exercise prices ranging from 3294 1o $3.71. Options granted
durning the vear ended September 30, 2021 to directors, officers and employees under the 2019 Plan totaled 1,145,000
options to purchase common shares at exercise prices ranging from 55.25 to $7.44.

Options Vesting Policy

Vesting requirements for option awards are determined by the independent members of the Board of Directors, Options
granted by the Company during the vear ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 gencrally had monthly vesting for directors
in eqqual proportions over 12 months beginning on the grant date, monthly vesting for officers and current employees in
equal proportions over 36 months beginning on the grant date and monthly vesting for new eployees in equal
proportions over 36 months beginning on the monthly anniversary of the grant date following 90 days of employment.
Retirement Beneliis

Executive officers and employees of our California subsidiary are eligible 1o recerve the company’s non-¢lective
contribution of 3% of cligible compensation under a 401(k) plan to provide retirement benefits. Any company
coniributions we made 1o the plan for our named exccutive officers are reflected in the “All Other Compensation™
column of the Summary Compensation Table above,

Other than the funds contributed under our 401(kh plan, no ether funds were set aside or acerued by us during the years
ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 10 provide pension, retirgment or similar benelits for our named executive officers.

Dircetor Compensation

The lollowing table seis forth information regarding the compensation of our non-employes direetors for the year ended
September 30, 2022,

Fees Earncd Option All Oaher
of Paid in Awards Compensation
Name Cash (5) (5) (1) (5) Total (5)
Jennifer Chao........oeveen v B 471 8 60,669 - 8 £5.392
Lorin Johnson, Fhi 36,629 27.646 . 64,275
Sean MacDonald 57.523(2) 27,646 - 5,467
Frank Oakes... 34035 27.646 . 61,681
Paul Pay... 44,599 2) 27,646 . 72,244
Carlo Sistilli, CPA, CMA 47,7312) 27.646 - 75,381

(1} The amounts shown in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the share option awards
computed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification
T1&, not the actual amounts paid 10 or realized by the directors duning the covered fiscal vear. The assumptions used
in determining grant date fair value of these awards are et forth in Notg 8 to our audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended September 30, 2022 included in this Annual Report,

{21 The compensation was paid in Canadian doliars er British pounds and was converied from US dollars using the
average forcign exchange rate for cach month of the year from oanda.com.

Outstanding Equity Awards at September 30, 2022

The following table summanizes the equity awards made to our directors that were outstanding at September 30, 2022,

Ouistanding
Name Options (1)
Lorin Johnson, PhDd 62,389
Sean MacDonald .. 62,389
Frank Dakes, 63,341
Paul Pay....... 04,788
Carlo Sistilli, CPA, CMA 62,389




Narrative to Director Compensation Table
Naon-Emplovee Director Compensation Palicy

The board adopted a compensation policy effective June 7. 2019 and amended it effective March 24 2022, As
compensation for their services on the board of directons, each non-executive board member received annual
remuneration as noted below and prorated during the effective periods. The Chief Executive Officer does not recerve any
additional compensation for his services on the board of directors,

Prorated during the period October 1, 2020 through March 23, 2022, cach non-excoutive director received annual base
remuneration of $30,000 and the Chairman of the Board received annual remunceation of $50.000, inclusive of
compensation for his services on commitiees of the board of directors, Each member of the Company”’s Audit Commitice
received annual remuneration of $5,000, and the Chair of the Audit Comminee received 510,000 annually for his
services, Each member of the Company’s Compensation Committes and Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committes recetved annual remuneration of 53,500 for each commitiee on which they serve, and the Chairs of cach of
the (I‘ﬂmpemmiou Commitice and Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitice reccived £7,500 annually for their
SETVICES.

Prorated during the period March 24, 2022 through September 30, 2022, ¢ach non-exccutive director reccived annual
base remuneration of 35,000 and the Chairman of the Board received annual remuneration of $65,000, inclusive of
compensation for his services on committees of the board of directors, Each member of the Company”s Audit Committee
reecived anmual remuncration of $7,500, and the Chair of the Audit Committee reccived 515,000 annually for his
services, Each member of the Company's Compensation Committes and Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committes received annual remuneration of $4,500 for each commitiee on which they serve, and the Chairs of each of
the Compensation Committee and Nominating and Comporate Governance Commitiee receivied 39,000 annually for their
SeTVICES,

ltem 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICLIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERA.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides certain information as of September 10, 2022 about our common shares that may be issued

under our cquity compensation plans, which consists of our 2019 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan in effect at
September 30, 2022;

Number af
securitics
remaining
available for
future
Weighted- issuance
Number of aAvErage under equity
securities to be exercise compensation
issued upon price of plans
exercise of outstanding {excluding
outstanding options, securities
options, warrants warrants reflected in
Plan Category and rights and rights column (a])
{a) (b} (e}
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders........... 2203699 8 4.66 422252
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders...._. H/A NiA WA

Warrants and other equity held by directors, officers and emplovees outside of the compensation plans arc not included
in the table above.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Mansgement
The following tables sets forth eertain information as of December 14, 2022, with respeet to the beneficial ownership of
our commaon shares by: (1) all of our directors; (2) our named executive officers listed in the Summary Compensation

Table; (3) all of directors and executive officers as a group; and (4) cach person known by us to beneficially own more
than 5% of our outstanding commaon shares.
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We have determined bencficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC, based on a review of filings with the
SEC and information known to us. Except az indicated by the footnotes below, we believe, based on the information
furnished 1o us, that the persons and entities named in the table below have sole voting and investmient power with
respect to all common shares that they beneficially own, subject to applicable community property laws.

Common shares subject to options or warrants currently exercisable or exencisable within 60 days of December 14, 2022
are deemid outstanding for computing the share swnership and percentage of the person holding such options and
warrants. but are not deemed outstanding for compating the percentage of any other person. The percentage ownership of
olir comman shares of ¢ach person or éntity named in the following table 15 based on 19,353,351 common shares
oulstanding as of December 14, 2022,

Directors and OfMcers

Beneficial Bencficially
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1) Ownership Owned
Jennifer Chao...... b 27500 (1) .
Lorin Johnson, Phi} TT136 (3 -
Scan MacDonald ... 72326 (4) .
Pardeep Mijhawan, MD . 4424719 (%) 22.1%
Frank Oakes.....covcne 59823 (6) .
Panl Pay ... ... 95317 (T) .
Carlo Sistilli, CPA, CMA............... 63438 (B) b
Michacl Brooks. PhD ... 369684 (9) 1.9%
Kathi NilTenegger, CPA ... 212,797 (10) 1.1%
All directors and executive officers as a group (% persons) 5403 260 (11) 27.1%

*  Peroentage of sharcs beneficially owned docs not exceed enc percent.

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of cach beneficial owner s /o Edesa Biotech, Inc., 100 Spy Court,
Markham, ON Canada L3R 5Hé.

(2) Consists of 27,500 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of options thal are exercisable within sixty days off
December 14, 2022,

(3) Conswsts of (1) 12,786 Commeon Shares, (i) 6,393 Common Sharcs issuable upon exercise of 2000 Class A
Warrants and (i) 57,957 Common Shares isuable upon exercise of options that are exercisable within sixty days
of December 14, 2022,

(4}  Consists of (1) 14.36% Common Shares and (11) 57,957 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of options
exercisable within sixty days of December 14, 2022,

15) Consists of (AN} 594,812 Common Shares and (i) 185444 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of options
excreiszble within sixty days of December 14, 2022 held by Pardeep Nijhawan: (B)ii) 2,356,914 Commaon Shares,
{i1) 65,942 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of 2020 Class A Warrants, (i4i) 114,131 Common Shares issuable
upon exercise of Class A Warrants and (iv)h 114,131 Comimon Sharcs issuable upon exercise of Class B Warranis
held by Pardeep Nijhawan Medicine Professional Corporation for which Pardeep Nijhawan has sole voting and
dispositive power over all such shares; (C) 224,094 Common Shares held by The Digestive [lealth Clinic Inc, for
which Pardecp Nijhawan has sole voting and dispositive power over all such shares; (D) 371.727 Common Sharcs
held by 1965160 Ontario Inc. for which Pardeep Nijhawan has sole voting and dispositive power over all such
shares and (Ejii) 228,262 Common Shares, (i) 114,131 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of Class A
Warrants and (1) 114,131 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of Class B Warrants held by The New Nijhawan
Family Trust 2015 for which each of Pardeep Nijhawan and Midhi Nijhawan, as trustees, have voting and
dispositive power over all such shares.

(6) Consists of (AN 58909 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of options thay are exercisable within sixty days
of December 14, 2022 held by Frank Oukes and (BMi) 914 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of 2020 Class A
Warrants held by Frank and Dorothy Oakes Family Trust for which cach of Frank Oakes and Dorothy Oakes, as
trustees, have voling and dispositive power over all such shares,

(7 Consists of (1) 3,654 Common Shares, (i) 1,827 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of 2020 Class A Warrants
and {iii) 90,356 Common Shares issuable upon cxercise of options exercisable within sixty days of December 14,
2022,




(81 Consists of (A) 57,957 Common Shares issuable upon cxercise of options exercisable within sixty days of
December 14, 2022 held by Carlo Sistilli and (B)i) 3.654 Common Shares and (i) 1,827 Common Shares issuable
upon exercise of 2020 Class A Warramz held by York-Cav Enterprises Inc. for which Carlo Sistilli, as President
and Director, has sole voting and dispositive power over all such shares,

19} Consists of (1) 30,450 Common Shares, (i1} 1,371 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of 2020 Class A
Warrants, (i) 2,119 Common Shares issushle upon exercize of Class A Warrants, (iv) 2,119 Common Shares
wsuable upon exercise of Class B Warrants and (v) 333,595 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of options
exercisable within sixty days of December 14, 2022,

(10} Consists of (A) 192,280 Commaon Shares issuable upon exercise of options that are exercisable within sixty days of
December 14, 2022 held by Kathi Niffenegger and (B){i) 10,715 Common Shares, (i1) 914 Common Shares
issuable upon exercise of 2020 Class A Warrants, (iii) 4,444 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of Class A
Warrants and (iv) 4,444 Common Shares issuable upon excrcise of Class B Warrants held by the Kathi Niffencgger
Trust for which Kathi NilTencgger, as trusiee, has sole voling and dispositive power over all such sharcs.

(11 Consists of (i) 3,851,467 Commaon Shares, (ii) 20,188 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of 2020 Class A
Warrants, (1ii) 234,825 Commaon Shares issuable upon excrcise of Class A Warranis, (iv) 234,825 Commaon Sharcs
issuable upon exercise of Class B Warrants and (v) 1,061,955 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of oplions
that are exercizable within sixty days of December 14, 2022,

Shareholders Known by Us to Own 5% or More of Our Common Shares

Beneficial Beneficially
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Ownership Orwned
Lumira Capital Il, L.P. and Lumira Capital 11 {Intemationalh, L.P (1) 2178352(1) 11.2%

(1) Consists of (A)(i) 1,897 428 Common Shares and (i) 96,542 Common Shares issuable upon exercise of 2020 Class
A Warrants held by Lumira Capital 11, LP, and (BH1) 1735454 Common Sharcs and (i) 8,928 Common Shares
issuable upon exercise of 2020 Class A Warrants held by Lumira Capital 1l (Imermational), L.F.. an affiliate of
Lumira Capital 11, L.P. Lumira Capital GP, L.P.. the general pariners of which are Lumira GP Inc. and Lumira GP
Holdings Co., is the general pariner of each of Lumira Capital II, L.P. and Lumira Capital 11 (International), L.P.
Each of Lumira Capital I, L.P, and Lumira Capatal 11 {Intemational), L.P. 13 managed by Lumira Capital
Investment Management Ing, Each of Lumira Capital GP, L.P., Lumira GP Ipe., Lumira GP Holdings Co, and
Lumira Capital Investment Management Ing, may be decmed to beneficially own the sharces held by Lumira Capital
I, L.P. and Lumnira Capital IT {International), L.P and such cntitics control voting and investment power over such
shares through an investment committee of the Lumira group. The address of cach entity histed in this note = 141
Adelaide Street West, Suite 770, Toronto, Ontario, Cansda MSH 3L5, We relied in part on the Schedule 130VA
filed with the SEC by Lumira Capital 11, L.P. on January 16, 2020 lor this information,

[tem 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE.

Related Party Transactions
Lease Agreemaent

In January 2017, Edesa Rescarch entered into a lease agreement with a company related wo Pardeep Nijhawan, our Chicl
Executive Oficer, for oflice space that serves as our principal executive office. The current lease has an original
expiration date of December 2022 with the option to extend the lease for an additional two years. We anticipate
extending the lease through December 2024, Monthly rents during the term ranged from C38_320 10 C$9.,020 plus HST.
Rents of approximately $81,000 weére incurred duning each of the vears ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, Rents of
approximately 522,000 were payable at September 30, 2022, Mo rent was pavable al September 30, 2021,

Director Independence

In evaluating the independence of our Board membsers and the composition of the commitiges of our Board of Dhrectors,
the Board of Directors utilizes the definition of “independence” as that term is defined by the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and the Nasdag Listing Rules. Using this standard, the Board of Directors has determined that Jennifer Chao, Lorin
Johnson, Scan MacDonald, Frank Oakes, Paul Pay and Carlo Sistilli are “independent directors.” This means that our
Board of Directors is composed of a majonty of independent directors as required by the rules of Nasdag,
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Tiem 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The following table shows the aggregate fees billed for sudit and other services provided for the years ended September
30, 2022 and 2021 rendered by MNP LLP.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Year Ended Year Ended

Type of Service 2022 2021
Audit Fees.... 13 2125T 8 237 605
Tax Fees...... 14,771 10,519
Tatal b3 227,342 3§ 148,124
Audit Fees

Audit fees consisted of fees incurred for professional services rendered for audits and interim reviews of the vears ended
Scptember 30, 2022 and 2021 and include procedurcs related to regisirations and offerings,

Tax Fees

Tax fees consisted of fees incurred for professional services rendered for 1ax compliance related to tax returns during the
years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021,

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committoe 15 directly responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of our auditors. 1t has
established procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of complainis received by us regarding accounting,
internal accounting controls, or auditing matters, and the confidential, anonymous submizsion by our employees of
concems regarding questionable aceounting or auditing matters, The Audit Committee also has the authonty and the
funding to engage independent counsel and other ouiside advisors.

The Audit Committee pre-approves all sudit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent registered
pubhic accounting firm. These services may include oudit services, audit-related services, tax services and other services,
Pre-approval is generally provided for up to one vear, and any pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or
category of services and 15 generally subject (o an amount or range of esiimated fees. All proposed engagements of the
auditor for audit and permitted non-audit services arce submitied to the Audit Committee for approval prior to the
beginning of any such services. Our auditors are required o periodically report to the Audit Committee regarding the
extent of services provided by the independent registered public sccounting firm in accordance with the pre-approval,
and the fees for the services performed to date. The Audit Committee may also pre-approve particular services of a case-
by-case basis. The Audit Commitice pre-approved |00%5 of the audit and non-audit services performed by our
independent registercd public accounting firm for the vears ended September 30, 2022 and 2021,
PART IV
Tnem 15, EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES,
{a)  The iollowing documents are filed as a part of this Annual Repon:
(1} Financial Statements

The list of consolidated financial statements and notes required by this ltem 15 () (1) s set forth in the “Index 1o
Financial Statements” on page F-1 of this Annual Beport.

{2} Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules have been omined because the required mformation s ncluded in the financlal statements or notes thereto,
{3)  Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index below are filed as pan of this Annual Report.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit  Deseription

Na,

2.1 Share Exchange Agreement, dated as of March 7, 2019, by and between Stellar Biotechnologies Inc.. Edesa
Biotech Inc, and the Edesa Sharcholders (included as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Repont on Form
#-K filed on March 8, 2019, and incorporated herein by reference).

31 Cenificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated June 12, 2007 (included as Exhibit 1(2) 1o the
Company's Registration Statement on Form 20-F filed on February 3, 2012, and incosporated herein by
reference).

32 Cenificate of Amendment of the Company, dated April 15, 2008 (included as Exhibit 1(b) to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form 20-F filed on February 3, 2012, and incorporated herein by
relerence).

33 Centificate of Continuation of the Company, dated November 25, 2009 (included as Exhibit 1{c) to the
Company's Registraiton Statement on Form 20-F filed on February 3, 2012, and incorporated herein by
reference).

14 Certificate of Change of Name of the Company, dated Apnl 7, 2010 {included as Exhibit 1{1) to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form 20-F filed on February 3, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference).

15 Cenificate of Change of Name of the Company, dated June 7, 2009 (included as Exhibit 3.6 1o the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on December 12, 20019, and incorporated herzin by
reference).

i6 Amended and Restated Articles of Edesa Biotech, Inc. (included as Exbubit 3.1 to the Company”s Current
Report on Form B-K filed on April 23, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference).

37 Natice of Articles of Edesa Biotech, Inc. (included as Exhubit 3.7 1o the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form 5-1 filed on Apnl 11, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference)

4.1 Spectmen ol common share certificate (included as Exhibin 4.1 1o the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form 5-3 filed on August 30, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.2 Form of Class A Purchase Warrant issued w0 investors (included as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company s Curment
Report on Form 8-K filed on January 6, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.3 Form of Warrant isseed 10 Brookline Capital Markets, a division of Arcadia Secunties, LLC (included as
Exhibit 4.3 io the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 6, 2020 and incorporated herein
by referencel

44 Form of Warrant (included as Exlubit 4.2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed on
May %, 2018, and incorporated herein by reference)

4.5 Form of Underwriter Warmrant (included as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form B-K/A
filed on February 26, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).

4.6 Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (included as Exhibit 4.1 1o the Company s Current Repont on Form 8-K filed
on March 23, 2022 and incarporated herein by reference).

4.7 Form of Private Placement Warrant {imcluded as Exhibat 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on March 23, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference)

48 Form of Placement Agent Warrant (included as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form B-K
filed on March 23, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).

4.9 Form of Class A Warrant {included as Exhibit 4.1 1o the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
MNovember 3, 2022 and incorporated heren by reference).

4.10 Form of Class B Warrant {included as Exhibit 4.2 1o the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
Movember 3. 2022 and incorporated hercin by reference).

({18 Advance Notiwe Policy, adopted October 31, 2003 (imcluded as Exhibat 10,14 to the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed on November 14, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference),

10 26 Employment Agreemeni by and between the Company and Pardeep Nijhawan, dated June 14, 2019
{included as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form X-K/A filed on June 20, 2009, and
incorparated herein by reference).

10, 3 Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Michael Brooks, dated June 14, 2019 {included

as Exhibit 10,3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on June 20, 2009, and incorporated
herein by reference).
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Form of Indemnification Agreement. by and between the Company and each of its directors and executive
oflicers (included as Exhibit 1004 1o the Company’s Cumrent Report on Form B-B/A filed on June 20, 2019,
and incorporated herein by reference).

2019 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan (included as Exhibit 10,1 to the Company's Current Report an
Form B-K Niled on October 25, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference),

Amendment No. | to Edesa Biotech, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan {(included as Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Apnl 23, 2021, and incorporated herein by
referencel.

Lease, dated as of January 1, 2017, by and between the Registrant and 19658160 Ontario Inc. (included as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 30, 20019, and incorporated
herein by reference).

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of June 2%, 2016, by and between the Registrant and Yissum
Rescarch Development Company (included as Exhibit 10.2 10 the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on August 30, 2019, and incorporated herein by reference),

First Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement, dated Apnil 3, 2017, by and between the Registrant and
Y issum Rescarch Development Company (included as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on August 30, 2019, and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement, dated May 7, 2017, by and between the Registrant
and Yissum Rescarch Development Company (included as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Current Repornt
on Form &K filed on August 30, 2019, and incorporated herein by reference).

Third Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement, dated October 26, 2022, by and between the Registrant
and Yissum Rescarch Development Company (filed herewith).

License and Development Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2017, by and between the Registrant and
. a division of Pharmascience Inc. (included as Exhibit 10.6 1o the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on August 30, 2019, and incorporated herein by reference).

License Agreement by and between Edesa Biotech Rescarch, Inc. and Novimmune SA dated Apnl 17, 2020
{included as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Repoert on Form 8-K filed on April 23, 2020, and
incorporated herein by referencel).

Purchase Agreement by and between Edesa Biotech Research, Inc. and Novimnune SA dated April 17,
2020 (inchuded as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-k filed on April 23, 2020, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Kathi Niffenegger, dated December 1, 2020
{included as Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on December 7, 2020, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Strategic Innovation Fund Agreement among Edesa Biotech Research, Inc_, Edesa Biotech, Inc., and her
Majesty the Queen in right of Canada as represented by the Minister of Industry, dated February 2, 2021
fincluded as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 3, 2021, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of March 16, 2021, by and between the Edesa Biotech Research,
Inc. and Dr. Saul Yedgar (included as Exhibat 10,1 1o the Company s Current Beport on Form 2-K filed on
March 22, 2021, and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment to Emplovmemt Agreement, entered into on March 19, 2021, by and between Par Nijhawan
and Edesa Biotech, Inc. (incleded az Exhibit 1003 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0) filed
on May 14, 2021, and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment 10 Employment Agreement, entered into on March 19, 2021, by and between Kathi
Niffenegger and Edesa Biotech USA, Inc. fincluded as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-0) filed on May 14, 2021, and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment to Employment Agreement, entered into on March 19, 2021, by and between Michael Brooks
and Edesa Biotech, Inc. (included as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0) filed
on May 14, 2021, and incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Sccurties Purchase Agreement, dated March 21, 2022, by and between the Company and the
Puschaser (included as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 23, 2022
and incorparated herein by reference).

Amendment 10 Employment Agreement, entered into on April 12, 2022, by and between Par Nijhawan and
Edesa Bistech, Inc. (included as Exhibit 10,1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-C} filed on
May 13, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference),
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10,236 Amendment (o Emplovment Agreement, entered into on April 12, 2022, by and between Kathi Niffencgger
and Edesa Biotech UISA, Inc. (included as Exhibet 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0)
filed on May 13, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference).

10 244 Amendment to Employment Agreement, entered into on April 12, 2022, by and between Michael Brooks
and Edesa Biotech USA, Inc, (included as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Quarterly Repart on Form 10-Q
filed on May 13, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference).

10,25 Form of Non-ULS, Subscription Agreement (included as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on November 3, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).

10,26 Form of U8, Subscription Agreement (included as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on November 3, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).

14.1 Code of Ethicz and Business Conduct (incheded as Exhabit 14.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K filed on December 12, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference),

2 Subsidianes of Edesa Biotech, Inc. (included as Exhibin 21 10 the Company®s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on December 7, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference).

231 Consent of MNP LLP (filed herewath).

241 Power of Attomney (included on signature page).

3 Centification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14{a) under the Secunities and Exchange
At of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Scetion 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith),

3.2 Cenification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant 1o Rule 13a-14(a) under the Secunitses and Exchange

Act of 1934, az adopted pursuant o Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

321 Certification of the Chicf Exccutive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbancs-Oxley Act off 2002 {liled herewith),

32 2o Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 US.C. 1350, as sdopied pursuant to Scction 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

101185 XBRL Instance Document

101.5CH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document

1M.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Defimition Linkbase Document

10 LAB  XBRL Tasonomy Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE  XBREL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document

* All schedules and exhibits to the Share Exchange Agreement have been omitied pursuant to liem 601{b)2) of

Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and'or exhibit will be furnished 1o the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request.

** The information in this exhibat is furnished and deemed not filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for
purposes of section |8 of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not 10 be mncorporated by reference into any
filing of Edesa Bistech, Inc. under the Securitics Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
whether made before or afier the date hereof, regardless of any gencral incorporation language in such filing.

@ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

+ Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant o Bule 601th 10Miv) of Regulation S-K.

Item 16, FORM 10-K SUMMARY

MNaone.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15{d} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on 1is behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

EDESA BIOTECH, INC,

Date: December 16, 2022 /i Pardeap Nijhawan
Pardcep Nijhawan, M1y
Director, Chiel Executive Qfficer and Corparale
Secretary (Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constilutes and
appoints Pardeep Nijhawan and Kathi Niffenegger, and ¢ach of them, as his or her true and lawiul attormeys-in-fact and
agents, with full power of substitution for him or her, and in his or her name in any and all capacites, to sign any and all
amendments 1o this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documenis in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unio said attomneys-in-fact and agents, and
cach of them. full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary 1o be done
therewith_ as fully to all intenis and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby rutifying and confirming
all that said attomeys-in-fact and agents, and any of them or his or her substitule or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause
to be done by virmue hereof,

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated,

Signature Title Date
&/ Pardeep Niphawan Director, Chief Executive Officer. and December 16, 2022
Pardeep Nijhawan Corporate Secretary (Principal Executive
Officer)
/e Karhi Niffenegrer Chief Financial Officer December 16, 2022
Kathi Niffenegger (Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)
(5! Jewnnifer Chaw Director December 16, 2022
Jennifer Chao
/5 Lowin Johnson Diarceior Doecember 16, 2022
Lorin Johnson
S5/ Sean MacDonald Chairman of the Board of Directors December 16, 2022
Sean MacDonald
/5 Framk Chakes Dircctor December 16, 2022
Frank Oakes
/o Pad Pav Director December 16, 2022
Paul Pay
Ju/ Carlo Sixtilli Darector December 16, 2022
Carlo Sistilli
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Edesa Biotech, Inc.
Opinian on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the sccompanyving consolidated balance sheets of Edesa Biotech, Inc. (the Company) as of Scptember
30, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in
shareholders” equity and cash Mows for each of the years in the two-year penod ended September 30, 2022, and the
related notes (collectively referred 1o as the consolidated financial statements).

In our opemion, the consolidated lnancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Company as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its consolidated operations and its
consolidated cash flows for cach of the vears in the two-year period ended September 30, 2022, in conformity with
accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United States of America,

Basis for (pinion

These ¢ lidated financial & s are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility s to
express an opinion on the Company 's consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect (o the Company in accordance with the LS, lederal secunitics laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require thal we plan and
perform the asdit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated fnancial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to ermor or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal contral over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
intemal conlrod over financial reponting, bul not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the elfecliveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opmion.

Oner auditz included performing procedures to assess the nsks of o 1al misstatement of the ¢ lidated financial
statements, whether due 1o error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining. on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits alzo included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
mansgement, as well as evaluating the overall pr ion of the lidated fnancial We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

s/ MNP LLP
Chartered Professtonal Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

We have served as the Company’s auditor singe 2019,

Toronto, Canada
December 16, 2022




EDESA BIOTECH. INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
September 30, Sepiember 30,
2012 2021
Assels;
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ................ 5 7.09091% &  7.839.250

Accounts and other receivable . 1,255,451 3,302,827
Prepaid expenses and other current assets .. T45.543 948,645
TRl OXTTETEL BRIEE i iciiisisisibiasio ks aess b s bR S S i R 9,091,913 12,090,731
Non-current assels:
Property and equipment, net ... 12,694 14,5989
Long term deposits ... 171,464 -
Intangible asset, net 1,281,192 2382364
Right-of-use assets. 18465 06,571
R R P 5 11,575,728 S 14584 655

Liabilitics, sharcholders' equity and temporary equity:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and acorsed Habilithes ... § 2121802 S 1.379.842
Short-term right-of-use bease Habibities. ....ocomimmmmnmrmsmessmsei 18975 TR.B0R

Total current HaBllites ... s s s 2,140,777 1,458,650

Non-current liabilities:

Long-term payables ..o 43,662 47.202
Long-term right-of-use lease labilinies. ..., - 20512
T TR NREOE . oo et o o s e 2,184,439 1,526,364
Commitments (Note 7)
Sharcholders’ equity:
Capital shares
Authorized unlimited common and preferred shares without par value
Isswed and outsianding:
16,662,014 common shares (September 30, 2021 - 13,295403)............. 42,473,099 34,887,721
Additional paid-in capital ... 11,176,345 4,871 461
(213,602) (205,262)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss.,

Accumulated deficit..... {44.044.553) (26,495.629)

Total sharchobders' CQUITY ..oicumicmiimminiisisisimssmsismerssasssiaiissisrnin 9,391,289 13,058,291

Todal liabilitics and sharcholders’ equity ..., . § 11,575,728 5 14,584,655

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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EDESA BIOTECH, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

Years Ended
September 30,  September 30,
2022 2021
Expenses:
Research and development ... .5 13335334 5 17947072
General and administrative,......o.ooeecn 5.035.456 5.734. 260
Lass from Opcrations {18,370, 790) {23.681,332)
Other Income (Loss):
Reimbursement grant meome ..o TR0, 257 10,340,839
Interest INCOME......cvrcvemnes 63,523 11,163
Foreign exchange W0ss. ..., (20.114) {13.022)
21666 10,338 982
Loss before income taxes (17.548,124) 113,342,350
TR B KIETIEY ansnimarisnimem s minais nint m rma s mis mmmsn st s S o S R S X OO
Net Loss (17.548.924) (133431500
Exchange differences on IRnsIIon ... (8.340) 81,942
Net Comprehensive Loss S (I7.557.264) S (13,261,208)
Weighted average number of common SHATES .......cooervresses s s srees 16,662,014 12,077,822
Loss per common share = basic and diluted...oooiviiiiiiiii. (1.05) 5 (110

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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EDESA BIOTECH, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended
September 30, September 30,
2022 2021

Cash Flows from Oporating Activities:
Met loss | SR
A:ljus:mcnu or:

.8 (1T548924) S (13,343,150)

Depreciation and amortization ....... 118,188 118,788
Share-based compensation 1,260,634 3,195,469

Changes in working capital items:

Accounts and other recevable ... 1,027,454 (3.229.954)

Prepaid expenses and other curren n.ss-rts. {19497) (281.261)

Accounts pavable and accnued liabilitics ..., BRI 843 (1.24.724)
Mot cash used in operating ElivItIEs. ..o o 1 9,302 (13.664.932)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Purchasc of property and equipment. ... (5.656) [CREL]
Mt cash used 1n INVESHINE BCEMVITIES .o s s s s {5.656) (6. 146)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common shares and warrants............. 11,957,687 12,662,357

Proceeds from exercise of warmants ... - 1,658, 76%

Proceeds from exercise of share options._.__. - 41,951

Paveents for issuance costs of common shares. ... (318,059} (188, 166
Net cash provided by fIRaneing SCUVINES ..o e mssnsns 11,629,618 14.174.741
Eilcet of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ..., (23.010) 121,901
Net change in cash and cash equivalents.............. (T48,340) 625,564
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of vear 7,839,259 7,213,695
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 5 7,090,919 § 1,839,150
Sappl tal Discl w ol N h Financing Activities:

Preferred shares converted from temporary equity to commen shares... 5 - 24964350
Issuance costs withheld from gross prmds from msuance of common shm m:d.

warrants .. 303 461 1087, 184
Fair value nl‘ p]acemml mﬁnt*undemmer ua.mma ; 408,059 407,022

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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EDESA BIOTECH, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Sharebolders’ Equity

Accumulated
Additionul iher Tatal
{‘tmun Pakd-in  Comprehensive Acewmulated Sharcholders'
_Shares ¥ L-Im Loss Deficii Pﬂiiﬂ'
Balance - September 30, 2010 Tos1s119 Slm 5 1550480 § (IET.20M) 5 (LAI32954) 5 0631075
Issudnce of cominson shares and warrasts in
cipaity offering... e LI4ESGY 13,740 54) - - - 13,749,541
Issuance costs mclndmg l'ur \:hu nl‘
urbrWTIler Warmamts ... = (lE4AlY) a07022 - - 11.414.390)
Lssuance of commnson silal-ca |q1u|1 excrcise of
warmnls.... IEI650  1LILTIS (153,950 - - (I
[ssuance nI’:rslrlmnn :h.m:s qm CXCTCI ul'
sharg options ., 19,746 LR RE] (37,554 . - 41,981
Conversion ufmn'-m-bkwdmrd shares. 1129925 2496450 : . . 2A%6,450
Preferred retarm on convertible preferred )
et - - - - (19,525) (19.525
- = BI195484 - - ERLLES S

Met boss and comprehenaive bogs

- - - BI04  (IB3430150)  (13.26] BOE)

Balance - September 30, 2021 13,198,400 SIEST.T2] 5 4871461 S (205, 262) % (26,495,629) & 13,058 291

lssuance of commson shares and warrasis in

equity offening. . ..oeromee e LIBGEEA 623018 6,702,203 . . 12,941,474
Issuance cods |m|udm¢ l’nr ulu: ul‘ H
placciment agend Warrants . (RAI22T)  (448,738) - (131 1.965)
Issuarce of comimon ilums upu-n [T ul
prefunded net of costs . o 199327 2209424 (2.209304) " - 120
Share-based compensaion ......... - - 2260634 - - 2,260,634
Net boss and comprehensive foss... - . - (83407 (175489245 (17,557 264)
Balance « September 30, 2022 16,662,004 S42.473,000 S11.176.345 § (213,602) § (44044553 & 9301189

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemenis,
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EDESA BRIOTECH. INC.
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

1. Nature of operations

Edesa Biotech, Inc. (the Company or Edesa) is a biopharmaceutical company focused on acquining, developing and
commercializing clinical stage drugs for inflammatory and immune-related discases with clear unmet medical needs. The
Company 15 organized under the laws of Brtish Columbia, Canada and is headquartered in Markham, Ontanio. It
operates under its wholly owned subsicharics, Edesa Biotech Rescarch, Inc., an Ontario, Canada corporation, and Edesa
Biotech USA, Inc., a California, USA corporation.

The Company”s common shares trade on The Nasdag Capital Market in the United States under the symbol “EDSA”,

Liguidity

The Company’s operations have historically been funded through ssuances of common shares, exercises of common
share purchase warrants, convertible preferred shares, convertible loans, government grants and 1ax incentives. For the
years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company reported net losses of $17.55 million and 513,34 mullion,
respectively.

Under the Company’s contribution agreement with the Canadian government's Strategic Innovation Fund (SIF), the
Company is eligible fo receive cash reimbursements up to C$14.05 million (511 million USD) in the aggregate for
certuin research and development expenses related to the Company’s EBOS clinical development program. For the years
ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded 50,78 million and £10.34 million in grant income,
respectively.

In March 2022 the Company completed a registered direct offering of 1,540,000 common shares, no par value, and pre-
funded warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,199,727 common shares. In a concurrent private placement, the
Company issued common share purchase warrants to purchase an aggregate of up 10 2,739,727 commeon shares. Net
proceeds to the Company were approximately $9.01 million,

In March 2021, the Company completed a registered public offering of an aggregate of 1,562,500 common shares, no par
value, for net proceeds of 38,89 million, after deducting underwriter fees and related offering expenscs.

During the years ended Seplember 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company sold a total of 626,884 common shares for net
proceeds of $2.62 million and 586,463 commeon shares for net proceeds of $3.42 million, respectively, under an at-the-
markel equily offening program,

For year ended September 30, 2021, the exercise of warmants and options resulted in the issuance of 401,39 common
shares and net cash proceeds to the Company of $1.7 million,

Al September 30, 2022, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $7.09 million, working capital of $6.95 million,
sharcholders® equity of $9.39 million and an accumulated deficit of $44.04 million.

Subsequent to September 30, 2022, in November 2022, the Company completed a private placement of units consisting
of 2,691,337 commaon shares, twelve-month warrants 1o purchase up to an aggregate of 1,345,665 common shares and
three-year warrants (o purchase up to an aggregate of 1,345,665 common shares, The gross proceeds from this offering
were approximately $31,0 million, before offering exponses,

The Company plans to finance operations for at least the next twelve months wath cash and cash cquivalents on hand,
including net proceeds of the Movember 2022 equity offering, and reimbursements of eligible research and development
cxpenscs under the Company s agreement with the Canadian government's SIF.

1. Basis of preparation

The sccompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accondance with accounting principles
generally sccepted in the United States (LS. GAAP) and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries, Edesa Biotech Research, Inc. and Edesa Biotech USA, Inc, All intercompany balances and transactions
have been climinated upon consolidation,

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021,
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EDESA BIOTECH, INC,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Far the Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

3. Significant accounting policies

Use of esrimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U5, GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period
or year, Actual results could differ from those cstimates. Arcas where significant judgment is involved in making
estimates are valuation of sccounts and viher receivable; valuation and useful lives of property and equipment; intangible
asscis; operating lease right-of-use assets; deferred income taxes; the determination of fair value of share-bascd
compensation; the determination of fair value of warrants in order to allocate proceeds from equity issuances; and
forecasting fsture cash flows for assessang the going concern assumplion.

Functional and reporting currencies

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are presented in U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated, which is the
Company's and its wholly owned subsidiary’s, Edesa Biotech LSA, Inc., functional currency, The functional currency of
the Company s wholly owned subsidiary, Edesa Biotech Research, Inc., as determined by management, is Canadian
dodlars.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash cquivalents consist of demand deposits with financial institutions held in checking, savings and money
market mutual funds and highly Bquid mvestmeniz which are readily convertible into cash with maluritics of three
months or less when purchased. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates itz fair value due to itz
short-term nalure,

Accounts and other receivable

The Company assesses the collectability of its accounts receivable through a review of its current aging and payment
terms, a5 well as an analysis of its historical collection rate, general economic conditions and credit status of the
government agencies. Accounts and other receivable include reimbursement grant income for the Company’s federal
grant with the Canadian government’s Strategic Innovation Fund {51F) and Harmonized Sales Tax (HST) relunds
receivable. As of September 30, 2022, all outstanding accounts, grants and HST refunds receivable were deemed to be
fully collectible, and therefore, no allowance for doubtful accounts was recorded.

Properiy and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at historical cost less accunulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Depreciation is recorded 10 write off the cost of assets less their restdual values over their useful lives, using the
declining balance and siraight-line methads. Maintenance and repair expenditures that do not improve of extend the life
are expensed in the period incurred. Any gain or loss asising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and
cquipment is recogmized as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carmying amount of the asset. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each year, with the effect of any
changes m estimate accounted for on a prospective basis,

The depreciation policy for the principal asset categornies are calculated as follows:

Comy equip 30 declining balance method or straight ling 3 years
Fumiture and equipment 20#% declining balance methed

Tntangible assets

Intangible assets represent the exclusive world-wide rights to know-how, patents and data relating to certain monoclonal
antibodics (the Constructs), including sublicensing rights, acquired by entering into a license agrecment with a
pharmacewtical development company, Unless carlier termunated, the term of the lcense agrecment will remain in effect
for 25 years from the date of first commercial sale of licensed products containing the Constructs. Subsequently, the
license agreement will automatically renew for five-year periods unless either pany terminates the agreement in
accordance with its terms. Intangible assets are stated at their historical cosi, amortized on a straight-line basis over their
expected useful lives, which is 25 years, and subject to impairment review at the end of cach reporting period.




EDESA BIOTECH, INC,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Far the Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

Tmpairnrent of long-lived aszels

Long-lived assets are tested for impairment when indicators of impairment exist. When a significant change in the
capected timing or amount of the Mure cash Mows ol the lnancial asset is identified, the carrying amount of the
financial asset i reduced and the amount of the write-down is recognized as a loss. A previously recognized impairment
loss may be reversed to the extent of the improvement, provided it 15 not greater than the amount that would have been
reporied al the date of the reversal had the impairment not been recognized previously, and the amount of the reversal is
recognized in net meome (loss),

Right-of-Use axiets

The Company recognizes lease right-of-use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for leases with terms
longer than 12 months, The Company follows the ongoing practical expedicent nol 1o recognize lease nghl-of-use asscls
and lease habilities for shori-term leases. The ROL assets are imbally measured at cost and amoriized using the siraighi-
ling method through the end of the lease term. The lease liabilinies are initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using our incremental borrowing rate.

Fair valwe measurcment
The Company uses the fair value measurement framework for valuing financial ascets and lisbilities. See Note 11
Revenuwe recognition

Reimbursement grant income is recognized basced on the reimbursement rate included in the government coninbution
agreement when allowable expenses have been meurred,

Research and developrment

Rescarch and development expenses principally consist of (i) contract research organizations for clinical wial
management services, (ii) contract manufacturing organizations for manufacturing the drug compound(s) for use in
chmcal trials and (1) salanies of employees directly involved n research and development efforts. Research and
development costs are expensed as incurred,

Share-hazed compensarion

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity nstruments at
the date at which they are granted since the fair value of the goods or services received by the Company cannot be
reliably estimated.

The Company grants options to buy common shares of the Company to its directors, officers, employees and consultants.
and grasits other equily- based instruments such as warrants to non-employees. The fair value of share-based
compensation is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option valustion model and is recognized over
the vesting period for employees or the service period for non-employees. net of forfeitures as they occur. The provisions
of the Company’s share-based compensation plans do not require the Company to settle any options by transferring cash
or other assets, and therefore the Company classifies the awards as equity. The Black-Scholes option valuation model
requires the input of subjective assumptions, including price volatility of the underlying common shares, risk-free
interest rate, dividend yield, and expected life of the option.

Transiation of foreign curvency lransaclions

The Company s reponting currency is the ULS, dollar, The financial stastements of the wholly owned Canadian subsidiary
1= measured using the Canadian dollar as the functional currency, Asscts and liabilitics of the Canadian operation have
been translated s vear-end exchange rates and related revenue and expenses have been translated ot average exchange
rates for the year. Accumulated gains and losses resulting from the translation of the financial statements of the Canadian
operation are ncluded as part of accumulated other comprehensive loss, a separate component of sharcholders” equity.

For other transactions denominated in currencies other than the Company's functional currency, the monetary asseis and
liabilitics are translated at the year-end rates. Revenue and expenses are translated at rates of exchange prevailing on the
transaction dates. Non-monetary balance sheet and related income statement accounts are remeasured into LS. dollar
using historical exchange rates. All of the exchange gains or losses resulting from these other transactions are recognized
in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss,

-0




EDESA BIOTECH, INC,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Far the Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

Tncome faxes

Deferred 1ax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial statement reported amounts using enacted tax mles and
laws in effect in the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided against
deferred tax assets when it is determined to be more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

The Company assesses the likelihood of the financial statement effect of a tax position that should be recognized when it
is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination by a taxing authority based on the technical
merits of the 1ax position, circumstances, and information available as of the reporting date. The Company 1= subject 1o
examination by axing authonties in Canada and the US. Management docs nol belicve that there are any uncertain fax
positions that would result in an assct or liabality for taxes being recognized in the accompanying financial statemons.
The Company recognizes tax-related interest and penaltics, ifany, as a component of income (ax expense.

The Company accounts for inconie taxes on 4 tax jurisdictional basis. The Company files income tax retums in Canada,
the provinees of British Columbia and Ontario, the U8, and the state of California.

Earnings {loss) per share

Bazic eamings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders by the
vaighted average ber of common shares outstanding during the period.

The computation of diluted carnings (loss) per share assumes the conversion, excrcise or contingenl issuance of
secunties only when such conversion, exercise of issuance would have a dilutive effect on earnings (loss) per share. The
dilutive effect of convertible seouritics would be refected in diluted carnings per share by application of the il
converied” method. The dilutive effect of outstanding options and warrants and their equivalents would be reflected in
dilured carmings per share by application of the reasury stock method. However, conversion of outstanding convertible
preferred shares, options and warrants would have an antidilutive ¢ffect on loss per share for the years ended September
30, 2022 and 2021 and are therefore excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share. See Note 8 for options and
warrants at Seprember 30, 2022 and 2021, Sce Naote 13 for subsequent issuance of common shares and warrants,

Segmented Information

The Company s operations comprize a single reportable segment engaged in the research and development,
manulacturing and commercialization of innovative pharmaceutical products. As the operations compnse a single
reporiable segment, amounts disclosed in the consolidated financial statements for net loss, comprehensive loss,
depreciation and total assets also represent segmented amounts.

Adaption of Recent Accounting Pronouncemenis

On Ogtober 1, 2021, the Company adopied Ac ting Standards Update ("ASU™) 200912, Simplifyving the Accounting
for Income Taxes, which moedified ASC Tepic 740, Income Taxes to among other things, remove certam exceptions o
the general principles in ASC 740 and seek more consistent application by clarifying and amending the existing
gwidance. The Company did not adjust deferred income laxes as a result of adoption and there was no impact o opening
accumulated deficit.

Fuittire acconling pronoupcements

In December 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10, Disclosure by Business Entitics About Government Assistance,
maodifying ASC Topic 832, Government Assistance. The amendments in ASU 2021-10 require disclosure of information
abowt certain types of government assistance reccived. The guidance is effeetive Tor public entitics for Gacal years
beginning after December 15, 2021, including intenim pertods within those years. with carly adoption permitted. These
standards are effective for the Company during the fiscal vear ending September 30, 2023, Management expects that
ASL 2020-10will result in expanded disclosures about the Company’s government assistance reecived.
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EDESA BIOTECH, INC,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Far the Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

4. Property and equipment
Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

September 33,  September 30,

2022 021
Compuier Squipmenl ... - § 46,674 5 42,855
Furniture and equipment........ 5,538 5987
52,212 48,842
Less: accumulated deprocistion ... s msssssassssss s (39,518) (33,853)
Total property and eqUIPIIENL, BEL......oocriisisims s binisiss 12,694 5 14,989

Depreciation expense amounted to $6,991 and $8.323 for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respeotively.
5. Intangible assets
Acquired License

In Apnl 2020, the Company entcred into a hicense agreement with a pharmaccutical development company to obtain
exclusive world-wide rights 1o know-how, patents and data relating to certain monoeclonal antibodics (the Constructs),
including sublicensing rights. Unless carlier terminated, the term of the license agreement will remain in clfect for 25
years from the date of first commercial sale of licensed products containing the Constructs. Subsequently, the license
agreement will automatically renew for flive-vear periods unless cither party termimates the agreement in accordance with
s terms.

Under the license agreement, the Company is exclusively responsible, at its expense, for the rescarch, development
manufacture, marketing, distribution and commercialization of the Constructs and licensed products and o ebtain all
necezsary licenses and rights, The Company is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and
commercialize the Constructs in accordance with the terms of a development plan established by the parties.

The Company has determined that the license has multiple altemnative future uses i rescarch and development projects
and sublicensing in other countries or for other disease imbications. The value of the acquired license is reconded as an
mtangible assct with ameortization over the estimated usclul life of 25 years and evaluation for impairment at the end of
cach reporting period.

The required upfront license payment of $2.5 million was paid by issuance of Series A=l Conventible Preformed Shares,
which have been fully converted to commaon shares, The value of the license includes scquisition legal costs. See Note 7
for leense commitments,

Imangible asscts, net consisted of the following:

September M), September 30,

022 2021
Lets: ncoumulabed amomtimulin .. ... .ssissieismsisriasionsss s atssis s idas bsisst (248.291) (147,119
Total iNIngGIble AEBOAE, MOL......ccovtiiuiomiiimivmit s sarsisiasesis edbsams st seieiaissi st issastiistiort 5 2.281.19F § 2,382,364

Amontization expense amounted to $101,172 for each of the years ended Scptember 30, 2022, and 2021, respectively.
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EDESA BIOTECH, INC,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Far the Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

Total estimated future amortization of intangible assets for each fiscal year is as follows:

Year Ending
September 30, 2023 ... JT—. 101,172
Seplember 30, 2024 i 10,172
September 30, 202 101,172
September 30, 2026 101,172
September 30, 2027 X 101,172
Thereafler ..oomrieerern - 1,775,332
b3 2.281.192

6. Leases

Related party right-nfuse fease

The Company leases facilitics used for executive offices from a related company for a six-year term through December
2022, with options to renew for another two-year term. The option peried is not mcluded in the nght-of-use assets and
lease habilitics.,

The gross amounis of assets and liabilities related to the nght-of-use lease were as follows:

September 30, September 30,

2022 w021
Assels:
RIEI-0T-U8E BEECIE.......oc e v s smmrss s mis s e s sm s s s s e e 18,465 § 26,571
Liabilities:
Current;
Shorttenm n::h:-ur-us: lease labilities ... . 3 18975 § 78808
Long-lerm
Long-term mghl-or usr Jusc I:al‘n:mcs - 20,512
Total right-of-use lease HabilIBes ...........ocoeieriimrsemsresrsessssmrsssmresssssssrssremssmsamres 9 18,978 % G0 320
The components of dght-of-use lease cost were as follows:

Years Ended
September 30,  September 30,

1022 2021
Righi-of-use lease cost, included in gmml and adminisirative on the Statements
of Operations ... B T S YYD SRV P £ A S IR S Ty - 80375 & &1.207

Lease terms and discount rates were as follows:

September 30, September 30,
022 2021
3 15
6.5% 6.5%

The approsimate future minimum lease payments under right-of-use leases at September 30, 2022 were as follows:

Remaining lease term (months): ...
Estimated incremental borrowing rate: .

Year Ending
Total lease payment........... 19,181
Less imputed interest ... ... 206
Present value of right-of-use lease liabilities included in current labilities oo 8 18,975
Cash fow mformation was as follows:
Years Ended
September 30, September 30,
022 2021
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of right-of-use lease
liabilities, mcluded in accoumts pa.yablr and accrued liabilities on the Statements
of Cash Flows .. i i T s . RBO3TT 5 &1,209
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EDESA BIOTECH, INC,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Far the Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

7. Commitments
Research and offver comninmenis
The Company has commitments for contracted rescarch organizations who perform clinical trials for the Company's

ongoing clinical studies and other service providers, Aggregate future contractual payments at September 30, 2022 are as
fllows:

Year Ending

September 30, 2023 ... -5 2.612.000

Seplember 30, 2024 356,004

Scptember 30, 2025 50,00

Sepiember 30, 2026 37.04W0

September 30, 2027 ... 40,000
& 3,134,000

License amd ravalty commitments

In Apail 2020, through its Ontanio subsidiary, the Company entered into a license agreement with a third pany to obtain
exclusive world-wide rights 1o certain know-how, patents and data relating 10 certain monoclonal antibodies (the
Construcis), including sublicensing rights. An intangible asset for the acquired license has been recognized. See Note 5
for intangible assets, Under the license agreement, the Company is commitied to payvments of up 10 an aggregate amount
of 3356 million contingent upon meeting certain milestones outlined in the license agreement, primarily relating 1o future
potential commercial approval and sales milestones. The Company also has a commitment to pay rovaltics based on any
nel sales of products containing the Constructs in the couniries where the Company directly commercializes the products
containing the Constructs and a percentage of any sublicensing revenue received by the Company and itz affiliates in the
countries where it does not directly commercialize the products containing the Constructs. No rovalty or sublicensing
payments were made to the third party during the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, In connection with this
license agreement and pursuant to a purchase agreement entered into in Aprl 2020, the Company acguired drug
substance of one of the Constructs for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million. Payments of $2.5 million were made
for the drug substance during ¢ach of the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 and included i research and

development expenses.

In 2016, through ils Omtario subsidiary, the Company enlered inbo a license agreement with a third party 1o oblain
exclusive rights to certain know- how, patents and data relating to a pharmacentical product. The Company will use the
exclusive nghts to develop the product for therapeutic, prophylactic and diagnostic uses in topical demmal applications
and anorectal applications. No intangible assets have been recognized under the license agreement with the third party.
Under the license agre t, the Company is ¢ itted 1o pay ts of various amounts to the third party upon meeting
certain milestones outlined in the license agreement, up 1o an aggregale amount of 5154 million afier deducting 50.2
million that is mcluded in the commitments table above for the year ending September 30, 2023, Upon dvestiture of
substantially all of the assets of the Company, the Company shall pay the third party a percentage of the valuation of the
licensed technology sold as determined by an external objective expert. The Company also has a commitment to pay the
therd party a royvalty based on net sales of the product in countries where the Company, or an affiliste, directly
commercializes the product and a percentage of sublicensing revenue received by the Company and its affiliates in the
countries where it does not directly commercialize the product. No license or rovalty payments were made 1o the third
party during the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

In March 2021, through its Ontario subsidiary, the Company entered into a license agreement with the inventor of the
same pharmaccutical product to acquire global rights for all fickds of use beyond thosc named under the 2016 licensc
agreement. For the vears ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded expenses of $25.693 and

521 2,000, respectively, as a result of meeting milestones outlined in the 2021 license agreement. The Company is
committed to remaining payments of up to an aggregate amount of $69.1 million, primarily relating to future potential
commercial approval and sales milestones. In addition, if the Company fails to file an investigational new drug
application or forcign equivalent (IND) for the product within a certain period of time following the date of the
agreement, the Company is required to remit to the inventor a fixed license fee annually as long as the requirement to file
an IND remains unfulfilled.
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EDESA BIOTECH, INC,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Far the Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

Retirement savings plan 407 (k) contritutions

Executive officers and emplovees of our California subsidiary are eligible 1o receive the Company's non-elective safe
harbor employer contribution of 3% of eligible compensation under a 401(k) plan to provide retirement benefits.
Employees are 100%% vested in emplover contributions and in any voluntary emplovee contributions. Contributions to the
401(k) plan were $19,740 and 523,786 during the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

K. Capital shares

Equity offerings

On March 24, 2022, the Company completed a registered direct offering of 1,540,008 commion shares, no par value, and
pre-funded warrants to purchase up (o an aggregate of 1,199,727 commaon shares. In a concurrent private placement, the
Company issucd common share purchase warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 2,739,727 common shares. Net
proceeds from the offering were $9.01 million, which were allocated between the relative fair values of the common
shares and pre-funded warrants issucd (using a total fair value of 55.87 million) and the common share purchase warrants
issued (using a total fair value of 4,13 million).

The common share purchase warrants were immediately exercisable at an exercise price of $3.52 per share and will
expire on September 24, 2027, The pre-funded warrants were immediately exercizable at an exercise price of $0.0001 per
share and do not expire. The warrants are considered contracts on the Company s own shares and are classified as equity.

In connection with the offening, the Company issucd warrants 1o purchase an aggregate of 191,780 common shares to
certain affiliated designees of the placement agent as part of the placement agent’s compensation. The placement agent
warrants arc excreisable on or after March 24, 2022, al an excreise price of $4.5625 per share, and will ¢xpire on March
21, 2027 with a fair value of $0.41 million.

Omn March 2, 2021, the Company closed an underwritten offering of 1,562,500 common shares, no par value, at a price to
the public of $6.40 per share less underwniting discounts and commissions. Net proceeds from the offering were 5839
million. In connection with the affering, the Company issucd underwriter warrants to purchase an aggregate of up o
109,375 common shares at an exercise price of 35,00 per share, expinng on February 26, 2026 with a fair value of 50.41
million,

Equity distribution agreements

On November 22, 2021, the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement with RBC Capital Markets, LLC
(RBCCM), as sales agent. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, as amended March 4, 2022, the Company could offer
and sell commen shares through an at-the-markel equity offering program having an aggregaie offenng price of up to
5154 million. During the year ended September 30, 2022, the Company sold a total of 626,884 common shares pursuant
to the agreement for net proceeds of $2.62 million. The distribution agreement was terminated effective March 21, 2022,

On September 28, 2020, the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement with RBCCM, as sales agent,
pursuant 1o which the Company could offer and sell, from time to time, commaon shares through an at-the-market equity
offering program for up to 59,2 million in grods cash proceeds, The distnbubion agrecment was terminaled on February
25, 2021, Duiring the year ended September 30, 2021, 586,463 shares were sold under the distribution agreement,
resulting in net proceeds of $3.42 million.

Black-Scholes option valuation model

The Company uscs the Black-Schales option valuation model to determime the far value of share-based compensation
For share options and compensation warrants granted and the fair value of warrants issued. Option valuation models
require the input of highly subjective assumptions incloding the expected price volatility. The Company calculates
expected volatility based on historical volatility of the Company’s share price. When there is insufficient data available,
the Company uses a peer group that is publicly traded 1o calculate expected volatility. The Company adopted interest-
free rates by relerence to the ULS. treasury vield mtes. The Company calculated the fair value of share options granted
based on the expected life of 5 years considering expected forfeitures during the option term of 10 vears. Expected life of
warrants is based on warrant terms, The Company did not and is not expected to declare any dividends, Changes in the
subjective inpul assumplions can materially affect the fair valee cstimates, and therefore the existing models do not
necessarily provide a relisble single measure of the fair value of the Company's warrants and share options.
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Far the Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

Warranis

A summary of the Company's warranis activity is as follows:

Balance - September 30, 2020

Issued .
Exercised.....

Balance - September 30, 2021

Balance - September 30, 2022

Number of Weighted
Warrant Average
Shares () Exercise Price

902721 § 492
109,375 800
{3R1.630) 415
720446 % 5.69
2931307 3.59
3651953 § 4.00

The weighted average contractual life remaming on the owtstanding warrants o September 30, 2022 15 50 months.

The following table summanzes information about the warrants outstanding at Seplember 30, 2022:

Mumber of Warrants (#) Exercise Prices Expiry Dates
R4 8 15.90 May 2023
563,685 5 4,80 July 2023
7454 5 4.31 June 2024
11,778 § 320 January 2025
109375 § B0 February 2025
191,780 5 4.56 March 2027
2739727 % 352 September 2027
3,651,953

The fair value of warrants issued during the vears ended Scptember 30, 2022 and 2021 was estimated using the Black-

Scholes option valuation medel using the following assumplions:

Year Ended
September 30,
Year Eaded September 30, 2022 2021
Common Flacement Agent Underwriter
‘Warrants ‘Warrants Warrants
Risk free interest rate ... 237% 2.37% 0aT%
Expecied life.............. 5 years 5 vears
Expected share price volatility 87.09% 27.09% 942005
Expected dividend yicld 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Pre-funded Warrants
A summary of the Company's pre-funded warrant activiry is as follows;
Number of Pre-
funded Warrant
Shares (#)
Balance - September 30, 2021 -

Balance = September 30,2022
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EDESA BIOTECH, INC,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Far the Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

Share Options

The Company adopted an Equity Incentive Compensation Flan in 2009 (the 2019 Flan) administered by the independent
members of the Board of Directors, which amended and restated prior plans. Options, restricted shares and restricied
share units are cligible for grant under the 20019 Plan. The total mumber of shares available for issnance is 2,625,951
including shares available for the exercise of outstanding options under the 2019 Plan. The remaining number of options
available for grant at September 30, 2022 is 422,252,

The Company’s 2009 Plan allows options 1o be granted to dircctors, officers, employees and certain external consultants
and advisers. Under the 2019 Plan, the option term is not to exceed 10 years and the exercise price of each option is
determuned by the independent members of the Board of Directors,

Options have been granted under the 2019 Plan allowing the holders to purchase commen shares of the Company as
follows:

Welghted
Weighted Average Grant

Number of Average Drate Fair

Options (#) Exercise Price Value

Balance - September 30, 2020 675437 § 330 S 256
L8 O AR I B R S A L T 1.145.000 6.21 4.65
Exercised..... (19,746) 2.10 1.35
Forfeited ., (22,566) 6,02 402
Expired........ (1.906) 102.49 10112
Balance - September 30, 2021 1.776.219 § 506 § e
Granted........ S00.083 366 248
Forfeited .. (26,954) 6,56 497
EXPIred........oouovnes (45,649} 8.05 H4%
Balance - September 30, 2022 2203650 § 466 § 341

O February 28, 2022, the independent members of the Board of Directors granted a total of 415,083 options 1o
cemployees of the Company pursuant o the 2009 Plan. The options have a term of 10 ycars with vesting in equal
proportions over 36 months beginning on the grant date, and an exercise price equal 1o the Nasdsq closing price on the
grant dates.

Om February 28,2022 and March 28, 2022, the independent directors of the Board of Directors granted a total of 55,000
and 30,000 options, respectively, 1o existing and new directors of the Company pursuant to the 2019 Plan, The options
have aterm of 10 years and an exercize price equal to the Nasdaq closing price on the grant dates. Options for directors
have momhly vesting in equal proportions over 12 months beginning on the grant date,

In October 2020 and Apnil 2021, the independent members of the Board of Directors granied a todal

of 430,000 and 603,000 options, respectively, to directors, officers and employees of the Company pursuant 1o the 2009
Plan. The options have a term of 10 vears and an exercise price equal o the Nasdaq closing price on the grant dates.
Options granted for directors in April 2021 have monthly vesting in equal proportions over |2 months beginning on the
grant date. Options granted for directors in October 2020 and all options for officers and current emplovees have
monthly vesting in equal proportions over 36 months beginning on the grant date.

During the year ended September 30, 2021, the independent members of the Board of Directors granted a 1otal

of 112,00 options to new employees of the Company pursuant to the 20019 Plan. The options have a term of 10 years
with vesting in equal proportions over 36 months beginning on the monthly anniversary of the grant date following 90
davs of employment, and an exercise price equal to the Nasdaq closing price on the gramt dates.

The aggregate intrinsic valug of oplions outstanding at Seplember 30, 2021 was 54,46 million, The aggregate intrinsic

value of options exercised during the year ended September 30, 2021 was $0.09 million. There were no options exercised
during the year ended September 30, 2022 and ne intrinsic value of options outstanding sl Seprtember 30, 2022,
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The weighted average contractual life remaining on the owtstanding options at September 30, 2022 15 9% months.

The following table summanzes information about the options under the 2019 Plan outstanding and exercisable at
Seplember 30, 2022:

Exercisable at Range of
Number of Options (#) September 30, 2012 (#) Exercise Prices Expiry Dates

138 238 5 304,08 Deg 2022

3490 34 5 315.28-93.24 Sep 2023-Mar 2025

296,403 286403 C3 216 Aug 2027-Dec 2028

323.9%6 95810 8 LAY Feb 2030

397,000 264,550 8 7.44-8.07 Sep 2030-Ox¢t 2030

682,500 R3Sk 8 5.25-574 Jan 2031-Sep 2031

500,083 146 396 % 294371 Feb 2032-Mar 2032

2,203,699 | 388 434

The options cxcrcizable at Scpiember 30, 2022 had a weighted average exercise price of 34,51, no intrinsic valuc and a
weighted average remaining life of 90 months. There were 315,265 options a1 September 30, 2022 that had not vested
with a weighted averuge exercise price of $4.93 no infrinsic value and a weighted average remaining life of 105 months.

The fair value of oplions granted during the vears ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 was estimated using the Black-
Scholes option valuation model using the following assumplions:

Years Ended
September 30, September 30,
2022 Pl
Rl DR TUCR IR s b nia s A o A O R S R RS 1.71%-2.54% 0.3 1%%-0.90 %%
Expected life... 2t 5 years 5 years
Expected aharr: pnm. mlahl:l) B5.91% - 86,59 %  BE33%-97.28 %
Expected dividend yield . 0.00% 0.0

The Company recorded 32,260,634 and 53,195,469 of share-based compensation expenses Tor the vears ended
September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Az of September 30, 2022, the Company had approximately $1.04 million of unrecognized share-based compensation
expense, which is expected to be recognized over a period of 28 months.

9. Reimbursement Grant Income and Receivable

Reimbursement grant income for the Company’s federal grant with the Canadian government's Strategic Innovation
Fund {$1F) is recorded based on the claim period of eligible costs, At September 30,2022, grant reimbursements
receivable of 1.1 million were included in accounts and other receivable.

10, Income Tax
The reconciliation of the combincd Canadian federal to the approximate cffcctive tax rate is as follows:

Years Ended
September 30, September 30,
2022 021

S (175480000 S (13,342,350)
26.5% 26.5%

Met loss before recovery of income taxes . )
Canadian federal and provincial slanmary income tax rm:e

Expected income tax recovery . 8§ (4.650,000) 5 {3.536,000)

Permanent differences and other adjustments.. 450,000 4T, 000
Efficet of foreign currency and foreign tax rate differences... 76,800 (309, 200)
Share izsuance cost booked mmugll equity or upqul:mmn (449,000) (447,000)
Change in valuation allowance ... 3.473,000 3,446,000
LIVCONE I EPMITHMY | ..coii i i e b b bbb b i £ i et B Roo S fAL 1]
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Companents of the net deferved tax assel or lability

Deferred 1axes are provided as a result of iemporary differences thar arise due to the difference berween the income tax
values and the camrying amount of assets and liabilities, Approximate deferred tax assets and Labilities are a< follows:

September 30, September 30,

2012 b
MNon-capital losses carried forwand - Canada i . § 1L,740,000 S 8.073.000
Mon-capital losses carmied forward - LS. 1,631,000 1 628,000
Rescarch and development tax credits . 1,052,000 1,294,004
Share issuance and financing costs... G806, 000 H2E, (00
Right-of-use lease labilities .. £.000 26,000
hher temporary differences.......... 15,000 15,000
Less: valuation allowance.............. {15,093, 0040) (11,620,004
Total net delermed X EESCLS ..o asssasasi s s s a3 Jo.000 5 44000
Property and equipment................ .5 (15.000) 5 {18,000
Righi-of-use asseis,............ (5.000) 126,000)
Deferred share issuance costs ... i 16,0040) -
Total defirved tax Rabilities. ..o e s idan e 8 (36,0000 S (44.000)
b 7 o T L . 1 - 5 -

Realization of the deferved tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income, the amount and timing
of which are uncertain, It is more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized. Accordingly, net deferred nax
assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance,

Maon-capital losses, capital losses, and research and development credits generated by Edesa Biotech USA, Inc. prior to
changes in share ownership that occurred as a result of the reverse acguisition arc substantially limited. It is unlikcly that
tax losses totaling 5256 million and credits 1otaling $0.6 million will be utilized 10 offset potential funire 1axable incomse
before expiration and they are excluded from deferred tax assets sbove,

The approximate Canadian non-capital losses carmied forward at September 30, 2022 expire as follows:

2025.... . CH 21,000
2026, 5, (KM
2007, 114,000
2028, 233,000
20289, GRE, 00
030 B0 000
| L ML 615,000
2032, 673,000
2033, 107,000
2034 1,941,000
2035, 2,207 0CHD
2036, 2,216,y
2037. 2,123,000
2038, 3,500,000
2039, 1,732,000
240, 7,992,000
1041 13,919,000

042..... : 21,408,000

0,475 000




EDESA BIOTECH, INC,
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Share issuance and financing costs will be fully amortized in 2026,

The U.S. non-capital losses carmied forward at September 30, 2022 wialed approximately $7.666,000, which do ns
expire for federal taxes. The LS. state rescarch and development tax credits carried forward at September 30, 2022
totaled approximately $619,000, which do not expire for state taxes, The approximate LS. state non-capital losses
carricd forward at September 30, 2022 expire as follows:

- 70,000
150,000
68,000
(0

5 3

o 8 207,000

11, Financial instruments
() Fair values

The Company uses the fair value measurement framework for valuing financial assets and liabalities measured on a
recurming basis in situations where other accounting pronouncements either permin or require fair value megsurements,

Fair value of a financial instrament is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Company follows the fair value hicrarchy which requires an enlity to maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuning fair value. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect
assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed hased on market data obtained from
sources independent of the Company, Unebservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company's own assumptions about
the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the beat information
available in the circumstances,

There are three levels of inputs that may be wsed to measure fair value:

#  Level | - Observable inputs that reflect quoted pnces (unadjusted)) for sdentical assets or liabilitees m active
markets.

*  Level 2 - Inputs other than quated prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
cither directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar asscts or liabilities in active
markets, or queted prices for identical or similar assets and labilities in markets that are not active.

#  Level 3 - Unobservable mparts for the asset or liability that are supported by httle or no market activity.

The carrying value of certain financial insiremenis such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts and other receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates fair value duc to the short-term nature of such instruments.

(B Interest rate and credis visk

Imterest rate nisk is the nsk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in interest
rates, The Company dogs not believe that the results of operations or cash flows would be affected 1o any significant
degree by a significant change in market interest rates, relative to interest rates on cash and cash equivalents due 1o the
short-term nature of these balances.

The Company is also cxposcd to credit sk at period ond from the carmying value of its cash and cash cquivalents and
accounts and other receivable. The Company manages this risk by maintuining bank accounts with Canadian Chartered
Banks, U.5. banks believed to be credit worthy and money market mutual funds of U.S. government securitics. The
Company's cash is not subject 10 any external resinctions, The Company assesses the collectability of accounis
receivable through a review of the current aging and terms, as well as an analysiz of historical collection rates, general
cconomic conditions and credit status of povernment agencies. Credit risk for reimbursement grant and HET refunds
receivable are not considered significant since amounts are due from the Canadian government’s Strategic Innovation
Fund {SIF) and the Canada Revenue Agency.
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(e} Foreign exchange risk

The Company and iis subsidiary have balances in Capadian dollars that give nse to exposure (o foreign exchange (FX)
risk relating to the impact of transfating certain non-U.S. dollar balance sheetl accounts as these stalements are presented
in LLS. dollars. A strengthening U.S. dollar will lead to a FX loss while a weakening U.S. dollar will lead to a FX gain.
The Company has not entered into any agreements or purchased any instruments 1o hedge possible currency rsks, At
September 30, 2022, the Company and its Canadian subsidiary had asscts denominated in Canadian dollars of
approximately C36.9 million and the U.S. dollar exchange rate at this date was equal to 1.3742 Canadian dollars. Based
on the exposure al Scplember 30, 2022, a 107% annual change in the CanadianU).5, cxchange rate would impact the
Company's loss and other comprehensive loss by approximately 3500, 000.

{d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty raixing liquid funds to mect commitments as they fall
due. In meeting its hquidity requirements, the Company closely monitors its forecasted cash requirements with expected
cash drawdown,

11, Related party fransactisns

During each of the vears ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid cash for right-of-use lease of 581,000
from a company controlled by the Company’s CED. These transactions arc in the normal course of operations and are
measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed 1o by both parties. Rents
of approximately 522,000 were payable at September 30, 2022, No reat was payable at September 30, 2021,

13, Subsequent events

On November 2, 2022, the Company completed a private placement of units consisting of 2,691 337 common shares,
twelve-month warranis to purchase up o an aggregate of 1,345,665 common shares and three-year warrants to purchase
up to an aggregate of 1,345,665 common shares. The gross proceeds from this offering were approximatety $3.0 million,
before offering expenses.
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